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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I'm going to

          3  call this Committee meeting to order.

          4                 I should indicate that we've got a

          5  number of Committee meetings going on, including a

          6  vote that's being taken in Government Operations, so

          7  I'm going to have to at some point myself move

          8  across the hall to vote.

          9                 And as I'm sure you're aware, we are

         10  in the middle of budget negotiations, and the budget

         11  negotiating team is currently meeting so Council

         12  members will be coming in and out but this is a

         13  topic that is of great concern to the Education

         14  Committee, as well as the Council at large.

         15                 We are also scheduled to take a vote

         16  today on the Voter Registration Act, which would

         17  require the Department of Education to hand out

         18  Voter Registration forms at graduation ceremonies

         19  connecting the award of the high school diploma with

         20  an important civic right of passage, and at some

         21  point during this meeting we will have to stop the

         22  business at hand and take that vote. So I just

         23  wanted to alert you to that.

         24                 We have been joined by Council Member

         25  Oliver Koppell from the Bronx, and as I said, many
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          2  other members will be joining us shortly.

          3                 Today's hearing is on small schools

          4  in the new initiative that Mayor Bloomberg and

          5  Chancellor Klein have embarked upon, which as we

          6  understand it, will ultimately include 200 new small

          7  schools by the year 2007, but for this upcoming year

          8  the opening of 60 small schools.

          9                 Under the Klein Administration

         10  already 29 small theme-based high schools have

         11  opened thus far. What we're here to do today is to

         12  ask some questions about this initiative. We are

         13  operating in a time of Mayoral control. I was a

         14  strong supporter of Mayoral control, but I also

         15  believe that it's very, very important to have

         16  public debate and public oversight over initiatives

         17  that are broad in scope and have levels of public

         18  and private funding.

         19                 It's unclear exactly how many small

         20  schools exist from previous administrations, but a

         21  study done in 2003 by Advocates for Children found

         22  at least 145 small schools, and while we're here to

         23  focus on the Initiative of the 60 new ones opening

         24  in 2004 and what is coming down the pike in future

         25  years, obviously it is instructive and important to
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          2  look at what has already been done and whether those

          3  have worked and which ones have and which ones

          4  haven't and why and why not.

          5                 There are clearly some obvious

          6  benefits to small schools, in terms of a more

          7  personalized learning environment, in terms of

          8  fostering collaborative team teaching,

          9  interdisciplinary approach. In theory small schools

         10  can lead to higher graduation rates and achievement

         11  rates, but, of course, small is not necessarily

         12  better.

         13                 We have some great examples in the

         14  City of New York where we have large schools that

         15  are successful, and the former teacher in me knows

         16  that ultimately the quality of schooling is about

         17  the instructional leadership and the quality of the

         18  teaching staff, and the educational plan that has

         19  been conceived, and, so, size obviously may be a

         20  factor but it's clearly only a single factor, and we

         21  also know historically that we have small schools

         22  that are very poor performing schools.

         23                 What we need to do is understand why

         24  those schools are poor-performing, and what is the

         25  difference between these past initiatives and the
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          2  current one.

          3                 You know, just at random I looked at

          4  some of the small schools, not necessarily part of

          5  this initiative, and we have some clear examples

          6  where the graduation rates are extremely poor, the

          7  passage rates for regents and so forth is very poor.

          8                 So, we have a broad range of

          9  questions having to do with the cost, the funding,

         10  the educational vision, what kind of student are

         11  these new schools serving, are they serving the

         12  range of students from low-performing to

         13  middle-performing to high-performing; what kinds of

         14  policy decisions were made in conceiving of this

         15  initiative.

         16                 So, hopefully we will get to all of

         17  those fundamental questions. We have an array of

         18  panelists and then we will have time for a public

         19  comment at the end.

         20                 I want to begin by welcoming Michele

         21  Cahill, from the Department of Education and Kristen

         22  Kane, whose title, Chief Executive Office of New

         23  Schools. Am I getting that right? Welcome. Kristen

         24  hasn't testified before but we welcome you here

         25  today.
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          2                 I also just want to say that I

          3  appreciate very much that the Department answered

          4  our info request before the date of the hearing,

          5  which is somewhat unique, and I credit Michele

          6  Cahill and Erin Stevens for that. We very, very much

          7  appreciate it. It gives us time to ask more

          8  intelligent questions if we get the information in

          9  advance, and I appreciate your efforts in that

         10  direction.

         11                 So, welcome. If I could ask you each

         12  to state your name for the record, because these

         13  hearings are transcribed, that would be helpful.

         14                 The light has to be off for the

         15  microphone to be on.

         16                 MS. CAHILL: Good morning, Chairwoman

         17  Moskowitz and members of the Education Committee.

         18                 I am Michele Cahill, Senior Counselor

         19  to the Chancellor for Education Policy at the New

         20  York City Department of Education.

         21                 I'm joined by my colleague Kristen

         22  Kane, Chief Executive of the Office of New Schools,

         23  who also deserves credit for putting together the

         24  materials in response to the Committee.

         25                 We're pleased to be here this morning
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          2  on behalf of Chancellor Klein to discuss the

          3  Department's New School Initiative.

          4                 I look forward to addressing any

          5  questions or concerns you may have about the New

          6  Schools Initiative.

          7                 First, however, I would like to take

          8  the opportunity to do four things:

          9                 (1) provide context for the New

         10  Schools Initiative as part of the overall secondary

         11  reform in Children First; (2) outline the

         12  research-based rationale for the initiative; (3)

         13  define the New Schools Strategy; and (4) highlight

         14  preliminary evidence that new schools, as well as

         15  our strategy, are working.

         16                 First, Context: The Need for a New

         17  Secondary Schools Initiative.

         18                 High school reform is urgent in New

         19  York City and a key focus of Children First. As a

         20  center of global finance and the knowledge economy

         21  New York City offers many opportunities to its

         22  educated population. Yet, increasingly the City can

         23  offer only limited options to the thousands of

         24  adolescents who each year either fail to graduate

         25  from high school or complete school with a diploma
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          2  but lack the academic competencies that will enable

          3  them to succeed in post-secondary education and

          4  careers that demand high levels of literacy and math

          5  skills.

          6                 The cost of low-performing schools to

          7  individual student futures and the future of our

          8  city is increasingly high. New, more demanding State

          9  graduation standards challenge public schools today

         10  to support every student to master higher level math

         11  and communications skills; acquire the ability to

         12  solve problems, the social skills to work as a

         13  member of a team, and the capacity to pursue

         14  post-secondary academic or vocational/technical

         15  education.

         16                 Children First recognizes that we

         17  cannot reach these standards for all students

         18  without fundamentally reshaping our public education

         19  system to make its primary focus the creation and

         20  support of individually effective schools for all

         21  students.

         22                 Our students are entering high

         23  schools with different levels of academic

         24  achievement, different interests and needs. Yet, all

         25  of our high schools must offer rich and rigorous
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          2  curricula that enable all students to meet Regents

          3  standards.

          4                 To do this, we must develop a diverse

          5  portfolio of high schools that is guided by a vision

          6  of all students stretching their talents to their

          7  limits with increasingly challenging course work.

          8                 Just as we must continually offer

          9  more opportunities for students who demonstrate

         10  higher achievement to take college-level courses

         11  earlier, through, for example, of early college high

         12  schools, we must ensure that students who are

         13  under-prepared can gain the skills they need to

         14  master rigorous curriculum and progress towards

         15  post-secondary and career success.

         16                 Our schools must create environments

         17  that provide the academic and developmental supports

         18  and opportunities that foster motivation,

         19  engagement, persistence and achievement.

         20                 Reaching the Children first goal of

         21  effective schools at the secondary level is a

         22  daunting challenge. Despite the efforts of many

         23  dedicated teachers, counselors, administrators and

         24  students far too many of our high schools are not

         25  organized to foster achievement at this level.
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          2                 New York City's four-year high school

          3  graduation rate is unchanged from ten years ago,

          4  with only five in ten students graduating in four

          5  years.

          6                 Drop-out rates have been increasing

          7  since 1998. One-third of our ninth grade students

          8  fail two or more courses and do not advance into

          9  tenth grade.

         10                 Even starker challenges characterize

         11  many of our traditionally large comprehensive zoned

         12  high schools with graduation rates below 40 percent.

         13  We illustrated this in chart 1.

         14                 Many of these schools have undergone

         15  numerous reforms and redesigns with limited impact.

         16                 This experience has driven the need

         17  for a bolder approach that is a strategy for

         18  increasingly the supply of strong schools through

         19  the creation of new schools based on knowledge from

         20  research and best practice.

         21                 Rationale for the New Small Schools

         22  Initiative.

         23                 To meet the Children First goal of

         24  providing an effective school for every student,

         25  Chancellor Klein is developing a secondary schools
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          2  strategy as an essential element of the Children

          3  First Reform.

          4                 Creating new schools as an integral

          5  part of a major reform focuses attention on what can

          6  be in a dramatic rather than an incremental way.

          7                 The Department will create a diverse

          8  portfolio of new secondary schools that are

          9  developed to incorporate knowledge from research and

         10  the experience of best practice about what makes for

         11  good schools.

         12                 Including the following

         13  characteristics:

         14                 Strong leadership that supports

         15  effective instruction.

         16                 A mission that teachers, students and

         17  administrators know and support.

         18                 High expectations for all students

         19  with clear definitions of the knowledge, skills and

         20  personal attributes students should develop.

         21                 Caring and respectful relationships

         22  between teachers and students with every student

         23  known well by an adult engaged in meaningful work.

         24                 Qualified teachers who have the

         25  opportunities to work together and form a
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          2  professional community, a rigorous standards-based

          3  curriculum that prepares students for post secondary

          4  education in the work place.

          5                 A well-defined approach to

          6  instruction, assessment of student work and a

          7  culture of continuous improvement.

          8                 Active roles for students in all

          9  aspects of school life.

         10                 Clear connections and pathway to

         11  post-secondary education, careers and civic

         12  participation.

         13                 The ability of the school to direct

         14  fiscal resources toward the creation of the

         15  conditions of effective teaching and learning.

         16                 A demonstration of the capacity to

         17  address the need of English language learners and

         18  students with special needs and accountability, both

         19  internally and externally for individual student

         20  success.

         21                 Creating schools with these elements

         22  requires changes in the structure and organization

         23  of large comprehensive high schools, as well as

         24  increased detention on principal leadership, teacher

         25  recruitment, professional development and curriculum
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          2  enrichment among other factors.

          3                 While size is only one element of

          4  school structure, research indicates that small

          5  scale appears to be a promising platform for

          6  realizing many of the other critical elements

          7  identified above. In particular, the ability of

          8  students to be known well by their teachers.

          9                 A couple of research citations. For

         10  example, in a 2003 large scale study of dropping

         11  out, based on a nationally representative

         12  longitudinal dataset, researchers found that

         13  students in schools enrolling fewer than 1,500

         14  students are more likely to graduate than are

         15  students in larger schools.

         16                 Students are less likely to drop out

         17  of high school, where relationships between teachers

         18  and students are positive, drawing on their analysis

         19  of a huge nationally representative longitudinal

         20  dataset. These researches report that these two

         21  findings are closely related.

         22                 Student teacher relationships tend to

         23  be more positive in smaller high schools.

         24                 Another important research finding is

         25  that small school sized creates more favorable
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          2  conditions for students challenged by poverty and

          3  other high needs.

          4                 In a review of all of the literature

          5  on school size, Commission for the Aspen Institute

          6  Program on Urban Education, researchers concluded

          7  that the question with small schools is not whether

          8  they are correlated with increased achievement,

          9  particularly for low-income and minority students.

         10  That finding has been replicated in many studies

         11  over the past decade.

         12                 These findings are consistent with

         13  the experience of New York City high schools.

         14                 Small size becomes a more promising

         15  factor associated with graduation as the need of the

         16  student population increases.

         17                 In similar schools category analysis

         18  of New York City high schools illustrated in the

         19  chart to my left; for example, the four-year 2002

         20  graduation rates for schools in the highest need

         21  category, with enrollments of under 500 students, is

         22  57.9 percent, compared to 38.6 percent for large

         23  schools and 37.4 percent for very large or mega

         24  schools with enrollments over 2,700.

         25                 The new small secondary initiative
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          2  thus builds on a base of research, not only about

          3  the promising relationship of small size, to student

          4  persistence and achievement, but also on research on

          5  other critical elements of effective schools.

          6                 The New Century High School

          7  Initiative and other new school creation work

          8  undertaken this year by the Department of Education

          9  has been developed to incorporate best practices

         10  into school design development and support.

         11                 What is our strategy concretely for

         12  new school creation? Our outline, our strategy is to

         13  create 70 new small secondary schools this

         14  September. Though we are focusing on the new small

         15  secondary school strategy today, it's important to

         16  know this schools initiative also includes Charter

         17  schools.

         18                 There are many commonalities in

         19  school design start-up and ongoing supports among

         20  multiple forms of new schools.

         21                 We learn from these commonalities to

         22  make that ensure that best practices and lessons

         23  learned from one part of the initiative inform the

         24  others.

         25                 New school creation is a
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          2  multi-faceted complex enterprize that involves the

          3  contribution and focus of many constituents.

          4                 A primary element of the daily new

          5  school strategy is an emphasis on partnerships.

          6                 All of the small schools included in

          7  this initiative are being created with the

          8  supportive intermediary and partner organizations.

          9                 These organizations provide

         10  resources, including school development expertise,

         11  ties to the communities, financial support, human

         12  capital, student internship opportunities and

         13  programmatic expertise in various areas of

         14  instruction and youth development.

         15                 In addition, these partnerships

         16  provide a fresh perspective of the best ways to

         17  engage and meet the needs of all students.

         18                 There are two fundamental types of

         19  partnership in the New School Initiative.

         20  Partnerships between the Department of Education and

         21  non-profit organizations that are engaged in the

         22  creation and support of a number of schools called

         23  intermediaries, and partnerships between new schools

         24  and local non-profit organizations, cultural

         25  institutions, colleges, et cetera.
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          2                 Intermediary partners are

          3  organizations with expertise and private dollars to

          4  support new school creation and replicate successful

          5  educational models.

          6                 The nearly $58 million from the Bill

          7  and Melinda Gates Foundation when to support these

          8  organizations.

          9                 The intermediary organizations

         10  currently involved in new school development in New

         11  York City include the following: We've listed them.

         12                 New Visions for Public Schools. The

         13  partner in the development of the largest segment of

         14  the initiative New Century High Schools.

         15                 The Asia Society.

         16                 City University of New York.

         17                 The College Board.

         18                 Expeditionary Learning Outward Bound.

         19                 Institute for Student Achievement.

         20                 International Partnership Schools.

         21                 Replications.

         22                 And the Center for Youth Development

         23  and Education.

         24                 At a fundamental level, our

         25  implementation strategy is school focused across the
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          2  initiative. Both the Department of Education and the

          3  intermediary organizations organize all of our work

          4  around the needs of new school leaders and planning

          5  teams and the development of schools that will

          6  incorporate elements of effectiveness identified

          7  above.

          8                 The new schools in development

          9  receive support from three primary sources: The

         10  Office of New Schools, which mobilizes and

         11  coordinates the work of divisions throughout the

         12  Department to benefit the schools;

         13                 The cross-functional Regional teams,

         14  which are comprised of Regional Superintendents, the

         15  Regional Operating Center Directors, and the

         16  Directors of Student Placement, Youth and Family

         17  Support; and

         18                 Our Intermediary and Partner

         19  organizations, which support planning teams, bring

         20  programmatic and instructional expertise, community

         21  support and a variety of resources.

         22                 All new schools are created within a

         23  general framework, which involves target school size

         24  by grade level, that is fewer than 500 students for

         25  9th through 12th grade and fewer than 600 for sixth
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          2  through 12th grade schools, and design

          3  characteristics of effective schools.

          4                 Based on the national research and

          5  past experience, the Department's new school

          6  strategy emphasizes the importance of an intensive

          7  school-focused planning process, conducted within

          8  the framework outlined above.

          9                 Central and Regional office planning

         10  begins with an estimate of the pipeline for new

         11  schools.

         12                 The Department pays particular

         13  attention to need for new schools to expand high

         14  quality options for students throughout the city and

         15  complete the transition of selected high schools

         16  into campuses into small schools.

         17                 In addition, we evaluate closely

         18  available space in existing infrastructure in school

         19  buildings, student enrollment and demographic

         20  trends, and budgetary implications and constraints.

         21                 School-level planning involves key

         22  participation by teachers, parents, students and

         23  administrators. It begins in partnership with the

         24  Intermediary organizations, which work cooperatively

         25  with the Department to support the development of
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          2  new school proposals.

          3                 For example, New Visions for Public

          4  Schools, in collaboration with the Department,

          5  conducts a Request for Proposals process with

          6  planning supported by the Department and   New

          7  Visions staff. Other organizations work directly

          8  with Regional Superintendents to develop planning

          9  teams to create or replicate specific school models

         10  such as the International High Schools. All

         11  organizations bring to the proposed schools unique

         12  assets, instructional and programmatic supports and

         13  resources.

         14                 Intermediary organizations support

         15  the formation and organization of planning teams,

         16  comprised of project directors, who often become the

         17  principals of the new schools, teachers, parents,

         18  students and local community organizations, cultural

         19  institutions and college partners.

         20                 These planning teams are responsible

         21  for completing new school proposals that are

         22  evaluated by the Intermediary organizations for

         23  foundation funding and by the Department for school

         24  approval.

         25                 Throughout the school planning
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          2  process, the Department, with support from New

          3  Visions, hosts workshops for both planning teams and

          4  Intermediary organizations to build capacity. Topics

          5  of workshops have ranged from graduation

          6  requirements and school scheduling to special

          7  education and English Language Lerner support

          8  strategies.

          9                 In addition, the Department has

         10  participated in public forums sponsored by parent,

         11  community and faith-based organizations and have met

         12  with advocacy organizations concerning the new

         13  school strategy.

         14                 The new school approval process is

         15  rigorous. The Regional and Central DOE offices

         16  conduct review processes for endorsement of the new

         17  school proposals that are then presented to the

         18  Chancellor for approval.

         19                 This year more than 144 proposals

         20  were submitted, 70 of which were approved.

         21                 For New Century High Schools, one

         22  type of new school that we create, the Department of

         23  Education, New Visions, the United Federation of

         24  Teachers, the Council of Supervisors and

         25  Administrators and the foundations supporting the
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          2  initiative jointly review proposals and make

          3  decisions on which proposed schools meet the

          4  requirements for private funding.

          5                 Upon approval of the new schools,

          6  locations are identified based on our secondary

          7  strategy to transform select large struggling high

          8  schools into campuses of effective small schools,

          9  the availability of space in existing Departmental

         10  facilities, and new lease facilities the Department

         11  is able to secure.

         12                 Next year, approximately half of the

         13  70 new small secondary schools will open in campuses

         14  within existing large high schools, which have

         15  struggled in the past. Creating new campuses of

         16  small, academically rigorous schools will help us

         17  transform a number of our largest high school

         18  campuses into more effective and safe learning

         19  environments.

         20                 Campus development and creating a

         21  portfolio of options require extensive planning,

         22  particularly around student enrollment. This year we

         23  have focused intensely on the Bronx, where the

         24  enrollment challenge is greatest.

         25                 We are supporting both the new and
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          2  existing schools in these campuses through a new

          3  "campus management plan/host school proposal fund"

          4  of $6 million. Through this fund, the Department

          5  will offer additional resources to ensure an

          6  effective transition, resource sharing and the

          7  coordination of all school principals within a

          8  campus for the 2004-2005 school year.

          9                 The host schools on the redesigned

         10  campus are eligible to apply for grants of $100,000

         11  to $400,000 to provide academic support to the

         12  students of the host school and to improve campus

         13  life.

         14                 The campus management plan is

         15  intended to facilitate and support partnership,

         16  determine a model for campus governance and

         17  decision-making and ensure that all students receive

         18  the academic, developmental and socio-emotional

         19  support they need.

         20                 Another important element of our

         21  implementation strategy is leadership development.

         22  Strong leadership is a critical component of

         23  effective new school creation. Within two weeks of

         24  the approval of their proposals, the leaders of new

         25  small schools began leadership training through a
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          2  new Leadership Academy program designed specifically

          3  for this initiative: the New School Intensive.

          4                 Through weekly sessions with skilled

          5  facilitators, the New School Intensive ensures that

          6  principals opening new schools have the necessary

          7  leadership skills, technical skills and knowledge

          8  about DOE policies and supports to succeed. It also

          9  facilitates an important peer learning community of

         10  new school principals as well as enabling mentoring

         11  from an experienced principal during the first year.

         12                 Above and beyond the Leadership

         13  Academy's program, new school principals are

         14  supported in their development as instructional

         15  leaders in two primary ways: through the support of

         16  the Regional and Local Superintendents, which design

         17  their own instructional supports for new principals,

         18  and the Intermediary organizations, which replicate

         19  high quality and proven instructional and youth

         20  development models.

         21                 Opening a new school is a

         22  considerable undertaking. By opening new schools on

         23  this scale, we are able to develop efficient and

         24  streamlined processes to ease much of the

         25  implementation burden on principals and staffs and
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          2  the divisions throughout the Department.

          3  Specifically the processes we have focused on most

          4  recently include staff hiring, furniture and supply

          5  ordering, systems training, among others.

          6                 It is unrealistic to expect the

          7  implementation of such an ambitious initiative to be

          8  perfectly smooth. However, I am pleased to report we

          9  are on track for a successful new school opening

         10  throughout the City this September. I want to share

         11  some data points of key milestones.

         12                 97 percent of the new small schools

         13  have principals identified, 100 percent of whom have

         14  valid certifications.

         15                 80 percent of the new schools have

         16  already convened their 18G hiring committees,

         17  one-third of the schools have already hired their

         18  entire staffs.

         19                 100 percent of the schools have

         20  received their initial budget allocations and 94

         21  percent have received training or are scheduled to

         22  receive training shortly on budget development,

         23  systems and purchasing.

         24                 Against this extremely important

         25  milestones for new school implementation, these
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          2  numbers are a testament to the commitment of

          3  numerous divisions of the entire Department of

          4  Education to implement the new school strategy.

          5                 A brief word about the schools that

          6  will open in September.

          7                 The pipeline of new schools for

          8  2004-05 is 70 strong. The schools opening represent

          9  a wide range of instructional models and commitment

         10  of nine intermediary organizations. Of these, 33

         11  will open in the Bronx, 20 in Brooklyn, 14 in

         12  Manhattan and 3 in Queens.

         13                 Finally, I would like to take a

         14  moment to highlight the evidence we have to date

         15  that our strategy is working. First and foremost, we

         16  have promising indicators of student success from

         17  the Bronx, the origin of our new school initiative.

         18                 In the 2001-2002 school year, the

         19  first New Century high schools opened their doors.

         20  Student attendance at these new small schools is

         21  above 91 percent. By way of comparison, student

         22  attendance at the large high schools that are either

         23  in transition or sharing space with the new schools

         24  is 76.8 percent. The Citywide average is 84.7

         25  percent.
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          2                 We attribute the impressive

          3  differential in attendance rates to the increased

          4  personalization in the new schools. In smaller

          5  schools, students are more likely to feel like an

          6  integral part of a school community because they are

          7  known well by adults and have the opportunity to

          8  form meaningful relationships.

          9                 In new small schools there is a

         10  concerted effort on the part of everyone in the

         11  school community, including students, to ensure that

         12  all faculty -- to ensure that all students come to

         13  school and come prepared to learn.

         14                 For example, the entire faculty of

         15  one of the new schools that opened on the Bushwick

         16  High School campus last September organized a

         17  community walk during which they visited the homes

         18  of each student enrolled in the school.

         19                 Another important indicator of

         20  success is grade promotion.

         21                 At the new small schools, 90.8

         22  percent of 9th graders were promoted to tenth grade

         23  during the 2002-2003 school year. Particularly when

         24  compared with the grade promotion rates of large

         25  high schools referenced above, which were 47.4
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          2  percent during the same years, these results are

          3  powerful indication that these schools are actually

          4  working for our students.

          5                 Finally, our new small schools have

          6  succeeded in drawing the commitment and resources of

          7  colleges, cultural institutions and community

          8  organizations.

          9                 For example, the faculty from

         10  Brooklyn College are collaborating with teachers at

         11  the Community School for Social Justice on the

         12  Social Studies curriculum, and on science and math

         13  curriculum at the STAR Early College High School at

         14  the Erasmus High School Campus.

         15                 Brooklyn College also provides

         16  tutoring, after school enrichment and college

         17  experiences to students across all the schools at

         18  Bushwick High School.

         19                 Students at the Harbor School at the

         20  Bushwick High School Campus, expand their

         21  understandings of Regents Math A curriculum, algebra

         22  and geometry, through the study of navigation and

         23  nautical construction through the school's

         24  partnership with the South Street Seaport,

         25  Waterkeeper and the Urban Assembly that offers
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          2  hands-on after school and enrichment experiences.

          3  These types of experiences often stimulate students

          4  to engage more deeply in their education and explore

          5  their talents.

          6                 We have begun an ambitious effort to

          7  create a diverse portfolio of effective secondary

          8  schools that will prepare all students for higher

          9  education and careers.

         10                 There are many challenges and

         11  opportunities ahead. As Mayor Bloomberg indicated in

         12  his speech calling on the State to provide funds

         13  through the Campaign for Fiscal Equity lawsuit, the

         14  Department needs both capital to create the

         15  facilities and additional operating funds for a

         16  full-scale implementation of secondary reform.

         17                 It is urgently needed for the future

         18  of our adolescents and our city and we are committed

         19  to making sure that our new school strategy is as

         20  effective as possible.

         21                 We thank you for the opportunity to

         22  testify on this important issue, and we are happy to

         23  answer any questions you may have.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you very

         25  much.
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          2                 We've been joined by Council Member

          3  Al Vann from Brooklyn. Thank you for being with us

          4  today.

          5                 Before we begin the questions, I just

          6  want to say that I very much appreciate the number

          7  of people in attendance. Obviously this is an

          8  important issue for the City of New York and for

          9  parents and children.

         10                 I would wish only that every hearing

         11  had this kind of attendance because we are dealing

         12  with other very important matters and we will make

         13  sure that the hearing schedule, which is available

         14  on the website, Council website, and we can direct

         15  that to you, we run a rather vigorous hearing

         16  schedule, so much so that I think the Chancellor is

         17  looking for to my upcoming maternity leave, which

         18  will provide a brief hiatus in our schedule.

         19                 Thank you very much, Michel Cahill,

         20  for your testimony. It's helpful.

         21                 I wanted to ask about four different

         22  areas: One having to do with the educational vision

         23  and theory behind this initiative. I wanted to touch

         24  on some issues regarding accountability. I wanted to

         25  explore the issue of cost, and I want to explore the
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          2  issue of what you call diversity, and I fear maybe

          3  more exclusivity in terms of focusing on the

          4  poor-performing schools or poor performing students.

          5  But let's start with the issue of educational vision

          6  and theory.

          7                 I wanted to understand the difference

          8  between this initiative and past initiatives.

          9                 I know that there is a great urge to

         10  kind of look forward and be optimistic, but I have

         11  to confess that in my prior life I was a historian

         12  and found it very valuable to learn from the past.

         13                 And in your answers to the

         14  Committee's question, it seemed, if I was

         15  understanding you correctly, that what you would

         16  call the most significant difference between past

         17  initiatives and the current one, has to do with

         18  partnerships and accountability.

         19                 MS. CAHILL: It's actually with system

         20  level supports, system planning, district redesign,

         21  the whole context of Children First and then

         22  partnerships are another element.

         23                 When we talk about systemic supports,

         24  we're talking about the entire conscious intentional

         25  strategy to bring all of the enrollment planning,
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          2  instructional planning, the critical elements that I

          3  outlined to bear.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I guess I need

          5  to explore that further, because I don't think it

          6  would be fair to the old new schools movement, if

          7  you can call it that, to suggest that they didn't

          8  have the goal of high achievement and high

          9  expectations for students, well trained, staff and

         10  instructional leaders.

         11                 I don't have the paperwork from that

         12  period, but I presume that they didn't put out

         13  pieces of paper that said that the design elements

         14  were low expectations for students, poorly trained

         15  teachers, et cetera. So, I'm just trying to

         16  understand, are the design elements really

         17  different, or you're saying, well, this time we're

         18  really going to do it?

         19                 MS. CAHILL: I think that I was not

         20  speaking about goals. I was speaking about the

         21  difference in the strategy and the construction of a

         22  strategy.

         23                 First of all, I do think we know more

         24  than ten years ago. Not because of who we are, but

         25  because of the progress of educational research, and
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          2  so it is extremely clear from education research

          3  over the last ten years about the centrality of

          4  school leadership and the centrality of both highly

          5  qualified teachers and opportunities to perform

          6  professional communities.

          7                 The point and the distinction I was

          8  making is that any time those schools were created

          9  by often educators and very dedicated educators, but

         10  who were often left on their own, often not given

         11  either the supports that they needed or the ability

         12  to solve problems or the very -- let me illustrate

         13  it.

         14                 We have moved to make sure that

         15  principals have budget authority. They understand

         16  their budgets, they know their budgets, they can use

         17  their budgets. You can then use your budget

         18  differently if you have it at the school level, and

         19  you have some control over it in terms of how you

         20  use it for scheduling, for staffing, a range of the

         21  kinds of things that were necessary to get these

         22  elements.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: This is a

         24  topic that has come up in multiple hearings where

         25  both the Chancellor and your CFO, whose name I'm
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          2  forgetting at the --

          3                 MS. CAHILL: Christie Fife.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Fife, who has

          5  made this assertion and we haven't found it to be

          6  correct in talking to principals that they have more

          7  discretion over their budgets.

          8                 In fact, they have said the opposite,

          9  that they keep getting e-mails that say that they're

         10  supposed to do X, Y and Z. Is there some difference

         11  in the new Century schools? Is there something

         12  specific you could point to that would allow us to

         13  say, aha, yes, here they have discretion, whereas,

         14  if you're not a new Century school, you know, you

         15  wouldn't have this area of discretion.

         16                 MS. CAHILL: Well, I don't think it's

         17  so much that it's the new Century versus others,

         18  except they're being so intentional about the new

         19  schools, so we're paying a great deal of attention,

         20  compared to what you can control in a system that's

         21  a very large system about what happens in any

         22  particular element.

         23                 There's two ways I would suggest

         24  thinking about that. One, the amount of money that a

         25  principal has discretion over, of course, is related
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          2  to the overall system budget, right?

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Sure.

          4                 MS. CAHILL: So, to some extent that

          5  goes up and down, right?

          6                 But in what we are moving toward in

          7  having principals make decisions is that you can

          8  make decisions about whether you, for example, put

          9  money toward student advisory, and how you would pay

         10  teachers, how you would use your procession budget

         11  with teachers, and which you can use it differently.

         12                 Whether or not you want to use

         13  funding for an after school program or you want to

         14  use funding to have in-school supports in a small

         15  learning community, you would be able to use your

         16  AIDP funding differently, which is one illustration

         17  of more discretionary, more discretionary funds.

         18                 The other thing with, of course, the

         19  new schools that we hope will mirror what we'll be

         20  able to do with public funds is the funding that

         21  they have from private sources, which gives them

         22  more discretion in their early years.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: And is there a

         24  substantial difference in private funding from the

         25  old small school initiative? I mean, in terms of
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          2  dollar figures? Is this -- I mean, I know that the

          3  Gates Foundation has generously, or is generously

          4  going to provide approximately $58 million, and I

          5  think if I understood your numbers correctly that

          6  worked out to approximately $100,000.

          7                 MS. CAHILL: Approximately $1,000 per

          8  student. A thousand dollars per student.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: A thousand

         10  dollars per student.

         11                 MS. CAHILL: Over four years.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Is there more

         13  money this time around, compared to the last?

         14                 MS. CAHILL: It's actually a very good

         15  question.

         16                 The Annenburg money was the $20

         17  million, $25 million. You'd have to do the inflation

         18  figure, and the number of schools. I think the

         19  private money, well, we also have $30 million that

         20  we're building the 58 million on, so that was from

         21  Carnegie and Open Society Institute and then we'll

         22  continue to have other funding.

         23                 I think that maybe what's different

         24  here is that the Department is very aligned with how

         25  this money can be used.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: In the past

          3  they weren't aligned.

          4                 MS. CAHILL: Yes.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I'm trying to

          6  understand.

          7                 MS. CAHILL: Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: In the past

          9  groups wanted to form these schools and the

         10  Department took either a laizzefaire attitude or an

         11  attitude of hostility? I'm just trying to understand

         12  what you're saying.

         13                 MS. CAHILL: I think it varied by

         14  district.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay.

         16                 MS. CAHILL: In my other roles in the

         17  past I had the experience and opportunity to work

         18  with numbers of the small schools. Some of them were

         19  in the alternative district, many of those had very

         20  little private funding. They were not held to

         21  standards of accountability that even often were

         22  related to even an alternative set of

         23  accountability. Others were held much more

         24  stringently to accountability.

         25                 There was a very much of an
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          2  unevenness. In some districts when a founding

          3  principal of a school would retire or leave in some

          4  way, very little attention was paid to what was the

          5  purpose of that school, who were the partners in

          6  that school, what was that school about; for

          7  example, if that was a math science school, was the

          8  new principal expert in math science, were they

          9  committed to that model? We had many examples that I

         10  have actually experienced in the last year and a

         11  half here of schools that were started as programs

         12  in the past under a number of these initiatives, the

         13  original principal, quote, they were really project

         14  directors but they functioned as principals, had

         15  gone for extensive training in the model, something

         16  like the Frederick Douglas Academy model, and new

         17  project directors and principals were put in there

         18  without any training. And, yet, the whole integrity

         19  of the school was about this kind of rigorous

         20  curriculum and cultural model.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: It sounds like

         22  what you're saying is because this is coming from

         23  the Mayor and the Chancellor, there's going to be

         24  better implementation this time around?

         25                 MS. CAHILL: That is our commitment,
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          2  that the implementation will both be efficient and

          3  effective, but to make it effective it has to be

          4  guided by principles that I was talking about.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay, can we

          6  go back to those principals because I'm not sure,

          7  you know, I'm working from page four which is just a

          8  paragraph where you describe, you know, I asked what

          9  is the specific educational theory, this is the info

         10  request, what is the specific educational theory

         11  behind the Department's new small schools

         12  initiative? How does this theory differ from the

         13  rationale behind previous small school initiatives,

         14  and basically I see a sentence here, the current

         15  initiative, however, places a higher value on

         16  partnerships and accountability. Let's leave the

         17  issue of accountability aside for a second. I just

         18  want to understand the partnership. So, are you

         19  saying that it's the volume of partnerships, all

         20  those groups you listed? Are you saying that the

         21  nature of the partnership has changed?

         22                 MS. CAHILL: Yes. I'm saying the

         23  nature of the partnership has changed.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Can you give

         25  me the before and after?
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          2                 MS. CAHILL: Yes.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay, that

          4  would be helpful.

          5                 MS. CAHILL: Of course there are

          6  examples in each. It's not a diagram without any

          7  intersection, there is intersection, but there is

          8  more emphasis than others.

          9                 This strategy has a formal

         10  partnership with school development, intermediary

         11  partners, who have to agree to, in order for the

         12  Department to partner with them, certain sets of

         13  requirements.

         14                 For example, the critical elements I

         15  described, and how they would go forth and do that.

         16                 Secondly, issues about size, issues

         17  about participation and leadership training, that

         18  organizations would do that.

         19                 But the second part of it is I think

         20  that partnerships are a key element in how we think

         21  secondary education will work better in the future.

         22                 When ten years ago, twelve years ago,

         23  thirteen, whenever the first New Vision schools were

         24  started, and then the Center for Collaborative

         25  Education Schools, the Department as a whole did not
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          2  have a commitment to prepare every young person to

          3  be able to go to post secondary education.

          4                 We're in a different standards

          5  climate, everyone has to pass five regents, so in

          6  order to get students, so many students who are so

          7  far away from that, we need to increase motivation

          8  and we need to give them experiences that

          9  continually reinforce and expand that.

         10                 So, a partner, if I can just give an

         11  illustration, so a partner like the Brooklyn Botanic

         12  Garden, in the past might have offered experiences

         13  for students and internships, something like that,

         14  what we are asking them to do is have the scientists

         15  who work for them actually work with students and to

         16  have a structured program that they work with the

         17  school that students would have ever-increasingly

         18  challenging experiences, and also that it would

         19  actually contribute to the development of their

         20  science competencies. So, you're augmenting it, and

         21  reinforcing it all the time.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay. I can't

         23  say that that is entirely clear to me, because I'm

         24  asking sort of a narrow question, which is, you

         25  know, I want to understand the before and after, and
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          2  I understand that the external circumstances

          3  changed, we now have the kids who have to pass five

          4  regents and so forth, I'm just trying to imagine

          5  being in the room five or ten years ago, between

          6  let's say New Visions, and obviously I'll ask New

          7  Visions this question, and we're grateful that we're

          8  here today, I'm just trying to imagine, did the DOE

          9  sort of say, great, start a school and whatever you

         10  want to do is fine, presumably there were some

         11  understanding that the schools were going to work a

         12  certain way, and I'm trying to figure out, is the

         13  nature of the partnership different? Because it not

         14  only matters in terms of evaluating whether you are

         15  going to be successful, but it gets the next issue

         16  of accountability.

         17                 If we're farming out the business of

         18  educating students, in some way, you know, that

         19  leads to the question of who do we call if things

         20  aren't working.

         21                 MS. CAHILL: You call the Department

         22  of Education.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay.

         24                 MS. CAHILL: We are in no way farming

         25  out the business of education.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I'm not

          3  opposed to that, by the way.

          4                 MS. CAHILL: But I am actually, and I

          5  believe that the Chancellor is as well.

          6                 We have accountability as the entire

          7  bi-word of public education reform. We must take

          8  responsibility.

          9                 I think that there is a huge

         10  difference between forming productive partnerships

         11  that give students more opportunities, colleges with

         12  universities with the entire set of resources that

         13  exist in New York City, and farming out education

         14  and farming out responsibility for education.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Isn't it

         16  inherently so, if, you know, if you are having other

         17  people in the business of playing a role, other than

         18  parents, playing a role in educating our students,

         19  in what sense is that not farming out.

         20                 I mean, I don't view that as a bad

         21  thing. In fact, I assume that's behind the

         22  Chancellor's support of Charter schools, that other

         23  people, that he doesn't subscribe to a monopoly of

         24  public education, but that there should be other

         25  entities in the mix doing this, I'm a little
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          2  surprised to hear you frame the Chancellor's

          3  position in that way, because I had a different

          4  understanding.

          5                 But in any case --

          6                 MS. CAHILL: I really don't understand

          7  how you think I'm framing this.

          8                 Let me be as clear as I can be.

          9                 We are trying to draw upon the rich,

         10  social capital in New York City, financial capital,

         11  the resources that are intellectual capital, our

         12  universities --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Great.

         14                 MS. CAHILL: Community and cultural

         15  organizations, to enrich the experiences and

         16  increasingly motivate and build a sense of young

         17  people as citizens of New York City that can

         18  participate in its rich life and its future.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I'm not

         20  hostile to that.

         21                 MS. CAHILL: And we are going to hold

         22  every school accountable, and hold the Department of

         23  Education accountable. It's very different from

         24  farming out education and farming out

         25  accountability.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Well, to me,

          3  the more people you have in the room, the more

          4  players who are responsible. Is that not true? As a

          5  matter of principles?

          6                 MS. CAHILL: There are more people

          7  that some entity can hold responsible, but some

          8  public entity is responsible. We are principals,

          9  principals are responsible for their schools. We can

         10  have an arrangement with Brooklyn College to develop

         11  an early college high school program with us, in

         12  which they will agree to provide their faculty.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: And if you're

         14  not satisfied you, quote, sort of fire Brooklyn

         15  College? I'm just trying to understand.

         16                 MS. CAHILL: We can end the

         17  arrangement, of course.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay.

         19                 MS. CAHILL: And they can end the

         20  arrangement if they believe that, and I think this

         21  is very important, that the system is not providing

         22  the supports to the school that are required.

         23                 It is our responsibility, if we open

         24  a science high school, to have science, curriculum

         25  and science labs, right?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I would hope.

          3                 MS. CAHILL: So, there has to be -- I

          4  would hope as well, and I hope we both more than

          5  hope so.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Hope it comes

          7  true.

          8                 MS. CAHILL: Right.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: All right. Let

         10  me just go back to the small schools and then I want

         11  to move on.

         12                 You know, I sort of random looked at

         13  some of the past small schools, and while I of

         14  course wouldn't expect you to know many of the

         15  particulars, I just was wondering if you could sort

         16  of speculate from a first principal why such schools

         17  might not be successful.

         18                 I looked at VanGuard High School,

         19  which is a small school, and found that only 15.7

         20  percent of the class passed the English Regents

         21  exam, and by your own school report cards, that's

         22  compared to 41.6 of the same type. You know, you

         23  have that category of similar schools.

         24                 I looked at Manhattan International

         25  High School where only 5.3 percent of the class
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          2  passed the math Regents, compared to 19 percent. And

          3  then I think this is an old New Vision School,

          4  although I could be wrong about that, legacy school

          5  for integrated student, no student in the class of

          6  2003 passed the math Regents compared to 19.3

          7  percent of their peers.

          8                 MS. CAHILL: Right.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Is that

         10  something where you would say there is, you know,

         11  there is a design flaw? I'm just trying to

         12  understand.

         13                 MS. CAHILL: Actually, when I received

         14  your paper, I went to look at these schools and

         15  there's a flaw but it's not the flaw that you would

         16  expect in reading this.

         17                 We have some reporting problems, and

         18  some differences in accountability over time in the

         19  way accountability is reviewed by the State. So let

         20  me explain the situation with VanGuard, and it

         21  actually holds, and then there's also a problem in

         22  the way I think some problem interpretation, what

         23  you looked at.

         24                 So, VanGuard is a portfolio school,

         25  and in the past there were a number of schools,
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          2  approximately 28, that had a waiver for portfolio.

          3  These schools also tended to not report their

          4  Regents data or to report it late.

          5                 So, VanGuard reported their Regents

          6  data late and the New York State Education

          7  Department did not accept this from the ELA after

          8  the deadline. If we take the cohort, the same cohort

          9  and calculate the percent passing ELA at 65 on the

         10  data the SED did accept, then the pass rate is much

         11  higher. In ELA it goes from 19.6 percent in the

         12  2002, 2003 annual school reports, to 58.2 percent.

         13                 So, VanGuard is an example of a data

         14  reporting problem.

         15                 In math, as in the other schools,

         16  it's a different story. The two schools that you

         17  mentioned, and I think Legacy, though I didn't see

         18  that one til today, but I think it's one of them,

         19  all have had the math portfolio exemption, where

         20  students are not required to take the Regents.

         21                 The math portfolio last year was

         22  counted by the State of the pass on a math portfolio

         23  was counted as a 65, as it has been in the past

         24  since the portfolios were put in existence the year

         25  before this.
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          2                 The State, NYSED, New York State

          3  Education Department, counted it as 60 for this

          4  cohort, which meant that everyone didn't make it,

          5  because you couldn't get -- it had to be zero

          6  because a P was now associated with below 65.

          7                 So, in fact, that's why it says zero,

          8  whereas if they -- was at 65, the pass rate for

          9  VanGuard would have been, count the math portfolio,

         10  the pass rate is also 58.2 percent.

         11                 Manhattan International, I haven't

         12  seen this one until today, but once before I found a

         13  school like this, and what I believe, since they

         14  have a math portfolio, is that some portion of their

         15  students took the math Regents anyway, and that's

         16  how they get that, because the rest of them would

         17  have been portfolio.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay, so the

         19  data is incorrect in one case, which doesn't give me

         20  a lot of confidence when I look at those school

         21  report cards that I know what I'm looking at, and

         22  then the other two cases, even though the State has

         23  mandated these standards, the kids haven't had to

         24  take the exam; did I understand that?

         25                 MS. CAHILL: No, the data -- there is
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          2  one problem with VanGuard's ELA data being reported

          3  late.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay.

          5                 MS. CAHILL: The other problem is a

          6  single problem. All of these schools, which were

          7  often the small schools that were created in the

          8  past, were part of a portfolio exemption.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I understand

         10  that.

         11                 MS. CAHILL: Okay.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: But that

         13  exemption ended.

         14                 MS. CAHILL: No. The kids who are

         15  still in the school, those schools were not until

         16  this coming year being required to take the math.

         17  They still have the exemption for math.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay, so your

         19  theory is that a school hadn't re-oriented its

         20  curriculum.

         21                 MS. CAHILL: No, no, no. It's not a

         22  theory. It's actually an explanation.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: All right. I

         24  consider theories and explanations similar, but go

         25  ahead.
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          2                 MS. CAHILL: What I'm trying to say is

          3  I'm describing a process.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay.

          5                 MS. CAHILL: They did not take the

          6  Regents, or they're not required to take the

          7  Regents. They are required to submit portfolios and

          8  if there's a whole process for that, the students

          9  who were given a pass, who made a pass on the

         10  portfolio, up until this set of data that you're

         11  looking at, a pass was equal to 65.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: So, you

         13  counted it as a Regents?

         14                 MS. CAHILL: We didn't.

         15                 This is the state did. The state

         16  counted it as equivalent to 65.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: But wouldn't

         18  that mean that like at Manhattan International High

         19  School more than 5.3 percent should have passed the

         20  math Regents?

         21                 MS. CAHILL: First go to the zero one

         22  and I'll explain it.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: All right.

         24                 MS. CAHILL: Yes. The year that you're

         25  looking at, which is just this past year.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: 2003.

          3                 MS. CAHILL: Right. The Ps, the passes

          4  were submitted to the State, the same as they had

          5  been before.

          6                 In the past that P was given a grade

          7  of 65. Without telling the City, that grade was

          8  changed to 60. Since it's only pass/fail and 65 was

          9  the equivalent of passing, it meant everybody

         10  failed.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Wait a second.

         12  I see, so --

         13                 MS. CAHILL: The peculiarity of this

         14  situation is that --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay, so they

         16  made some algorithm to equate passing with some

         17  numerical score.

         18                 MS. CAHILL: Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: And anyone who

         20  got 60.

         21                 MS. CAHILL: Anyone who got P. You

         22  didn't get a grade.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay, anyone

         24  who got P passed.

         25                 MS. CAHILL: Passed.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: So, are you

          3  saying that at Manhattan International High School,

          4  only 5.3 percent of the class passed the math

          5  Regents?

          6                 MS. CAHILL: I was explaining the zero

          7  with that.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Oh, I'm sorry,

          9  the zero.

         10                 MS. CAHILL: The ones you gave of

         11  VanGuard, for example. It's zero.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I don't think

         13  there's a zero -- at the Legacy School for

         14  Integrated Studies it says on the school report card

         15  that not a single student passed the math Regents.

         16                 MS. CAHILL: VanGuard says zero.

         17  That's where I was going from your paper that you

         18  gave me the day before yesterday. The VanGuard just

         19  said zero percent passed in math. That's what

         20  triggered my finding this --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: VanGuard I

         22  thought you said that the data is incorrect?

         23                 MS. CAHILL: The ELA data.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: The ELA data.

         25                 MS. CAHILL: The ELA data is
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          2  incorrect.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Right. And I

          4  thought you said that two other cases it was not

          5  that the school report cards were inaccurate, it was

          6  that we're transitioning between an old system and a

          7  new system.

          8                 MS. CAHILL: VanGuard, Manhattan

          9  International, and is Legacy? I don't if anyone can

         10  tell me. They're all portfolio schools.

         11                 The other data that I saw from you

         12  was all about math. So, it's the math, I'm

         13  explaining the math.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: All right. But

         15  in the portfolio schools, if a child, if a student

         16  passed, it just seems -- I guess I don't see how

         17  that's an explanation of why the performance is so

         18  low.

         19                 MS. CAHILL: It's not.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay.

         21                 MS. CAHILL: No, it's an explanation.

         22  It's not so low. It's not a real number. That's what

         23  I'm trying to explain.

         24                 It's not as if all these students

         25  took -- it's not as if a hundred students took the
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          2  math.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: But of those

          4  who did take it, how --

          5                 MS. CAHILL: We don't know. We don't

          6  know. That number doesn't tell you that.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay, let me

          8  move on.

          9                 One other question about these

         10  statistics. I noticed when you talked about the

         11  success, you cited attendance data and promotion

         12  rates. Did no not cite regents --

         13                 MS. CAHILL: Because --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Because you

         15  don't have it yet?

         16                 MS. CAHILL: Because we don't have it

         17  yet.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay.

         19                 MS. CAHILL: It's just from the first

         20  year.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay.

         22                 Let me turn to page eight in your

         23  answers and ask about cost.

         24                 MS. CAHILL: Yes.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I don't know
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          2  if I quite understand your charts correctly.

          3                 MS. CAHILL: I'm sorry, what page?

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: And any member

          5  of the public, these charts are available here if

          6  you want to look at them.

          7                 MS. CAHILL: Could I just make one

          8  point before we go on?

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Sure.

         10                 MS. CAHILL: The portfolio issue is

         11  gone. All the new schools under our initiative will

         12  take the Regents.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Right.

         14                 MS. CAHILL: So, we'll have data and

         15  they'll take them and report it.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay.

         17                 As I understand it, you're providing

         18  both capital needs and operating monies to these new

         19  schools. The sixty and some day to be 200.

         20                 If I'm understanding this chart

         21  correctly, in the first year the schools, and the

         22  monies you are providing are both, it's some formula

         23  based on per student, as well as some fixed amount,

         24  and it totals $10 million approximately.

         25                 MS. CAHILL: Yes.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Now, is that

          3  10 million per school?

          4                 MS. CAHILL: No, that's the total.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay.

          6                 MS. KANE: Good morning, Madam Chair.

          7  This is Kristen Kane from --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: If you could

          9  speak directly into the mic, it's a little hard to

         10  hear you.

         11                 MS. KANE: Yes, this is Kristen Kane

         12  from the Department of Ed. Thanks for the

         13  opportunity to be here.

         14                 To answer your question on a unit

         15  level, school level, the start-up allocation, the

         16  fixed amount is $90,000, and the per capita amount

         17  varies according to the Department of Education's

         18  standard formula by grade levels.

         19                 So, there's a different amount for

         20  new elementary schools, middle and high schools. And

         21  the numbers you see in our written responses are the

         22  aggregate numbers.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay, that was

         24  not at all clear to me, that relieves me from having

         25  a heart attack.
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          2                 Okay, in terms of operating costs,

          3  what does that work out? The total is, as I

          4  understand it, $29 million, and that -- I'm a little

          5  confused, when you include coaches in there, coaches

          6  you provide anyway; why would that be counted as an

          7  additional?

          8                 MS. KANE: Sure. Why don't I try to

          9  walk you through the way we fund these new schools.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay, that

         11  would be helpful.

         12                 MS. KANE: Feel free to stop me with

         13  questions.

         14                 Essentially the first portion of that

         15  table outlines the start-up allocations for brand

         16  new schools. There's the fixed component I just

         17  mentioned of 90,000, and then there's a variable

         18  component based on student enrollment and the level

         19  of a student's grade level enrolled in each of the

         20  schools. That's part one of the basic allocation.

         21                 Part two is the overhead to which you

         22  referred. Totals about $29 million in aggregate.

         23  That overhead funding pays for the principal salary,

         24  any administrative staff, et cetera, to staff the

         25  school, in addition to the teachers and the rest of
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          2  the operating costs, as you described.

          3                 The remaining figures on that table

          4  are an attempt to give you a sense of the ongoing

          5  operating costs of these schools. You may know from

          6  our written testimony, from your other experience,

          7  that when we open new schools, in virtually all

          8  cases we open them one grade at a time and phase in

          9  classes of students. As a school adds an additional

         10  grade, it also has additional, albeit small, needs

         11  for additional start-up things; for example, text

         12  books, additional chairs, desks, et cetera. So, the

         13  phase-in start-up allocation, which totals

         14  approximately $11 million, is the aggregate amount

         15  that we will spend over the next three to four years

         16  as these schools phase into their full scale to

         17  cover those incremental expenses as they enroll new

         18  students.

         19                 And, finally, the ongoing overhead

         20  that describes coaches, et cetera, captures the

         21  amount of dollars we would allocate to a school when

         22  it hits its full enrollment. So, as a new school

         23  phases in, on average let's say 100 students are

         24  enrolled in the brand new school.

         25                 Because of our serious financial
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          2  constraints, we cannot give the full dollar

          3  allocation for a coach, for example, for schools

          4  that enroll fewer than 400 students.

          5                 This is consistent with all

          6  Department policy. So, this shows you once these

          7  schools do get full enrollment and do enroll over

          8  400 students, they get the full allocation, as does

          9  any other school.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay, that's

         11  helpful. And let me ask you, how does the per

         12  student allocation, if I were to compare an old

         13  large school to a new small school, is there going

         14  to be, and let's keep everything else the same,

         15  they're both Title 1 schools, or, you know, there's

         16  no difference like that, am I going to see a higher

         17  per pupil allocation for these schools than a,

         18  quote, traditional school?

         19                 MS. KANE: You absolutely will not.

         20                 The one difference you will see is

         21  that for, and this is true of any school in the

         22  system, there is a per capita allocation that a

         23  school receives for any new students that enter the

         24  door, to cover the cost of textbooks, and so since

         25  as part of our Children First reform and a move
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          2  toward school-based budgeting, we are driving as

          3  many costs on a per student basis, which is the much

          4  more equitable way to fund school, and so the same

          5  is true here as well. In our basic allocation, to

          6  answer your question the simplest way possible, the

          7  per student amounts are exactly the same as they

          8  would be in any other school.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: But presuming,

         10  does that include private money or no? You're

         11  talking just public money?

         12                 MS. KANE: Yes, I'm talking about

         13  public money.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay. So, when

         15  you add the private money, then presumably the per

         16  student allocation is higher?

         17                 MS. KANE: Yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: And by how

         19  much approximately?

         20                 MS. KANE: Well, if we make an

         21  estimate, which is the only thing that we can do,

         22  and as in Michele's testimony she mentioned the new

         23  schools phasing in from most of the grants, receive

         24  approximately $1,000 per student per year as they

         25  phase in, so over four years.
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          2                 So, in year one you have 100

          3  students. Your grant total may be approximately

          4  $100,000, $1,000 per student. And, so, in total,

          5  instead of a budget of say 800,000 in public

          6  dollars, you have 900,000 to spend, if you divided

          7  that total by the number of students.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: And is that

          9  inclusive of start-up costs before the school

         10  actually opens, or that's additional money?

         11                 MS. KANE: The private funding you're

         12  asking about?

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Either.

         14                 MS. KANE: Either.

         15                 Two points I should make. One is that

         16  the private funding is purely supplemental. The

         17  private funding does not go toward the purchase of

         18  any furniture, fixture and equipment, et cetera.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Well, I

         20  thought it had flexibility, so can't it go to

         21  whatever they --

         22                 MS. KANE: They do.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: -- Wanted to

         24  go to?

         25                 MS. KANE: You would need to probably
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          2  speak to the organizations that have received the

          3  grant funding, because there are grant letters

          4  associated with those grants that give certain

          5  guidelines about how the money ought to be spent,

          6  and it is primarily related to instruction,

          7  professional development, supporting schools

          8  planning, et cetera.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay.

         10                 MS. KANE: So --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: In what sense

         12  is that supplemental? I mean, for educators that's

         13  your bread and butter, right? Professional

         14  development isn't supplemental.

         15                 MS. KANE: Oh, absolutely not. The

         16  function is absolutely not supplemental.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: So what did

         18  you mean by supplemental?

         19                 MS. KANE: The dollars. That we do not

         20  have the resources -- we are grateful for the

         21  private resources to support the planning and

         22  professional development efforts of these schools.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: But I don't

         24  understand, you just said they were supplemental;

         25  aren't they integral to the educational effort?
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          2                 MS. KANE: I would say the purpose the

          3  money is spent for is absolutely integral.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Yes.

          5                 MS. KANE: And what money you use to

          6  spend it as, as you said,   you point out

          7  accurately, at the discretion of the school.

          8                 MS. CAHILL: Many, many of our schools

          9  have private funding as well.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Sure.

         11                 MS. CAHILL: For a range of purposes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Sure.

         13                 MS. CAHILL: In that way we always

         14  call that supplemental money. It doesn't mean

         15  they're not going to have public dollars for

         16  professional development.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: But, you know,

         18  obviously the reason behind this question is I want

         19  to understand, you know, when we talk about equity,

         20  we have to understand, you know, if we're targeting

         21  a particular group of students, or particular

         22  communities, if there's a higher per people

         23  allocation there, you know, we have to sort of

         24  understand that, and so I'm trying to understand,

         25  when you add, one question is public dollars, is
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          2  there equity? And I'm not saying there should be

          3  equity. Obviously I'm a strong supporter of Title 1

          4  funding and that clearly makes things inequitable,

          5  but for a very good social reason, but I'm just

          6  trying to understand, in terms of public dollars, as

          7  well as private dollars, what does it add up to, and

          8  I want to understand if that is all inclusive. In

          9  other words, is there pre-money before the school

         10  opened that would actually make the per pupil

         11  allocation, if you include that, higher, we can

         12  argue about whether that was fair to include it.

         13                 MS. CAHILL: Well, it also is what

         14  you're comparing with. Because per pupil allocation

         15  is a formal term for a particular kind of public

         16  dollars.

         17                 Many schools have different amounts

         18  of supplemental dollars, as you gave an illustration

         19  of Title 1, there's ELL, there's other kinds of

         20  public funds, schools can have funding because

         21  they're career technical schools and they have a mix

         22  of public and private dollars, because you need that

         23  for the kind of career pathway that you're

         24  developing.

         25                 Other schools are, some of our
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          2  schools that are on CUNY campuses have support for

          3  some of the additional enrichments that they are

          4  getting there.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: And I'm just

          6  trying to enumerate it so that I understand what's

          7  the bottom line in terms of per student allocation,

          8  and there may be very good justifications for these

          9  types of schools getting more money, but if they are

         10  I'd like to understand how much more money they are

         11  getting and what the justification is.

         12                 You're essentially saying, if I

         13  understand you correctly, that it's not more money

         14  even when you add the private dollars; is that

         15  accurate?

         16                 MS. KANE: The private dollars are

         17  absolutely supplemental funding. These schools could

         18  open and operate and have an adequate budget without

         19  that private money, but the private money

         20  significantly enhances these schools to plan and

         21  develop their schools.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay, I'm

         23  having trouble with your language, because adequate,

         24  I don't think you could find any parent in the City

         25  of New York to say that their school budget is
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          2  adequate.

          3                 So, this distinction between adequate

          4  and supplemental --

          5                 MS. KANE: I should, if you'll allow

          6  me to rephrase? Excuse me.

          7                 When we are designing and formulating

          8  the basic allocations through our budget office at

          9  the Department, we try to do a bottoms up analysis

         10  and look at, with the funding constraints that we

         11  have and we do have plenty, what are the critical

         12  elements that these schools that are opening with

         13  small members of students need in order to serve

         14  students as well as possible, given the resources we

         15  have; in order to fund a principal's salary, for

         16  example, some administrative staff and a number of

         17  teachers, give them resources for textbooks, for

         18  furniture, et cetera.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: So you're

         20  saying in the bare basics, the language I would use.

         21                 MS. KANE: Yes, right.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: The

         23  Department's allocation is exactly the same for the

         24  traditional schools and the new schools, but there

         25  is a supplement of private dollars which may result
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          2  in a net, may result in a higher per pupil

          3  allocation for the new schools than the traditional

          4  schools; is that accurate?

          5                 MS. KANE: The first part of your

          6  statement is accurate. The one point I would make is

          7  that looking across the system to do a simple per

          8  people funding analysis across the schools is not

          9  actually a simple exercise, because if you consider

         10  the size of a school, regardless of how much funding

         11  is given to that school based on the numbers of

         12  students enrolled, you have a considerable variation

         13  in the amount of overhead, or administration that

         14  staffs a school, and a large high school may have a

         15  number of deans, for example, administrative

         16  positions that a small school would not have.

         17                 And so if you are looking at school

         18  budgets in aggregate, in dividing those aggregate

         19  budgets by the number of students, you'll see

         20  considerable variations, and it's not an apples to

         21  apples comparison, is the point I'm trying to make.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: One final

         23  question, and I know my colleagues have questions.

         24                 You know, you say a number of times

         25  these, used the word "diversity" a number of times,
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          2  and I find that a little ironic in terms of the

          3  population the schools are serving.

          4                 I just want to understand, the new

          5  century schools are geared toward creating more

          6  opportunities, which obviously is a very important

          7  thing, for historically poor-performing schools; is

          8  that accurate, that you're targeting --

          9                 MS. CAHILL: We are trying to give

         10  more opportunities to students who have not been

         11  well served and have not had good choices for their

         12  schools.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: And that is a

         14  terribly worthwhile and important goal. But I do

         15  want to ask the question, we've had some discussions

         16  about this, what about the students who are not

         17  historically underserved and disadvantaged but

         18  either high performing or middle performing?

         19                 My fear, of course, is that we will

         20  never get to them, and I do think the staffs

         21  indicate while you have created, and I don't even

         22  know if it's fair to say you, but under Harold

         23  Levy's leadership there were three new CUNY schools

         24  and there have been some efforts.

         25                 Obviously the proportion is very
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          2  oriented toward you know creating educational

          3  equity, which I strongly believe in, and I feel is

          4  very important, but I'm also concerned about the

          5  high-performing students and middle-performing

          6  students; can you say anything about what the

          7  Department proposes to do to address that problem,

          8  and do you have any plans of the 200 new schools to

          9  address that next year, or how is that going to

         10  work?

         11                 MS. CAHILL: First I want to say that

         12  the Chancellor and the Department have a clear

         13  responsibility to all the students in New York City,

         14  and when we talk about a diverse portfolio of

         15  schools, we are talking about creating schools for

         16  all students in New York City, and creating schools

         17  that meet the needs and offer opportunities to all

         18  schools, and we reject a notion that if we are

         19  turning attention and focusing attention in a

         20  careful and intentional way to providing more

         21  opportunities for students who have not had them in

         22  their neighborhood, that that is in any way not

         23  paying attention as well. We have to do both things

         24  at once.

         25                 Over the past four years there have
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          2  been 11 new selective high schools that have opened

          3  in New York City, and we are opening three screened

          4  schools in September, Mott Hall Middle School, Capa

          5  2 Middle School and a second Mott Hall.

          6                 I personally was involved before I

          7  came here with the CUNY exempt schools and

          8  Chancellor Klein has endorsed them. We have provided

          9  extensive support to them, financial, in public

         10  dollars as well. Those three schools, the Early

         11  College High Schools that we are developing, and

         12  Millennium, Eleanor Roosevelt, as you have enormous

         13  credit developing, we're supporting these schools.

         14  We are in discussions with International

         15  Baccalaureate, where we have a new school, Bedford

         16  Academy in Brooklyn, the Frank Sinatra School of the

         17  Arts in Queens, we are spending considerable amount

         18  of capital dollars to make --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: The Council

         20  was very involved in that initiative. So, I'll make

         21  sure credit is -- Peter Vallone and under his

         22  leadership, yes.

         23                 MS. CAHILL: The Chancellor has been

         24  very committed to Frank Sinatra to make a world

         25  class arts and performing arts school there.

                                                            73

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2                 We think that we want to make schools

          3  available so that we will -- stronger and stronger

          4  schools so that the entire diversity of New York

          5  City school children can go to any one of these

          6  schools.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I appreciate

          8  that, and I will just ask you to take back to the

          9  Chancellor that I think there needs to be more

         10  emphasis on it.

         11                 I'm very familiar, obviously, with

         12  the Eleanor Roosevelt, and it was an enormous

         13  struggle. We were called elitists, you know, we had

         14  many political battles to fight in order to have a

         15  college preparatory school.

         16                 MS. CAHILL: All of our schools are

         17  college preparatory. All of our schools will prepare

         18  young people for college.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: That's what

         20  was said, but if you want your kid to take AP

         21  calculus, now college preparatory does not simply

         22  mean passing five regents, it actually is competing

         23  with the Daltons and the Trinities, the collegiates

         24  of the world, and so the standards have gone up

         25  considerably, and you know, this is not to take away
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          2  from support. You identified a very serious

          3  educational crisis, and it seems as if you're taking

          4  some very creative steps toward addressing that, but

          5  I don't think it fully answers the other part of the

          6  equation that middle-performing students and

          7  high-performing students' needs have not been

          8  addressed, and it becomes a little bit of a

          9  political battlefield, when you say, and I've been

         10  through this war. In my district there was a school

         11  for teenage mothers, which I supported, there was a

         12  vocational school which I supported, but God forbid

         13  if you should want your kid to take AP calculus,

         14  there was nowhere to go. And there were all sorts of

         15  fights, as you know, over what the admissions

         16  criteria should be, and I would just like to see

         17  going forward in both the educational capital plan

         18  and the instructional plan, I would like to see the

         19  rhetoric translated into the dollars and the

         20  planning and so forth. And I know that you

         21  personally are committed, but I would just ask you

         22  to bring that back to the Chancellor.

         23                 MS. CAHILL: I really do feel that I

         24  need to say one more piece on this.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Sure.
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          2                 MS. CAHILL: And that is that we do

          3  not see going forward having schools that are

          4  limited by a vision of only passing the five

          5  regions. The schools we are creating, we are working

          6  very hard to make sure that they will have AP

          7  courses. We have received recently a $700,000 grant

          8  to expand AP courses in these schools and other

          9  schools in neighborhoods in the City where these do

         10  not exist. This is not a bifurcated vision. This is

         11  a vision of strengthening high school in New York

         12  City and making all students, as I said in my

         13  testimony, be able to use their talents to their

         14  limits.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I appreciate

         16  that. It may be moving in slightly contradictory

         17  directions, because of course, to offer the array of

         18  AP forces requires a bigger school for the economies

         19  of scale. If we had limitless resources, you know,

         20  we could do what some of the fancy private schools

         21  do where they have a class of six kids taking an AP

         22  course, it becomes very challenging to do that with

         23  a small school, but I appreciate that.

         24                 We've been joined by Council Member

         25  Foster, and Council Member DeBlasio, and we did have
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          2  Council Member Comrie with us.

          3                 Council Member Koppell.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Thank you.

          5                 I'm focusing my questions first on

          6  the issue of consultation.

          7                 As you know, it has some specific

          8  relevance to my district. You mentioned, I believe,

          9  that you are intending to open 70 schools; is that

         10  correct? And you're opening about half of them now?

         11  Is that number?

         12                 MS. CAHILL: We're opening 70 in

         13  September.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Seventy in

         15  September.

         16                 MS. CAHILL: Yes.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: And how many

         18  more then after that?

         19                 MS. CAHILL: The Chancellor has

         20  announced that we will open 200 schools, so we

         21  started last year.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: As you open

         23  these schools, and have opened the schools, what

         24  consultation have you had with parents in the

         25  general area where the school is going to be located

                                                            77

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  with school administrators, particularly

          3  administrators, in high schools where you put these

          4  small schools and the community in general?

          5                 MS. CAHILL: We've had extensive

          6  participation of community partners and parents on

          7  the planning teams. There are parents on all of the

          8  new planning teams of the new Century Initiative,

          9  parents on most of the other planning teams. We

         10  have, both at the regional level, Region of

         11  Superintendents, and others, attended many community

         12  forums, senior staff from central office have

         13  attended parent forums, we've attended community

         14  forums throughout Brooklyn and the Bronx and

         15  Manhattan, only a couple in Queens, where we don't

         16  have that many new schools.

         17                 We have been meeting, not just the

         18  superintendents, but I, in the six high schools that

         19  are targeted in the Bronx and several in Brooklyn,

         20  actually, I think I've only not been to one, I've

         21  been to meetings with all of the -- I've gone to

         22  meetings mainly 7:00 in the morning, sponsored, put

         23  together by the United Federation of Teachers, with

         24  teachers from all those schools, met with all of the

         25  principals on that.
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          2                 We have not done everything as well

          3  as it can be done, but we have certainly reached out

          4  and for this scale of participation we have done

          5  extensive consultation.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL: Well, certainly

          7  in the cases I know, which is not only in the

          8  school, new math school in Riverdale, but also the

          9  schools at Kennedy High School, at Clinton High

         10  School and at Walden High School, all of which in my

         11  district, as far as I know, and you don't need to

         12  answer it right now, but it's very specific, there

         13  were no community consultations whatsoever before it

         14  was decided to put those small schools in those

         15  schools.

         16                 And I don't necessarily disagree with

         17  all of those decisions, although I disagree with

         18  some of them, but there were no consultations, and I

         19  would like to have your assurance that before the

         20  next round, because we can't change what's the past,

         21  I wish we could sometimes, but I'd like your

         22  assurance that for the next round of placement of

         23  small schools, in a high school, in a community,

         24  that there -- and it may vary, when you do a school

         25  it may vary as to who the audience is, in some ways
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          2  it might be a borough-wide audience, in other cases

          3  it will only be a neighborhood audience, there will

          4  consultations, public consultations, notice to

          5  elected officials, notice to community boards,

          6  because we don't have school boards anymore, but

          7  notice I guess for the substitute for school boards,

          8  I don't exactly remember the names of --

          9                 MS. CAHILL: Community Education

         10  Council.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Community

         12  Council, before you make a decision to put a small

         13  school in an area.

         14                 Do I have that assurance from you? Or

         15  do we have that assurance?

         16                 MS. CAHILL: We are asking some very

         17  specific kinds of consultation, and the question is

         18  with whom and how many. I mean, there has been so

         19  many kinds of consultation. We certainly can pledge

         20  to you to not be working in secrecy, to be engaging

         21  with principals, with teachers. We certainly have

         22  announced many, many times the new Century and other

         23  campuses that we're working on.

         24                 The specific kind of --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: The problem
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          2  is, if I may interrupt you?

          3                 MS. CAHILL: Sure.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Your

          5  announcements are made as a fait accompli, and not

          6  made as a proposal.

          7                 MS. CAHILL: Yes.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: That's not

          9  made as a proposal. You decide in some internal

         10  meetings that you're going to put a school in a

         11  particular high school or a particular neighborhood,

         12  and then you announce it.

         13                 But that's not what I'm asking.

         14                 MS. CAHILL: I understand. Let me go

         15  back and rephrase what I'm saying to try to be

         16  clearer, because we only have one disagreement, but

         17  I do want to make that one clear and make the other

         18  one our areas of agreement clear as well.

         19                 What I was referring to is that we

         20  have identified the campuses that have become

         21  campuses of small schools, and have had identified

         22  that and have had extensive planning activities,

         23  which has been quite public, about those schools,

         24  with a lot of participation.

         25                 The placement of particular schools
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          2  in a time when we have facility problems, is we have

          3  also this notion that we may have to incubate some

          4  schools, which is the issue that we've had in

          5  Riverdale, where a school does not yet have -- is

          6  very small and yet does not yet have a full place to

          7  grow into. And there we are looking for temporary

          8  placements of schools in buildings that have room,

          9  and that's something that we will be engaging those

         10  schools in, but we may not always be able to satisfy

         11  communities that that's a school that they want

         12  there.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: There's no

         14  question. That doesn't mean you shouldn't consult.

         15  You may ultimately have to overrule whatever

         16  objections there are.

         17                 We had many objections to certain

         18  things when I was president of a local school board.

         19  We have extensive consultations before we placed

         20  schools somewhere, before we changed zones.

         21                 There were many objectives, it didn't

         22  satisfy everybody, but nobody could complain that

         23  they weren't involved in the process. That's the

         24  issue.

         25                 MS. CAHILL: Yes. Okay, no, I
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          2  understand what you're saying. And for example, when

          3  we purchased the Mercy College space, we did

          4  extensive consultation with community boards, with

          5  others.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: And when that

          7  came here there was some further concessions made or

          8  agreements. Consultation is beneficial.

          9                 Now, for instance, you made a

         10  decision to put -- going away from the Riverdale

         11  School for a moment, you made a decision to put a

         12  small school in Clinton, and it created a great deal

         13  -- it was not a welcome thing by the principal.

         14                 MS. CAHILL: Right.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: It was not a

         16  welcome thing by the school community, and

         17  ultimately you moved it.

         18                 It might have been better if there

         19  had been consultation before you put the school in

         20  Clinton, because now you had it there, you're moving

         21  it out. Which I'm glad you're moving it out, don't

         22  misunderstand.

         23                 MS. CAHILL: No, I understand.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: But, again,

         25  it's an issue or prior consultation. And it doesn't
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          2  mean you're giving a veto power.

          3                 MS. CAHILL: I agree.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well, I think

          5  I've made the point.

          6                 I'd look at the testimony of Cordell

          7  Schachter, the outgoing, who is coming here today,

          8  and you'll see I want to second those points.

          9                 I want to move for a moment to

         10  another issue that's of concern to me.

         11                 When you create the new schools of

         12  excellence, or of high academic standing, first of

         13  all, let me say that it's difficult for me to oppose

         14  that as a graduate of the Bronx High School of

         15  Science, and two children who are graduates.

         16  However, there is a counter argument that you're

         17  doing what I guess commonly might be called cream

         18  skinning when you create these schools. And if you

         19  do it with small schools, you have the danger, I

         20  think, of in each school community, on each

         21  neighborhood, having a small school that's just for

         22  the most high-achieving kids, and then the

         23  less-achieving kids are, look upon themselves as

         24  outcasts, where you have a larger school and you

         25  have enriched courses, you know, advanced courses
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          2  and things like that, it doesn't create as much of a

          3  feeling of alienation on the kids who can't get in,

          4  because they're still part of the same school

          5  community.

          6                 We have that right now in Kennedy

          7  High School, where the principal is complaining that

          8  the small school kids kind of are look upon

          9  themselves as favored and the kids who go to the

         10  regular Kennedy school look upon themselves as being

         11  outcasts or somehow not as worthy. And, so, I'm

         12  concerned, not that you have -- I want you to have

         13  AP classes, but I'm not sure that separating those

         14  kids and putting, you know, all the more

         15  higher-achieving kids in an actual separate school

         16  is a good thing.

         17                 MS. CAHILL: Right.

         18                 We're trying to set up a portfolio of

         19  schools that all have college preparatory work, even

         20  if they also have vocational.

         21                 The AP expansion I was not limiting

         22  to the small schools. We are also working to expand

         23  AP courses in our large schools as well.

         24                 The admissions policy for small

         25  schools that are located in those campuses,
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          2  including Marble Hill, is limited on screen. So it

          3  is not a screened school. It is not putting all in

          4  that school.

          5                 When I was answering the Chairwoman,

          6  I was referencing some other schools, the CUNY, like

          7  the American Studies at Lehman.

          8                 What we want to do is create

          9  multiple, multiple schools, but always be raising

         10  achievement, and trying to get to heterogenous

         11  schools, where we have schools that students with

         12  diverse academic achievement want to come to. We did

         13  not have that for at least 30 years in New York City

         14  on the whole, since we have had sub-separations of

         15  the large comprehensive zoned schools for the most

         16  part from others.

         17                 I think this strategy can get us to

         18  schools that are a more heterogeneous group.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well, I just

         20  want to caution you, and I saw in the newspaper the

         21  other day, the Chancellor announced this new

         22  initiative for more schools which are selective. And

         23  I'm concerned about creating more of these schools

         24  to kind of take, as I say, the high-achieving kids

         25  out of the regular high schools --
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          2                 MS. CAHILL: I don't know --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: There was an

          4  article that said, and some of you said it, too, you

          5  said you want to create more small schools that have

          6  an admissions criteria.

          7                 MS. CAHILL: Well, I was answering the

          8  Chairwoman who was saying that we were creating none

          9  through this, and what I was saying is we're

         10  creating some. We're creating far more of these

         11  schools that are unlimited, that are not screened.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: The Chair and

         13  I may have differences on this.

         14                 My own view is that to a largest

         15  extent possible we should create programs of

         16  excellence in schools that take children, or

         17  students, I should say, of varying academic

         18  capability.

         19                 MS. CAHILL: Right.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Because

         21  otherwise we'll be creating a whole codery of

         22  schools that will be looked upon as the schools for

         23  the kids who were failing or the kids who were not

         24  so good. And that's very bad.

         25                 MS. CAHILL: We agree. I was merely
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          2  stating that we are trying to create a variety of

          3  schools. An overwhelming majority of these schools

          4  are as you described.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Council Member

          6  DeBlasio.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Thank you.

          8                 A quick comment, and I would

          9  appreciate reflection on it.

         10                 I had the experience as a local

         11  community school board member with the creation of

         12  several smaller schools, most notably at the John

         13  Jay building in Park Slope, and I guess what I would

         14  say is I want to amplify one of Council Member

         15  Koppell's cautions, but also commend what I think

         16  your instinct is. I agree with you on the importance

         17  of small schools, and I've seen it work in my

         18  community. I do think you should be cautious about

         19  revolution from above. I think this has to be, you

         20  know, it has to be grassroots, it has to be with a

         21  sense of buy-in to work in the long term, and I

         22  think we all have to be careful about short-term

         23  versus long-term. If you want it to work long-term,

         24  the greater level of preparation involvement the

         25  better.
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          2                 I think the point I want to ask about

          3  is sort of geography. What we found, and I think we

          4  had very successful experience in what was then

          5  District 15, now Region 8, with using geography as

          6  the sort of mediating influence. We created smaller

          7  schools, we created hopefully a more appealing

          8  context, and some of that would lead to higher

          9  levels of achievement. But to ensure diversity, we

         10  kept focus on the very broad defined geographical

         11  area that we knew was implicitly diverse.

         12                 Now, obviously you don't get those

         13  results instantly either. It takes a certain number

         14  of years to bring all the elements of the community

         15  in.

         16                 I guess my question is, how much are

         17  you trying to avoid the trap of exclusivity by

         18  focusing these smaller schools on some kind of

         19  geographical base?

         20                 MS. CAHILL: I want to comment on your

         21  first comment as well. We have had over 600 people

         22  involved in planning new schools in New York City,

         23  not to mention -- those are actual people who have

         24  been on planning teams, parents, students, teachers,

         25  administrators, in addition to all the community
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          2  forums. So, we're not trying to do revolution from

          3  above. I am personally committed to expanding our

          4  community engagement and our consultation, and have

          5  throughout my life been deeply involved in that kind

          6  of work.

          7                 Second issue is exactly directionally

          8  where we're going. It's difficult to achieve. When

          9  we looked at where the lowest-performing high

         10  schools in New York City were, and where there have

         11  been very little school creation, and we came very

         12  clearly to the Bronx, where there were not choices

         13  available there.

         14                 Much of the effort has been started

         15  in the Bronx. And what we are doing to kind of widen

         16  the geography, and we have done this in cooperation

         17  with the United Federation of Teachers, in terms of

         18  a 18G pool as well, is to make the pool for

         19  admissions the pool that would serve all six of the

         20  schools, so you can go to any of the small schools

         21  in those buildings living anywhere in that area and

         22  then we'll expand it Bronx-wide.

         23                 We can certainly expand at a high

         24  school level as there are other kinds of schools,

         25  you know, in interesting geographic ways, some of
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          2  the difficulty is almost enrollment press. For

          3  example, I know you're from Brooklyn but one of the

          4  issues in the Bronx is that they had to have the

          5  fastest-growing demographic in the high school age,

          6  and so that's really been trying to meet the demand.

          7                 I think in Brooklyn that we're doing

          8  the same kind of arrangement, geographic-based

          9  arrangement by having Prospect Heights, Windgate and

         10  others become, those new schools be able to go to

         11  from different areas.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Well, I

         13  appreciate that focus, and I would simply say that

         14  we all understand this often does take time, and I

         15  appreciate that struggle.

         16                 Just a final point that, and the John

         17  Jay experience was illustrative, I fundamentally

         18  believe you are consulting with a number of people,

         19  I respect that.

         20                 I would still say that I almost would

         21  encourage a certain amount of community debate and

         22  dialogue, even tension and uproar sometimes in the

         23  process leading up to the John Jay situation which

         24  was under the old school board system, sort of

         25  numerous public discussions and many of them quite
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          2  charged. There were profound issues about putting

          3  middle school students and high school students

          4  together, there were profound concerns about safety,

          5  in a building that had a very troubling track record

          6  on violence.

          7                 We're doing very well today in terms

          8  of safety. We're doing well on the integration of

          9  sixth through 12th grades, productively with three

         10  small schools, but I think to some extent we have to

         11  have that public airing out. And we have to, in

         12  fact, let people voice their fears and then see that

         13  their fears were not realized. And that's part of

         14  what allows you to then take the next step towards

         15  real progress.

         16                 So, again, I would just urge that, I

         17  think there's always an instinct when you're trying

         18  to move quickly to not encourage that, and I think

         19  this is a case where a certain amount of that

         20  actually helps you to your longer term goal.

         21                 MS. CAHILL: Thank you.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: Thank you

         23  very much.

         24                 Thank you, Madam Chair.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you very
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          2  much, Council Member DeBlasio. We've been joined by

          3  Council Member Comrie and Council Member Brewer. I

          4  want to thank you -- I'm sorry, Council Member

          5  Domenic Recchia from Brooklyn, I want to thank you

          6  very, very much for your testimony. The Committee

          7  may have some follow-up questions in particular, if

          8  you can consider, the Committee would love to see

          9  some of the successful concept papers that you

         10  describe in your answers to the information request,

         11  if we could see some of those so we know what it is

         12  you're talking about, that would be very, very

         13  helpful. Again, thank you for your forthrightness,

         14  and the time you spent, very helpful, and we are

         15  most appreciative.

         16                 MS. CAHILL: Thank you very much.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: We are going

         18  to now take a moment, as I mentioned at the

         19  beginning to vote on Intro. 261-A.

         20                 Last week on June 9th, the Committee

         21  heard testimony from the Department and from a

         22  number of leading civics groups concerning Intro.

         23  261-A, the Young Adult Voter Registration Act. That

         24  testimony was incredibly helpful, and the basis of

         25  it, the sponsors of the bill, and this is a bill
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          2  primarily authored by Council Member Eric Gioia, who

          3  authored this legislation in response to an

          4  investigation he had done about whether government

          5  agencies are providing voter registration forms. We

          6  have amended it slightly to make it absolutely clear

          7  that the Department is required to give voter

          8  registration forms to graduating seniors at the same

          9  time as it gives them their diplomas. There was some

         10  testimony on the part of the Department that

         11  indicated we were recommending; generally when we

         12  pass laws we don't recommend, we mandate.

         13                 This is the second hearing on Intro.

         14  251-A, and I'd like to invite my colleagues, if you

         15  have any comments or questions to please bring them

         16  forward now. You have a copy of the bill on your

         17  desk, and it is only very slightly amended from the

         18  last hearing.

         19                 If there are no questions and if I

         20  could ask the roll call to be taken, that would be

         21  helpful.

         22                 COUNCIL CLERK: Moskowitz.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I vote aye.

         24                 COUNCIL CLERK: Comrie.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: I vote aye.
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          2                 We're not finished on the small

          3  schools, though?

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Oh, no.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: I did want to

          6  make a comment to the Board of Ed, but I'll defer

          7  and be the first question for the next panelist?

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Sure.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: I vote aye.

         10                 I want to congratulate Councilman

         11  Gioia on developing this initiative. It's really

         12  important that we teach our young people and give

         13  them every opportunity to really be part of the

         14  electoral process. I vote aye.

         15                 COUNCIL CLERK: DeBlasio.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: I vote aye.

         17                 COUNCIL CLERK: Foster.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER: Aye.

         19                 COUNCIL CLERK: Koppell.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Aye.

         21                 COUNCIL CLERK: Recchia.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Aye.

         23                 COUNCIL CLERK: Vann.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Aye.

         25                 COUNCIL CLERK: Yassky.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Aye.

          3                 COUNCIL CLERK: By a vote of eight in

          4  the affirmative, zero in the negative and no

          5  abstentions, the item is adopted. Council members,

          6  please sign the Committee report.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: If you could

          9  leave the record open, because I know there are some

         10  members in Gov Ops who would like to still vote.

         11  That would be helpful.

         12                 Thank you.

         13                 We are now going to be joined by

         14  Randi Weingarten, the President of the United

         15  Federation of Teachers. I know that she has a very

         16  tight time constraint, but we are grateful that she

         17  could be here.

         18                 Welcome, and thank you for being

         19  here.

         20                 MS. WEINGARTEN: Thank you. And I

         21  spent a lot of time working on my testimony, I'm

         22  going to actually do something I almost never do and

         23  read it.

         24                 You know, I always hate when this

         25  kind of stuff gets ideological. Should I start?
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          2  Okay. And because as you'll see as the theme of my

          3  testimony, small schools work when they work; big

          4  schools work when they work; and the issue shouldn't

          5  be size, it should be how we fundamentally help all

          6  kids succeed and fundamentally get every single

          7  child that's in our reach to a really good high

          8  school education, and that's really the theme of our

          9  testimony and we have some ideas about how to solve

         10  the problems that are going on right now. If I

         11  forget to say it, I also want to, and I don't know

         12  if she's still in the audience, Leone Haimson just

         13  gave me her testimony about some of the ways of

         14  trying to also solve some of this, and I thought a

         15  lot of her proposals were very, very, "her," as in

         16  UPA's proposals, were very sound.

         17                 The UFT has a long and proud -- and

         18  I'm joined here, I'm sorry, by Frank Volipicello,

         19  who is our Vice President for High Schools.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Welcome, and

         21  thank you for being here.

         22                 MR. VOLIPICELLO: Thank you.

         23                 MS. WEINGARTEN: The UFT has a long

         24  and proud tradition of support for education and

         25  innovation. You know we are a union of over 100,000
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          2  educational professionals, who cared deeply about

          3  the young people we teach, and we never stop looking

          4  for ways to improve their instruction. 1.1 million

          5  students bring a vast array of academic and social

          6  needs to our classrooms, and we have to find the

          7  teaching methods and the school support structures,

          8  which will help us meet their different needs.

          9                 The UFT has supported efforts to

         10  establish new small schools in the New York City

         11  public school system, because we believe that the

         12  diversity of schools, large and small, academic and

         13  career, technical, comprehensive and focused on

         14  curricular themes. We believe that this kind of

         15  large array of schools is important to meet the

         16  different needs of our scores and scores and scores

         17  of students. And every type of school, if the school

         18  is a good school, bring its own particular

         19  strengths, and each serves students with particular

         20  needs as well.

         21                 In a small school, it is easier to

         22  create a nurturing family-like atmosphere in which

         23  teachers and students get to know each other well,

         24  and it is easier for the schools' educators to work

         25  together collegially as professionals on matters of
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          2  teaching and learning. On the whole, small schools

          3  have fewer problems with school safety. Small

          4  secondary schools hold particular promise for

          5  addressing the academic and the social needs of

          6  students who are not succeeding in large

          7  comprehensive schools, which students find too

          8  impersonal.

          9                 At the same time, large comprehensive

         10  high schools are able to offer a wide array of

         11  academic programs that a small school could not

         12  support, especially in advanced studies and in more

         13  specialized subjects.  For students who have yet to

         14  develop a particular academic focus, or for those

         15  ready to pursue a subject in-depth, the range of

         16  choices is especially important. Extracurricular

         17  activities, especially athletics, is also more

         18  numerous in a large school.

         19                 For students who thrive in such a

         20  setting, a large school offers many opportunities

         21  for academic and personal growth. So, my bottom line

         22  is this: Size does not determine whether a school

         23  succeeds or fails. And if somebody was genuinely

         24  interested in looking at all the research, you would

         25  see that.
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          2                 There are successful small and

          3  successful large schools, and there are failing,

          4  even schools that were raised and brought up last

          5  year, there are failing small schools and there are

          6  failing large schools, size simply makes it possible

          7  for a school to do its mission, its different

          8  mission well.

          9                 So, for all of these reasons, the UFT

         10  has been, notwithstanding, a lot of our misgivings

         11  this year, we still are a lead partner in the new

         12  Century schools project in New York City, and we

         13  have been since well before new Century even was a

         14  glimpse in anybody's eyes, we have been supportive

         15  of efforts to establish new small schools to

         16  compliment our large schools. We need different

         17  types of schools to best serve different students.

         18                 Let me be very personal for a second.

         19  I went to a large high school, a large public high

         20  school. I taught in a large public high school, and

         21  if I can do anything today, and I want to plead with

         22  everyone in the audience about this, in the current

         23  zeal to, quote, change the status quo, at all costs,

         24  I plead with everyone to stop throwing the baby out

         25  with the bathwater.
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          2                 Our vision for New York City public

          3  schools is one in which every student can attend a

          4  school where his or her fullest academic potential

          5  is realized, and every educator can work in a school

          6  where his or her fullest professional potential is

          7  realized.

          8                 So, this is what has happened this

          9  year. Education, almost like with anything else, how

         10  well one implements a reform is just as important as

         11  the soundness of the reform. And I think the way,

         12  and I want to thank Michele Cahill, because, you

         13  know, if Michele wasn't there, this would have been

         14  much, much worse, and she has done yeoman's work to

         15  try to make this work. But the way in which the

         16  Department of Education has established a new small

         17  secondary school in New York City, particularly in

         18  the last year, has been fraught with hardship and

         19  conflict, in our judgment, much of which was

         20  avoidable. And it placed unnecessary onerous and

         21  disruptive burdens on both old and new schools,

         22  including a lot of the new small schools.

         23                 What ultimately has happened is that

         24  this evident need to create a set number of small

         25  schools without planning for the foreseeable
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          2  consequences, and without having the budget to be

          3  able to do this well, has undermined what was

          4  probably a responsible policy.

          5                 What has been most lacking in the

          6  DOE's approach is a comprehensive plan for the

          7  appropriate placement of the new small high schools.

          8                 New York City schools are in the

          9  midst of a severe overcrowding crisis, the result of

         10  decades, as you folks on the education commission

         11  know well, you've been championing this, decades of

         12  inadequate funding of the system's capital budget.

         13                 The Department compounded the problem

         14  this year by establishing new small schools in a way

         15  that actually reduced school capacity. It decided

         16  that it would phase out large comprehensive high

         17  schools, which had not been academically successful,

         18  and turn them into campuses of four to six small

         19  schools.

         20                 Now, what effectively happens is

         21  since each small school needs space for its own

         22  administrative and student support services, the

         23  actual classroom space in a building that goes from

         24  one big school to four to six small schools, the

         25  classroom space is actually reduced, as well.
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          2                 In addition, there's a transitional

          3  problem, since more space is consumed by

          4  non-instructional services when a school building

          5  contains both a large school phasing out, and serve

          6  a small school starting up, then when a final

          7  transition has been complete. And in a lot of these

          8  places, we're talking like -- and the folks in the

          9  schools always talking about classroom by classroom.

         10                 So, the results of this approach, as

         11  you all know, I know that Bob Hughes will testify

         12  about this later, I know Michele has testified it,

         13  testified about it, I would say that the results

         14  were particularly disastrous in the Bronx this year,

         15  others will say that there were problems. But the

         16  bottom line is, there were problems. Some of us

         17  believe they were greater in magnitude than others.

         18                 So, what's happened in the Bronx, and

         19  Olly knows this probably better than anybody else,

         20  with the increases in high school enrollment, the

         21  thousands of students each year, it's great the

         22  Bronx is growing. The DOE continue to take in ninth

         23  graders in most of the schools that were scheduled

         24  to be phased out while shoehorning the new schools

         25  in those very same buildings. So, some Bronx High
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          2  School buildings right now are now nearing twice the

          3  number of students they were designed to serve.

          4                 Walton Campus, for example, it's

          5  currently at 180 percent capacity, and the DOE plans

          6  to place an additional new school in that building

          7  next year.

          8                 It's one of the reasons why, and I

          9  agree with Olly, that Celia Cruz had to be moved out

         10  of DeWitt Clinton, but one of the reasons why we

         11  suggested, the union suggested, so let's get the

         12  bucks and move it onto the Lehman College Campus,

         13  which is where the school wants to be anyway,

         14  instead of putting it in the Walton Campus.

         15                 So, as overcrowding became more and

         16  more severe, school safety and academics suffered.

         17  Walton, and the other overcrowded Bronx High Schools

         18  sharing their buildings with a large number of small

         19  schools, these names will sound familiar to you,

         20  Walton, Columbus, Vander Child Stevenson, they all

         21  ended up on the Impact School List, as schools with

         22  severe safety problems, which then required special

         23  security intervention.

         24                 But what's going on in the ground in

         25  the buildings is what's more problematic to me as
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          2  both an educator and somebody who is concerned about

          3  equity. Because what's happening now is that

          4  schools, the School buildings have been divided into

          5  haves and have-nots. Perception-wise, and in some

          6  instances, reality-wise. Because the students in the

          7  new schools, small schools, and this is great, the

          8  students in the new small schools have smaller

          9  classes and receive extra services and equipment,

         10  while what happens is that the students in the large

         11  high schools feel slighted by the impending closing

         12  of their schools.

         13                 On the Columbus Campus, for example,

         14  the large comprehensive high school was forced to

         15  adopt an academically disrupted end-to-end schedule

         16  where half of the school attended from seven to 12

         17  in the morning, and the other half attended from 12

         18  to 5:00 in the afternoon. So, this is the perception

         19  of the haves and the have-nots, because you know

         20  something? I bet if we looked at the small schools

         21  they would show they use their money more

         22  effectively and that that's how they were able to

         23  lower their class sizes. But this is the perception.

         24  So that Columbus, Columbus was on this end-to-end

         25  session, but the small schools in the building had
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          2  regular school days. And Windgate, we have a similar

          3  situation. In Windgate, the part of the building

          4  occupied by the new small school was freshly

          5  painted, while the rest of the building was

          6  untouched. So, this is not something that the small

          7  schools did; what message does it send? You got

          8  this. You understand the message that it sends. And

          9  then as a result, the conflict begins between I'm a

         10  have, I'm a have-not, and we're dealing with

         11  adolescence and high school kids and also teachers

         12  in a building that are very much into wanting their

         13  own school to survive and thrive.

         14                 So, in Brooklyn and Manhattan a

         15  different set of overcrowding problems emerged. The

         16  phase-out of the old comprehensive high schools

         17  began on schedule, so there was adequate space in

         18  those buildings for the placement of these new small

         19  schools. But interestingly, and ironically, in

         20  Brooklyn and Manhattan, there were two few new small

         21  schools to absorb all the new in-coming ninth

         22  graders, who would have otherwise gone to the phased

         23  out schools.

         24                 So, large numbers of schools were

         25  deflected to the other high schools in the boroughs,
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          2  thereby severely overcrowding them, and bringing all

          3  the attendant safety and academic problems. And this

          4  is where Dom and I know Bill know this issue,

          5  because you had Fort Hamilton, Lincoln, Madison,

          6  Midwood, and Murrow, were particularly hard hit. And

          7  then you had many who some would argue were at the

          8  tipping point anyway, like Canarsie, Sheepshead Bay,

          9  Tilden and Washington Irving, really tip towards bad

         10  instead of good.

         11                 So, those four schools all ended up

         12  on the Impact School List for additional security

         13  because of their severe safety problems. And my own

         14  home school, Clara Barton High School, which was

         15  known for years as a school that African American

         16  and Latino parents sent their kids to in Northern

         17  Brooklyn, my own school has been seriously damaged

         18  because of these deflections and because of what has

         19  happened.

         20                 So, my question is, the one thing I

         21  don't think any of us want, certainly not me, is we

         22  can't, in pushing for more and more schools,

         23  particularly small schools, we can't turn existing

         24  okay to good big schools, into failing schools.

         25                 Okay, there's a number of other
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          2  problems. I talked about several of them, but let me

          3  go to Solutions. Let me go to Solutions, because a

          4  lot, there wasn't enough time given to leaders of

          5  the small and large schools to work things out. In

          6  other cities that have done this, people were

          7  released, the founders of the schools were released

          8  for a whole year to really work this out, so there's

          9  a lot of issues in turn that the small schools had

         10  as well, in terms of trying to figure these things

         11  out.

         12                 But the real question is, or the real

         13  -- and one more thing which is, because there are

         14  so many schools right now, what's also happening is

         15  that the staffing is such that a lot of the new

         16  small schools are being almost exclusively staffed

         17  by novices, and that's started to create a problem

         18  as well.

         19                 So, let me look, let me talk about

         20  how we can make this not a zero sum game and raise a

         21  couple of solutions. How can we figure out a way

         22  that all of our students enjoy both the promise of

         23  new small schools, and the advantages of large

         24  comprehensive high schools, and have the choices of

         25  both good choices. And, so, here's the solution
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          2  piece. I said that a lot of what Leone said has

          3  really sound work in it, and should be looked at.

          4                 In terms of our solutions:

          5                 First, there must be a comprehensive

          6  realistic plan that places new small schools in

          7  appropriate settings where they can be reasonably

          8  accommodated and which places all students in school

          9  buildings that can reasonably accommodate their

         10  numbers. Bottom line is, you've got to have a plan

         11  for a school building that works for the size and

         12  the requirements of that building.

         13                 So, you need a plan that includes the

         14  acquisition, unfortunately, of substantial amounts

         15  of new space for school capacity in New York City as

         16  being far outstripped, particularly on the high

         17  school level, particularly with this by student

         18  numbers.

         19                 What we have called for to try to do

         20  this is impact studies, based upon objective

         21  standards, and once those studies are done,

         22  disseminate those studies to a public and very

         23  transparent manner before we still shoehorn schools

         24  into other schools, so that everybody knows what's

         25  going on, an impact study and disseminate that
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          2  publicly so that everybody has all the facts.

          3                 In the last few months the DOE has

          4  made the first steps in this direction with its plan

          5  for placing students in the Bronx high schools, but

          6  much more remains to be done in this issue.

          7                 As well, I gave you the situation

          8  about Cecelia Cruz. And let me say something that

          9  I'm sure will be controversial. Look, as Andy Wolf

         10  has argued in the New York Sun, the DOE, and I think

         11  as Olly Koppell has just argued it, the DOE has to

         12  learn to respect the desire of the many diverse

         13  communities that make up this great city to have

         14  their own neighborhood high schools, with their own

         15  organic links to their neighborhoods.

         16                 I think that you, Eva, made that same

         17  exact argument a few years ago in championing the

         18  new East Side High School.

         19                 Okay, number two. So, number one is

         20  impact studies that have to be disseminated and made

         21  public before the moves are made.

         22                 Second, the DOE also needs to

         23  establish transitional centers, and I know that they

         24  want to do this, for over-the-counter students new

         25  to New York City who enroll in the course of the
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          2  school year.

          3                 As it now stands, the academic

          4  programs of large schools are continually disrupted

          5  by thousands of students being registered many times

          6  in dribs and drabs over the course of the school

          7  year, and those students do not receive the

          8  education they need when they are dropped in classes

          9  halfway through the academic term.

         10                 Third, the DOE must send a clear

         11  message that it recognizes the merit and the place

         12  of the entire panoply of schools that make up this

         13  vast system. School communities need to know that so

         14  long as they are successful in meeting the academic

         15  and social needs of their students, their place in

         16  the system is one where they can't rely on the

         17  status quo, but their place in the system is one

         18  that is continuing.

         19                 And school communities need to know

         20  that there will not be separate classes of schools

         21  with different level of resources, and that they

         22  will be fully supported according to the needs of

         23  those students and the missions of the school.

         24                 The DOE, as I said to you before, has

         25  taken a step forward this year by providing campus
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          2  grants to all of the schools, old and new, sharing a

          3  school building, but more needs to be done. In

          4  particular, space needs to be equitably shared so

          5  that no one school bears an unfair burden with the

          6  severe overcrowding all of our schools face.

          7                 Fourth, and last: New schools must be

          8  created commensurate with the ability of the system

          9  to ensure that everyone is a good school, and we

         10  believe with a lot of the safeguards that we have

         11  talked about today, we can do that. But it is

         12  imperative that the DOE establish and maintain a

         13  timetable for the creation of new schools which

         14  allows a prospective principal and staff the time to

         15  properly plan for the school opening. And it must

         16  free up enough time in those working in other

         17  schools for them to undertake these tasks.

         18                 So, the bottom line is this for us:

         19  We want to continue to support the expansion of

         20  innovative small schools, but we have to be very

         21  careful that this is not done at the expense of

         22  other schools, particularly large schools, or that

         23  the expense of all of the 1.1 million children that

         24  we serve. We think there is a way to solve these

         25  things, but we need to solve it to the benefit of

                                                            112

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  every single one of the kids within our reach. Thank

          3  you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you very

          5  much.

          6                 Obviously some of the schools that

          7  you reference have gotten a lot of media attention,

          8  and the Committee is aware, either because they

          9  represent those communities, or simply through the

         10  media, that there has been a lot. I think your words

         11  were accurate. There were things that were avoidable

         12  if it had been done with more sensitivity. So, I

         13  appreciate that.

         14                 I'm going to refrain from asking

         15  questions. I know you're on a tight schedule and we

         16  have a number of colleagues who wanted to make a

         17  statement or ask questions. I'm going to start with

         18  Council Member Comrie, who I didn't realize had a

         19  question for DOE. I apologize.

         20                 Council Member Comrie.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Thank you,

         22  Madam Chair.

         23                 Good afternoon, President Weingarten.

         24  So, basically just so I can have a clear

         25  understanding of what you're saying, you're saying
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          2  that you believe in a small school concept, as long

          3  as there's more input from the specific communities

          4  and ensuring that it doesn't disrupt schools that

          5  already work.

          6                 MS. WEINGARTEN: I guess what I'm

          7  saying is that I have seen small schools work and

          8  not work. I've seen big schools work and not work.

          9  And I believe that we should not be foisting one

         10  specific structure of schools as if that was the

         11  panacea. And the union actually has been a big

         12  believer in small schools, you know, way back when

         13  Debbie Myer was in the school system, and Beth Leap

         14  (phonetic) was running New Visions and we were

         15  starting the first set of small schools.

         16                 One can't be there at the expense of

         17  the other. We need to be able to help create and

         18  maintain good big schools and small schools.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Has DOE

         20  started to address some of those conflicts that you

         21  identified, such as the schools where they painted

         22  the small school area and they didn't take care of

         23  the other parts of the school?

         24                 MS. WEINGARTEN: I think that some of

         25  these issues are -- the answer in terms of Columbus
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          2  is yes. The answer in terms of Walton is not yes.

          3  The answer in terms of some of the other schools is

          4  yes. I think that Michelle Cahill very much wants

          5  to, I think Bob Hughes very much wants to. I think

          6  that some of it is a budget issue, and I think that

          7  some of it is internally an issue about how the

          8  policy -- is the policy more important than fixing

          9  the consequences or the foreseeable consequences of

         10  the policy.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay. So, on

         12  the high school level especially, I agree with you

         13  that having the diversity of opportunities work. Do

         14  you know any high schools that have been split

         15  successfully in your opinion?

         16                 MS. WEINGARTEN: Yes, I do know some.

         17  In fact, one of the things that, you know, it's

         18  interesting, one of the things that I didn't talk

         19  about, first off, I do think that the Julia Richmond

         20  Complex was split up successfully, and I think that

         21  a lot of the schools in the Julia Richmond Complex

         22  are terrific schools.

         23                 And I think that in some ways some

         24  statistics that people have seen were statistics

         25  that were done around the time of the transition
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          2  from portfolio assessments which I think was a

          3  mistake that Commissioner Mills not allowing

          4  portfolio assessments was a mistake for schools that

          5  were prepared to do it, but you saw some data that

          6  was transitional data, and one should be looking at

          7  more current data.

          8                 At the same time, there's a lot of

          9  research out there that also says that small schools

         10  are not the panacea of everything that's good in the

         11  world. But I'll give you an example of a school, I

         12  mean take the Chancellor's high school district,

         13  which was done collaboratively with the UFT, we had

         14  redesigned eastern district which is now known as

         15  the Grand Street Campus, and we had help when we

         16  designed the George Washington High School, both of

         17  them were two of the lower-performing schools in the

         18  City, and at each site, and this is pre New Century,

         19  or at the same time as New Century, at each site

         20  there was created 4 -, 500-student schools that are

         21  now quite successful, but here you have the same

         22  kind of issue because the DOE has decided to reneg

         23  on their promise to those small schools because

         24  they're now, because of the population issues and

         25  whatnot, and closing too many other schools, they
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          2  are now admitting large number of over-the-counter

          3  admissions and as a result, some of the gains that

          4  staff had seen and made -- because when you're

          5  talking about high schools, particularly with ninth

          6  graders, you're talking about a four-year commitment

          7  to these kids, so some of the gains we've seen have

          8  been eroded, you know?

          9                 But we can point to lots of small

         10  schools in the City that have worked in terms of

         11  this, and we want them to work.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay.

         13                 MS. WEINGARTEN: We can also point to

         14  some that haven't.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And correct me

         16  if I'm wrong, but the projections on high school

         17  students are only going to increase over the next

         18  few years, but there's numbers for high school

         19  students?

         20                 MS. WEINGARTEN: Well, we know that

         21  the numbers are certainly going to increase in the

         22  Bronx.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And in Queens,

         24  I believe.

         25                 MS. WEINGARTEN: And in Queens to a
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          2  certain extent. The Bronx, in particular. These

          3  numbers, you know, you'll best get them from the

          4  Board of Education, but from what the -- I hate to

          5  say this, the problems for this year were not only

          6  foreseeable on overcrowding, we talked to the Board

          7  of Ed about it, nobody listened to us, because I

          8  guess it's in Vogue not to listen to us these days,

          9  but it was pretty foreseeable what would happen this

         10  year.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And how many

         12  are projected for next year, do you know? Or in the

         13  plan for next year?

         14                 MS. WEINGARTEN: Wait. For the 2004-05

         15  year or --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: September of

         17  '04.

         18                 MS. WEINGARTEN: It's 60, right? These

         19  guys will know better.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Yes. I know

         21  that's more of a Board of Ed question.

         22                 MS. WEINGARTEN: Sixty for 2004-05. I

         23  don't know how many for '05-'06.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay.

         25                 MS. WEINGARTEN: Sixty that are being

                                                            118

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  planned right now for 2004-05.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: My real

          4  question is really not the numbers. But you talked

          5  earlier about time for training, to set up the

          6  school for the curriculum, we didn't give a

          7  recommended time on what you think that would be.

          8  And you talked about the need to pull teachers, if

          9  they're in an actual building; what do you think

         10  would be an ideal time for a set-up?

         11                 MS. WEINGARTEN: In other cities, and

         12  other environments that do this, the founders of the

         13  school, meaning the leader or leaders, the outside

         14  participants, but the leaders and the school

         15  teachers that are part of it, spend an entire year

         16  planning for a new school. They don't spend an

         17  entire year during two jobs. Meaning there are

         18  current jobs and then their next job, they spend an

         19  entire year working together and planning. You know,

         20  when you want to do this right, that's the

         21  commitment of resources that it takes on the

         22  operating side.

         23                 On the capital side, if you want to

         24  do it right, it takes really having real capital

         25  planning, which means much more robust leasing and
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          2  capital expenditures to make this work.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Well, I want

          4  to ask you about the capital plans, those are DOE

          5  questions. You also talked about over-the-counter

          6  admissions during the year as a real problem to

          7  maintain the continuity and actually the purpose of

          8  the small school, do you have a suggestion on where

          9  you would put those over-counter admissions?

         10                 MS. WEINGARTEN: Well, what the Board

         11  of Ed or the DOE has come up with is this concept of

         12  transitional centers. I don't, as I sit here right

         13  now, can tell you, I don't have a master plan in

         14  front of me, so I can't say this school has space,

         15  this school has space --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Right.

         17                 MS. WEINGARTEN: And, frankly, I'm

         18  leery to do it. There are some places that have

         19  space, so if you have a wing, for example, for an

         20  under-utilized junior high school, that might be a

         21  good place to put a transitional center. But I'm

         22  leery about raising that because then all of a

         23  sudden somebody is going to say, okay, this is a

         24  great policy and not think about the consequences.

         25  You usually have to think through where there is a
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          2  space in the geographical catchment area, maybe this

          3  is where robust policing is necessary, and have some

          4  transitional centers.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And we've been

          6  talking about small schools, but she also talked

          7  about large schools. And just as my final question,

          8  has DOE come up with a plan to enhance those type of

          9  environments while we're talking about doing both.

         10  Because as you said in the beginning, some children

         11  like large schools. I went to Jamaica High School

         12  myself, I attended there, and that was a large

         13  school with multiple opportunities back when I went

         14  to school three years ago.

         15                 MS. WEINGARTEN: I thought it was two.

         16                 If there is a plan, other than really

         17  boosting technical career and education which we

         18  truly and completely concur with, we need to have

         19  many, many more robust technical vocational career

         20  opportunities. It's one of the reasons why we were

         21  concerned about the auto shop at JFK, but if there

         22  is a plan, they have not to enhance large schools,

         23  or create more resources and more opportunities for

         24  kids in large schools, I do not know what that plan

         25  is.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: But you did

          3  congratulate Michel Cahill and compliment her, do

          4  you think there's a better opportunity for

          5  discussion and debate on setting these schools up in

          6  the next year?

          7                 MS. WEINGARTEN: I think the whole

          8  notion of effective collaboration and effective

          9  involvement, with all the participants in school

         10  enterprise, does not get done well by this

         11  administration.

         12                 I congratulated Michele, because I

         13  know she tries, and she tries real hard, and I think

         14  that she is a real light, and I just don't want her

         15  -- oh, I've said enough.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: I understand.

         17  All right.

         18                 Thank you. Thank you, Madam Chair.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Council Member

         20  Recchia, and Koppell, if he's still here.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Yes, Ms.

         22  Weingarten, I have two schools in my district,

         23  Lincoln and Lafayette, it's always in the papers

         24  and, you know, we're working very hard on correcting

         25  them. But if you were to break up schools into
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          2  buildings, when they say small schools, it's still

          3  one building, and I've done some heavy research on

          4  this, in buildings that are making each floor, and I

          5  agree with the UFT's position, it's causing

          6  decisiveness. But more important, when they break it

          7  up, are they spending more money when they break it

          8  up into small schools than what they'd rather give?

          9  Because I'm having this -- I have not gotten numbers

         10  from the small schools on how much, like let's say

         11  for example they give Lafayette $2 million next year

         12  for the whole school year, or a million dollars,

         13  okay? The smallest schools, I can't determine if

         14  they're getting more of that money, but it seems to

         15  me if they are; do you know if the numbers are any

         16  more than what they would have gotten?

         17                 MS. WEINGARTEN: It's not that simple.

         18                 That question will not be -- you

         19  can't answer that question with a simple yes or no

         20  answer, because in terms of the creation of a

         21  school, on a per capita basis, assuming that the

         22  cost of a principal is the same, whether somebody

         23  has seniority versus not, or the cost of the teacher

         24  is the same, whether somebody has 20 years of

         25  service versus one year of service, assume that the
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          2  allocation is equal, that's one unit, what ends up

          3  happening is that a school itself, in some ways

          4  because the CFA a long time ago won an arbitration

          5  that said, if you are going to create a school, you

          6  cannot create it anymore with program directors. You

          7  have to create it with a principal. And then

          8  ultimately what happens is that principals want to

          9  have assistant principals attached to them. So that

         10  what happens is that when you create small schools

         11  within a building, ultimately what you see in terms

         12  of the operational side, the human resource side, is

         13  regardless of the size of the school, you'll end up

         14  having at least one, two or three administrators in

         15  that school, so you'll have in a school maybe five

         16  principals or four principals and then a building

         17  principal. So when you look at those kind of costs,

         18  that's a lot of costing.

         19                 Now, at the same time, a small school

         20  will argue that there are things that it doesn't do,

         21  and there is, and we see, frankly, some of the

         22  secretaries and the guidance counselors complain

         23  because in a small school sometimes, a secretary

         24  ends up having to do 27 different tasks rather than

         25  four or five different tasks. A guidance counselor
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          2  may have the responsibility for all the kids because

          3  there are all these ratios, as opposed to have, you

          4  know, 400 kids, a guidance counselor may have more

          5  than that or responsible for all of the kids'

          6  issues.

          7                 So, I think the small schools try to

          8  make some of this up through cutting some of the

          9  direct services, staff that do direct services for

         10  kids, but naturally you're going to see more kind of

         11  costs there.

         12                 And then in terms of buildings, you

         13  heard what I said in terms of there has to be space,

         14  you know, there has to be some organizational space,

         15  in terms of this school has this building and this

         16  file cabinet and this stuff and this school has that

         17  one, so it takes up that kind of space.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Yes, because

         19  when I was on the school board, we created the

         20  studio school in Brooklyn, as you know it's a small

         21  school, and I think that's what we really need to

         22  do. I don't think the way it is, is dividing up big

         23  buildings into smaller schools; what I think we have

         24  to do is try to find the money and move into other

         25  buildings or create it somehow. But I just want to
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          2  thank you for your remarks, and thank Michele Cahill

          3  for everything she's doing. I know she's trying.

          4  Because I have two of the biggest problems in New

          5  York City, Lincoln and Lafayette, but we're working

          6  on it.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I know that,

          9  Randi, you're under a tight time frame and I

         10  promised your staff that we would try and get you

         11  out of here at a reasonable time.

         12                 I don't know if there are a few more

         13  quick questions? I know Council Member Koppell had a

         14  question and Council Member Yassky.

         15                 Do you have a little more time?

         16                 MS. WEINGARTEN: Yes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: All right.

         18  Council Member Koppell.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Thank you.

         20                 MS. WEINGARTEN: For Councilman

         21  Koppell and Yassky, how could I say no?

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Thank you.

         23                 Looking at the problems, and every

         24  one of the problems you identify I think are

         25  absolutely correctly identified, Michele Cahill
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          2  testified, by the way, that they were opening 70 new

          3  small schools, 7-0, in September, and that the goal

          4  was to open 200. I don't know exactly whether all of

          5  those are for one year from now or more than that,

          6  but are we moving too quickly here? Are we moving,

          7  given these problems?

          8                 MS. WEINGARTEN: I think, yes. But I

          9  don't want that to be misconstrued as not supporting

         10  small schools. I think that if we don't see the

         11  foreseeable consequences and help kids who either

         12  want or are going to qualify or quality large

         13  schools, what we're ending up doing is driving a

         14  policy in one direction, clearly in one direction,

         15  because of the philanthropy money and all sorts of

         16  other, and because of a sense of small is better,

         17  and not thinking about the repercussions or the

         18  consequences to all kids. And we've seen then here

         19  this year, and I don't -- because I guess I'm

         20  saying, and where I think I disagree with the Mayor

         21  is the Mayor, if he was testifying, would say small

         22  is necessarily better all the time. And that's where

         23  the point of departure is between me and the Mayor

         24  on this issue, because I've seen good large schools

         25  work, I've seen good small schools work, and I
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          2  wouldn't want the drive to do this to be things like

          3  avoidance of No Child Left Behind requirements, or,

          4  you know, if you start something new you don't have

          5  to deal with AYP and this kind of issue. It's really

          6  a matter of we have to make sure that every -- we've

          7  got to put ourselves, we're under a lot of pressure,

          8  we've got to put ourselves under more pressure to

          9  figure out how to help every single child. And I

         10  haven't been convinced by any of the research that

         11  I've seen that we should have only a network of

         12  small, well-functioning schools, and that's really

         13  the point of departure here.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Were you here

         15  when I indicated my concern to Ms. Cahill about

         16  creating more schools that are reserved for

         17  academically high-performing kids? Did you hear my

         18  question on that?

         19                 MS. WEINGARTEN: I heard a little bit

         20  of it.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well, let me

         22  just ask you, is my concern legitimate, that is that

         23  if we create small schools, as was announced in the

         24  newspaper the other day, for those who meet high

         25  academic standards, they will be leaving, we'll be
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          2  having a whole series of schools just for the

          3  not-so-high-achieving students, they'll be

          4  stigmatized, they won't be stimulated, they will

          5  view themselves as somehow being second class, as

          6  opposed to including in large schools, if you will,

          7  or more general schools, courses for those and

          8  programs for those who can achieve higher academic

          9  levels. That's my concern, is that a legitimate

         10  concern or not?

         11                 MS. WEINGARTEN: No. Let me say this:

         12  Any concern that a Councilman or a woman raises is a

         13  legitimate concern.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: No, but from

         15  an educational point of view?

         16                 MS. WEINGARTEN: You're raising an

         17  issue which in elementary schools always being

         18  raised as heterogenous versus homogenous grouping.

         19  Let me raise it that way.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: But not in

         21  classes, but in school.

         22                 MS. WEINGARTEN: But what I'm saying

         23  is this: There is always an issue. This issue we can

         24  talk about for hours. You're pitting the issue of

         25  choice. We have the largest choice system right now
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          2  for high school students in the nation, but you're

          3  pitting the issue of choice, versus quality, versus

          4  small, versus big.

          5                 We, I think, make mistakes when

          6  everything is kind of looked at as the statistics of

          7  the school and the school lives or dies by its

          8  statistics because then people look at selection

          9  processes very, very carefully and whether a school

         10  is cleaning or not cleaning, I would prefer to think

         11  about it this way, that if we can make a variety of

         12  choices for kids, and large schools are not viewed

         13  as negative and small schools are not viewed as

         14  exclusively positive, and we can figure out those

         15  choices, then ultimately you try to figure out how

         16  you have high quality settings for every single

         17  child, but I don't think the intent was, certainly

         18  not of the law school proponents. Their intent was

         19  never to have simply gifted and talented programs as

         20  small schools, and let the rest of the school system

         21  shrivel. I don't think it was their intent, and I

         22  believe then, and when you look at some of the small

         23  schools, you do not see the cleaning that people

         24  believe happens.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: No, but I
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          2  agree that in many of the small schools today that's

          3  not the case. But the Chancellor said he wants to

          4  open more mini Bronx High Schools of Science --

          5                 MS. WEINGARTEN: Right.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: And as much

          7  as I like the Bronx High School of Science, I don't

          8  know if I want to create two dozen more of them,

          9  because ultimately it's going to have an impact.

         10                 MS. WEINGARTEN: I haven't, again,

         11  this is going to sound silly, and I don't intend it

         12  that way, and I also don't intend to be disparaging

         13  about it; the Chancellor does not, when he makes a

         14  public pronouncement, it is the rare times that we

         15  get briefed for that pronouncement. So, I will tell

         16  you, I know nothing about the parameters of what he

         17  is discussing with respect to, quote, mini Bronx

         18  Schools of Science, High Schools of Science,

         19  unquote.

         20                 What I do know is that we have pushed

         21  very hard to increase the choices for vocational and

         22  career and technical opportunities, because there's

         23  lots and lots and lots of really good jobs out there

         24  for kids who want to go in those directions. But I

         25  don't know enough then to answer your question.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Council Member

          3  Yassky.

          4                 I'm sorry. Council Member Jackson, if

          5  you'd like to vote on 261-A. If I could ask if you

          6  could call the roll, that would be great.

          7                 PARTICIPANT: Council Member Jackson.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Aye.

          9                 PARTICIPANT: The vote stands at nine

         10  in the affirmative, zero in the negative, and no

         11  abstentions.

         12                 Thank you.

         13                 Council Member Yassky.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you,

         15  Chair Moskowitz.

         16                 President Weingarten, I just want you

         17  to know that the Chair is working very, very hard to

         18  keep you to your schedule, so I'm going to try and

         19  help too.

         20                 I just want to say --

         21                 MS. WEINGARTEN: We just have a very,

         22  unfortunately, very major delegate assembly this

         23  afternoon that was scheduled because of something

         24  that's come up. So, I really appreciate all of you

         25  --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: No elaboration

          3  necessary. You've got a lot to do, and I want you to

          4  be able to do it.

          5                 I just want to say, I thought that

          6  the tone and the content of your testimony really

          7  hit it exactly on the head, and when I was listening

          8  to it, I was thinking of Murrow High School in

          9  Brooklyn. A large, not a giant, you know, not

         10  notably giant for New York City, but certainly a

         11  large school, and terrific one, which this year has

         12  had some real troubles.

         13                 MS. WEINGARTEN: Right, that's true.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: And not

         15  because it's large, but because there were some

         16  changes made in the selection criteria and just some

         17  issues were let slip in all the stuff going on.

         18                 MS. WEINGARTEN: Right. The

         19  deflections in particular.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: And we've

         21  worked very hard, and the Department has been very

         22  responsive with one's issues brought to their

         23  attention in trying to work with us to correct it so

         24  that next year it will be back to its usual level of

         25  excellence, but if anyone ever in the school felt
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          2  that there was a real change this year, the point

          3  being --

          4                 MS. WEINGARTEN: Well, we saw it as

          5  well, David, in Madison, Murrow, Midwood and Fort

          6  Hamilton, all the schools that people always say,

          7  okay, these are the great Brooklyn high schools, you

          8  know?

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: And we could

         10  talk about some of the small schools that have not

         11  -- as you said, big can be great, small can be

         12  great, small can be not so great, the point of it

         13  being, the real trick is to nurture the institutions

         14  that we have, it is so much harder to create, each

         15  one of our schools, to create from scratch and take

         16  something to excellence, is a challenge of such

         17  greater magnitude than taking something that's

         18  there, and nurturing it to excellence, that my only

         19  fear, and, again, I applaud the energy behind the

         20  small schools idea, I just don't want to distract

         21  from the focus which has to be on the quality of the

         22  instruction, the quality of the leadership in the

         23  school, in the institutions that we have. And, so, I

         24  thought your testimony here hit the nail right on

         25  the head, I just wanted to say that.
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          2                 Thank you, Chair Moskowitz.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Thank you

          4  very, very much, Randi Weingarten, for your

          5  thoughtful testimony, it's very much appreciated.

          6  I'm sorry we're rushed, but we've got a number of

          7  other people. We're going to come back to this topic

          8  and so we look forward to having ongoing discussions

          9  with you.

         10                 MS. WEINGARTEN: Thank you.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Thank you

         12  very much.

         13                 We're now going to hear from Bob

         14  Hughes, Marla Ucelli, Reggi Landeau and John Falco.

         15                 I know that it's much more

         16  comfortable to read from your testimony, and I'm

         17  sure you put a lot of thought and work into it,

         18  partly in the interest of time and partly because

         19  it's helpful when you respond to either the

         20  questions that have been asked or the comments that

         21  have already been made, all of you are beyond expert

         22  in this topic, and I would just urge you to try and

         23  get to what you view as the heart of the matter,

         24  that would be very much appreciated by the

         25  Committee, if that were possible.
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          2                 Why don't we start in the order that

          3  I called you, if we could begin with Bob Hughes, the

          4  President of New Visions for Public Schools, we're

          5  delighted that you're here, and certainly understand

          6  your enormous role your organization has

          7  historically played in the small schools movement,

          8  and is current playing, we look forward to hearing

          9  what you have to say.

         10                 Thank you.

         11                 MR. HUGHES: Thank you, Councilwoman.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: The light has

         13  to be off, yes.

         14                 MR. HUGHES: Here we go. Yes.

         15                 Thank you, Chairperson Moskowitz and

         16  members of the Education Committee. Thank you for

         17  the opportunity to talk and I will try to summarize

         18  to the written comments I have put in so that I can

         19  talk in more detail about the specifics.

         20                 Let me start with a story, because I

         21  do think it's important to always put the student at

         22  the center of the work we're doing here.

         23                 During a recent visit to Marble Hill

         24  School for International Studies, a small college

         25  preparatory school in a high school campus, we had a
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          2  tenth grade student who had recently arrived from an

          3  African Country. She showed us portfolios,

          4  summarizing her work for the last two years, the

          5  first two years of Marble Hill's existence. She was

          6  especially proud of her success in advancing from

          7  English-as-a-second-language academic classes to

          8  English dominant academic classes.

          9                 She went on to tell us that she had

         10  been nominated by teachers at Marble Hill to

         11  participate in Buildings With Books. This is an

         12  international organization which partners with US

         13  high schools to send students to developing

         14  countries. It's extraordinary to see a young person

         15  so quickly achieve high academic levels in a small

         16  school, and also to understand the responsibilities

         17  of citizenship.

         18                 Similarly, you can consider a young

         19  man from Bronx Aerospace Academy, concerned as a

         20  middle school student that he would ultimately join

         21  a gang, he applied to the Air Force ROTC school

         22  because of its focus on math and science. But more

         23  importantly, he felt that the structure of the

         24  school, all students wear uniforms, they're small,

         25  and they participate in a variety of math and
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          2  science activities, would provide him with the

          3  support he needs.

          4                 Summing up his first year he was

          5  positive. This school has taught me to respect

          6  myself and to respect my fellow classmates. I think

          7  those students are not unique but the schools are,

          8  because those schools have grown in places where we

          9  haven't allowed parents and students to have a

         10  diversity of choices. We haven't had schools and

         11  teachers willing to commit themselves to high

         12  academic standards, and we haven't systematically

         13  supported those efforts, either as outside

         14  organizations or as the Department of Education.

         15                 So, I think I start with the premise

         16  that New Century High Schools is really about the

         17  systemic creation of our system of small schools

         18  that will be effective for all young people.

         19                 Does that mean every large school has

         20  to be broken down into small schools? Absolutely

         21  not.

         22                 I think that the research does show,

         23  and the Department talked about it today, that for

         24  low-income kids in underserved neighborhoods, the

         25  large high school that was created for a different
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          2  era in a different time doesn't work, and we have to

          3  start to create that difficult bumpy process of

          4  creating schools that do work, that do address your

          5  academic needs, that do address the academic needs

          6  of their communities, and enable us to hold them,

          7  the teachers, principals, and the communities

          8  accountable for getting these kids through schools,

          9  for getting them to college, or getting them into a

         10  good job.

         11                 Let me tell you just briefly, as some

         12  of you know I worked on the Campaign for Fiscal

         13  Equity case for seven years as a lawyer. At the time

         14  that case was filed, we put in extensive testimony

         15  about how difficult it was to create strong, urban

         16  academic high schools. And in New York City, as the

         17  testimony describes, and I think the Department

         18  forthrightly commented on, we have an incredible

         19  record of failure that's concentrates in certain

         20  schools, in certain communities across New York

         21  City.

         22                 There are schools in this City, many

         23  of whom are participating in the initiative, who

         24  prior to New Century were graduating 30 and 40

         25  percent of young people who entered. There were
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          2  schools with 6- or 700 young people who didn't

          3  progress past the ninth grade, and would then sit

          4  and wait and wait and wait for something to happen,

          5  only to ultimately drop out, only to enter a GED

          6  program, only to ultimately become a part of 250,000

          7  students who had dropped out from New York City

          8  public schools since 1986.

          9                 CUNY has talked about it, 80 percent,

         10  the young people who enter CUNY, many coming from

         11  these schools had to get remediation in some form.

         12  And employers in New York City have talked about

         13  that crisis.

         14                 The New York City Partnership found

         15  that 73 percent of New York City's employers lack

         16  the skills they needed to succeed, and that the

         17  general diploma that we were handing every young

         18  person, not only is the Court of Appeals right in

         19  saying that an eighth grade education isn't enough,

         20  but employers in New York City were saying these

         21  diplomas don't mean anything and we have to retrain

         22  these people.

         23                 So, our education system was failing

         24  to provide young people with skills and ultimately

         25  undercutting the economic structure and strength and
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          2  vibrancy of what exists in New York.

          3                 What did we try to do? Confronted

          4  with its history of failure, confronted with a

          5  strong desire to change the opportunity for young

          6  people, we have worked with a variety of groups,

          7  beginning with the Department of Education, but,

          8  frankly, quite proudly with the United Federation of

          9  Teachers and the Council of Supervisors and

         10  Administrators, to create a process that wouldn't

         11  side step the challenges, but squarely address the

         12  challenges that existed in underserved neighborhoods

         13  and underserved schools.

         14                 We were able to raise $30 million

         15  three years ago, from the Carnegie, Gates and Open

         16  Society foundations. That has been supplemented with

         17  a $59 million grant that most of us have read about

         18  over the summer from the Gates Foundation.

         19                 What we did was I think unique. We

         20  created the process that did three things: First, we

         21  built on the experiences of small schools in New

         22  York City and across the country, and I appreciate

         23  your comments, Councilwoman Moskowitz, about the

         24  difficulties some of our small schools have

         25  experienced.
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          2                 What we did was we took what research

          3  showed was effective, and there are ten design

          4  principles and some descriptions of them attached to

          5  my testimony, and we encouraged every small school

          6  creator to design schools that met those criteria.

          7                 The second thing we did was we

          8  encouraged community partners to get actively

          9  involved in their schools.

         10                 We're not asking partners to provide

         11  a service, we're not asking them to cut off one

         12  piece of the student population that can be

         13  successful. Again, responding to Council Member

         14  Koppell, we're asking them to take responsibility

         15  for every young person in that school, so every

         16  young person can succeed and ultimately meet the

         17  academic standards that we want all kids to achieve.

         18                 So, partners, and there are a variety

         19  of them in the room, ranging from Air Force ROTC, to

         20  the Brooklyn Botanical Garden, to a hundred black

         21  men, a wide array, 75 organizations, universities,

         22  community groups, external partners in a variety of

         23  forums have stepped to the plate and said we're

         24  willing to commit to work with the Department of

         25  Education to create something radically different
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          2  for our young people, and the enthusiasm and the

          3  resources they bring. Just think about the youth

          4  development expertise that so many of these groups

          5  have, and in a prior regime they were, if you were a

          6  youth developer, you waited for a school to fail,

          7  and then you provided your expertise.

          8                 What we have done in New Century is

          9  invite those people to come into school and prevent

         10  failure in the first instance, and support those

         11  young people to get the standards. So, we think in

         12  the long term we're creating a radically different

         13  version of secondary education.

         14                 And, finally, and you've heard a

         15  number of pieces of testimony today, we have pushed

         16  very hard for a systemic approach to the problem.

         17                 In the past you could create one or

         18  two small schools, it rode on the shoulders on

         19  extraordinarily innovative educators, groups of

         20  educators, but you never systematically supported

         21  those people and ensured that they had the tools

         22  they needed to succeed.

         23                 So, when I was lucky enough to take

         24  Beth Leif's (phonetic) at New Visions for Public

         25  Schools, we were fighting the small school battle,

                                                            143

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  but so much of it was back action, so much of it was

          3  fighting a community school district about a math

          4  teacher, or pushing to get certain types of space,

          5  or struggling with the fact that we didn't

          6  systematically train our school leaders. So much of

          7  it was the Department didn't understand the budget

          8  implications of how a small school worked or how it

          9  was different. And tragically, some of the schools

         10  that we created are continuing the struggle with

         11  those problems, even in this extraordinarily

         12  exciting era of large schools.

         13                 But we've learned things. One

         14  question that came up from Bill DeBlasio, we

         15  geographically have clumped these schools. We've

         16  tried to create a critical mass of small schools so

         17  that they can support one another organically, grow

         18  and learn from one another. None of these schools

         19  exist in the isolation that we sometimes put small

         20  schools in, they're all working together to try to

         21  learn from one another and meet higher academic

         22  achievement levels.

         23                 Space is an enormous struggle. If you

         24  look at the history of New York City's capital

         25  budget, it is a history of neglect, it is a history
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          2  of underfunding, it is a history of short change. We

          3  all agree in that. And it's been, to some extent, a

          4  history of resources squandered.

          5                 What we tried to do in the New

          6  Century Initiative, is work and push the School

          7  Construction Authority, the Department of Education,

          8  and ourselves, to create new plans to create

          9  campuses that are smart, that are effective.

         10                 In fact, we've actually created

         11  campus plans for 14 of these schools, working in

         12  collaboration with educators in the building, the

         13  Department of Education, the United Federation of

         14  Teachers.

         15                 They're very tentative, a lot of work

         16  needs to be done, a lot more voices need to be

         17  heard, but we are starting to systematically look at

         18  the space more effectively.

         19                 In terms of resources, there was some

         20  confusion about the nature of the new Century Grant.

         21  $400,000 is granted to these schools, roughly

         22  $100,000 a year goes to the schools. That is not a

         23  significant amount of money when you look at the

         24  overall budget for these schools, but they are

         25  marginal dollars, they are flexible dollars, and
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          2  they enable educators to take the steps that they

          3  need and know they need to create better

          4  environments for young people.

          5                 What we've pushed for, and just to

          6  play it out a little bit, in the first year of the

          7  thousand dollars per pupil, $100,000, 100 students,

          8  by the fourth year you have a school of 400. You've

          9  got substantially fewer resources per capita. That

         10  up front cost is necessary because the first couple

         11  of years of school is really trying to define its

         12  vision, define its culture, and build a

         13  collaborative learning community.

         14                 Let me close by just saying this.

         15  There have certainly been problems. I take a

         16  slightly different view from President Weingarten in

         17  saying I don't think they were catastrophic but they

         18  created real dilemmas for people on the field. We

         19  worked very hard to be proactive moving forward.

         20  There will be resources this year for large schools,

         21  as well as small schools, largely through the work

         22  of Michele Cahill and the advocacy she has brought

         23  to bear on the question.

         24                 There will be a much greater

         25  collaboration. We talk about the difficult schools,
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          2  but if you look at Bushwick, for example, a school

          3  that was only graduating about 35 percent of the

          4  young people. There are a number of schools there,

          5  they're working in a campus council, the large

          6  school that's phasing out and the small schools, are

          7  working to ensure every young person isn't

          8  forgotten.

          9                 I know you have Shael Suransky coming

         10  from Morris High School. Morris High School, one of

         11  the greatest high schools in New York City is now a

         12  campus of small schools. I think it's an

         13  extraordinarily effective place. If you had gone

         14  there three or four years ago, you would have seen a

         15  school that was sinking, you now see a school that's

         16  rising, and it's an extraordinary place.

         17                 But let me end with this, I agree

         18  with the concerns about comprehensive planning. We

         19  have to comprehensively plan. We have to ensure that

         20  every school is ultimately effective.

         21                 But remember, too, that there's an

         22  extraordinary demand for these schools in the very

         23  neighborhoods we're talking about.

         24                 This past year, in February, one of

         25  the coldest days of the year, 8,000 families came
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          2  out to apply for a New Century high school. The

          3  application process is just show some interest in

          4  this school and you can get in. It's not a screened

          5  program, but 8,000, overall 15,000 parents expressed

          6  interest in only 3,000 seats.

          7                 The parents of this City want

          8  effective education. We think that small makes an

          9  enormous amount of sense in schools that have

         10  traditionally not been able, even through extensive

         11  nurturing, to change fundamental relationships,

         12  between teachers, students,, curriculum and

         13  community.

         14                 So, we're going to push very hard to

         15  do that, and with your support we will do that

         16  successfully in the next three and four years.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you very

         18  much.

         19                 Reggi Landeau. Oh, I'm sorry, Marla

         20  Ucelli. I apologize.

         21                 And, again, if I can just urge you to

         22  -- we will read your testimony, if I can just urge

         23  you to enter the conversation, you have a lot of

         24  expertise, that would be helpful.

         25                 MS. UCELLI: Absolutely.
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          2                 Chairwoman Moskowitz, members of the

          3  Committee, my name is Marla Ucelli, and I direct

          4  District Redesign for the Annenberg Institute for

          5  School Reform. Thank you for this opportunity.

          6                 The Annenberg Institute is a

          7  non-partisan, non-profit organization affiliated

          8  with Brown University that works across the country.

          9  I'm going to try and bring a little bit of a

         10  national perspective very briefly to our

         11  conversations this afternoon.

         12                 The Institute has witnessed efforts

         13  to create small schools in Boston, Chicago and the

         14  Bay area, and New York City, under the umbrella of

         15  the Annenberg Challenge for which we provided

         16  coordination and some networking support.

         17                 Currently we provide technical

         18  assistance to several districts that are trying to

         19  transform their high schools under these schools for

         20  a new society initiative of the Carnegie

         21  Corporation, and we work with districts and their

         22  local partners around the country to improve central

         23  office supports for schools.

         24                 As we've heard today, small schools

         25  aren't a new idea and they're not new in practice,
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          2  but the current scope and scale of efforts to create

          3  them really is.

          4                 I want to draw on some activities

          5  that our Institute has been involved in on some

          6  earlier efforts and a little bit of relevant

          7  research and share five lessons with you, and I

          8  think some of them address the questions and issues

          9  that have already been raised today.

         10                 Lesson one. What we know about

         11  student engagement and achievement from small

         12  schools shows great promise. There is a small but

         13  growing body of research and the rolls and material

         14  are attached to my written testimony, that indicate

         15  that smaller schools have higher student attendance

         16  and graduation rates, retain fewer students in

         17  grade, and have fewer disciplinary problems, when

         18  compared with large schools serving students with

         19  similar backgrounds.

         20                 This is compelling evidence that

         21  small schools can do a better job of fostering

         22  student engagement and persistence.

         23                 The achievement advantage for small

         24  schools is a bit more modest, but even small

         25  positive gains for students in small schools, when
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          2  compared to their traditional school counterparts,

          3  is a notable accomplishment, given the start-up

          4  status, the relative youth of many of these schools,

          5  the gains are being achieved in the context of

          6  struggle to get new facilities, to recruit faculty

          7  and the like.

          8                 Until a few years ago, we mostly knew

          9  what happened with schools at the elementary level.

         10  More recently we've learned something about what

         11  happens with small high schools. And one particular

         12  important study in Chicago yielded findings about

         13  high school students there. In the small schools

         14  they were dropping out less, finishing more courses

         15  and getting higher grades.

         16                 Lesson number two, and I think we've

         17  heard this from Randi Weingarten and others, so I'll

         18  be quick about it.

         19                 Small schools are a means to an end.

         20  They're not an end in itself. Their size and

         21  structure create enormous possibility for

         22  collaboration among teachers, for shared leadership,

         23  for community engagement, for personalized

         24  environments for students, and for coherent learning

         25  experiences within and beyond the walls of the
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          2  school. But, of course, the end is a good, academic,

          3  rigorous welcoming effective school.

          4                 Lesson three. The devil is in the

          5  doing. There is a tendency in education reform

          6  efforts to focus excessively on what and not enough

          7  on the how. And it's very tempting to mask the

          8  complexity involved in implementing small schools by

          9  focusing more on the form of the strategy, the

         10  principals behind it, then the means of achieving

         11  it.

         12                 What we've learned is no matter how

         13  good a design, it's not likely to succeed without

         14  attention to the guidance and support needed for

         15  really putting it into place.

         16                 And the group who makes decisions on

         17  how that will happen, really needs to involve a

         18  diverse set of stakeholders in those conversations.

         19                 Our fourth lesson is that the

         20  district matters. I think that's a theme we heard in

         21  here today as well. And small schools, like all

         22  schools, need an infrastructure of support.

         23                 Districts, local and national funders

         24  and organizations like the Annenberg Institute must

         25  pay close attention to the infrastructure needed to
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          2  support change across a whole community or a whole

          3  City of schools.

          4                 That means looking at how Central

          5  Office, Central Board policies and structures need

          6  to change to ensure the effectiveness of small

          7  schools.

          8                 District redesign is actually needed

          9  to better support all schools, small or otherwise,

         10  but the development of new small schools, gives us

         11  the opportunity to think through what their specific

         12  support needs are and really to design a system that

         13  allows for differences in school size, structure,

         14  composition.

         15                 This is in stark contrast to the

         16  current design of most school systems. They allow

         17  for a lot of variation and achievement, but little

         18  variation in really anything else.

         19                 The fifth and last lesson is that

         20  sustained progress will require true partnerships

         21  and support that is political, as well as technical.

         22                 Frankly, creating small schools as

         23  hard as it may be, is the easy part. It's developing

         24  them into models of what public education could be

         25  that will be the most formidable challenge. That's
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          2  going to require ongoing communication, sustained

          3  collaboration among new partners and some long-time

          4  ones, including, of course, the Department of

          5  Education, schools themselves, unions, external

          6  funders, parents and families and local and

          7  community-based organizations.

          8                 It's going to require the political

          9  support and public will to make substantive changes

         10  in the contracts, laws and traditions that constrain

         11  innovation and choice in public education now. And

         12  it will require a strong resolve among educators and

         13  public leaders to openly discuss real issues, like

         14  ones that are being discussed today, as well as

         15  issues of race, class, equity and access, so that

         16  disadvantaged and middle-class families are

         17  confident that all schools serve all children well.

         18                 So, I would just say in concluding

         19  that developing small schools isn't a strategy

         20  that's exclusive to the politically liberal, any

         21  more than choice is one that's exclusive to the

         22  politically conservative.

         23                 Small schools exist in public and

         24  private systems, they teach standard curricula, they

         25  teach alternative curricula, they employ teachers
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          2  whose pedagogy ranges from traditional to avant

          3  garde. They're neither, the reform flavor of the

          4  month, if you will, nor the single answer to

          5  overcrowding, to low achievement, to disconnection.

          6  But a significant number of well-designed,

          7  efficiently supported, equitably attended, equitable

          8  staffed, community link small schools, can make up

          9  an important holding, if you will, in a smart school

         10  district's diverse portfolio of options, and those

         11  options are needed to meet family, student and city

         12  needs.

         13                 As envisioned here in New York and in

         14  a handful of other communities around the country,

         15  small schools can be a critical component of a more

         16  fundamental rethinking of the way we structure

         17  learning for young people and of the choices that

         18  families have.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you very

         20  much.

         21                 Reggie Landeau.

         22                 MR. LANDEAU: First I'd like to

         23  apologize for my partner John Falco who had to

         24  leave. He had an appointment in Jersey, and we

         25  thought we would be out of here by 12:00.
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          2                 Problematically for me in listening

          3  to everyone today is that I'm hearing mixed signals

          4  from different people, and I'd like to start by

          5  saying this to you, all right? If you always do what

          6  you've always done, you'll always get what you

          7  always got. And I think importantly for us is that

          8  we have to understand that building these 3,000,

          9  4,000, 2,000 sized schools for our youngsters has

         10  not worked. Many of us are looking at things at a

         11  level that I don't work on. We feel that talking

         12  about the high schools is to late. We have to start

         13  working to save our children a lot earlier.

         14                 We basically work with middle

         15  schools, and we work with middle schools almost

         16  around this entire City. Amongst the schools that we

         17  work with and that we began, CEI, we began in New

         18  York City the Kipp Academy in the Bronx, Frederick

         19  Douglas Academy in Manhattan. We did in District 4

         20  begin Central Park East with Debbie Meyer.

         21                 In District 20 every middle school

         22  has been restructured into smaller learning

         23  communities, and we call them smaller learning

         24  communities because it doesn't have to be a school,

         25  but it has to be a part of something bigger and
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          2  that's an ideal that all of our children can get a

          3  better education if we put them in the right places.

          4                 Twils. And most of you don't know

          5  what that is. The young women's leadership school is

          6  also ours. We began that, and I had lots of

          7  arguments at the Central Board of Education, about

          8  starting a single sexed school. Oddly enough, when I

          9  want to school in New York City, the high schools

         10  were single sexed. When I went to Stuyvesant High

         11  School, there were no girls there.

         12                 District 4, all of their schools were

         13  also restructured, and IS 99 became the complex at

         14  99 for five smaller schools, including an elementary

         15  bilingual school. Beginning with children in

         16  Brooklyn, if those of you from Brooklyn know about

         17  that, we ended up fighting with two Chancellors to

         18  try to get that off the ground and now that's a

         19  school that people want their children to go to. But

         20  you notice what I'm talking about, every one of

         21  those schools started before the high school level.

         22                 If you get them younger, you can do a

         23  better job. We work with sixth graders, seventh

         24  graders, eighth graders, in some places ninth

         25  graders, in some other places, fifth graders, we
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          2  work in five boroughs.

          3                 A major thing that we do is this. We

          4  say that no school or no one ideal about educating

          5  children is going to work for all children, and we

          6  try to match teaching styles with children learning.

          7  We think that's important. We get people that want

          8  to be there, that are stakeholders, in the

          9  operation, and we involve from day one the parents.

         10  If the parents in the community don't want that kind

         11  of school, it's not going to work.

         12                 You can have an idea to bring in a

         13  Bronx School of Science into an area, and we heard

         14  that today, and there are people saying we don't

         15  want it here. That's interesting to me, because I

         16  would like a Bronx High School of Science in some

         17  places. When Douglas went up in Harlem, there was

         18  not a high school in Harlem, other than the old

         19  music and art high school that was transferred down

         20  to LaGuardia. So there were none, and I'm not

         21  talking about George Washington in Washington

         22  Heights, because it doesn't serve the greater Harlem

         23  Community.

         24                 Importantly for us, if we're going to

         25  do something, we have to understand that we have to
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          2  try new and different things to give our youngsters

          3  the opportunities they need. There is no excuse,

          4  other than an excuse of complacency, for us not to

          5  educate all of our children to the best of their

          6  ability.

          7                 Randi was right, general high

          8  schools, or comprehensive high school educations,

          9  are not enough.  As we look at our skill areas for

         10  work people coming in, they're all coming from some

         11  other place.

         12                 We had a school in this City called

         13  Co-op Tech. Unfortunately only one, on 96th Street

         14  as you know. We wanted five more. We spoke to Joel

         15  Klein, he said "build ten more." We don't have them.

         16  Folks, we need you to get more. To get us skills for

         17  people that our youngsters can learn the building

         18  trades. We used to have a school for automotive

         19  trades. No more. Aviation doesn't teach aviation. It

         20  takes the kids that don't want to go to a local high

         21  school and can't get into the other school. Why not

         22  get a marriage with LaGuardia, with Kennedy, some of

         23  these other places to do things like this. Certainly

         24  in a computer industry everything does not have to

         25  go overseas. Can't we train our children to be
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          2  involved in this?

          3                 Work with us. We will give you a

          4  better education for your children and ours. Because

          5  they are all our children.

          6                 Thank you very much.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Again, there

          8  are more questions than there is time for. I want to

          9  start off with a brief comment.

         10                 I appreciate very much Marla Ucelli's

         11  comments, and one of the things that I would

         12  describe as the elephant in the room that you

         13  mentioned, but I think people are very reluctant to

         14  mention, and my colleagues I think sometimes wish I

         15  wouldn't mention, is the contracts, and that if

         16  we're really going to talk about systemic reforms,

         17  that has to be on the agenda. I don't think you can

         18  have that discussion. Now, exactly how we proceed

         19  and what are the appropriate changes, people have a

         20  lot of opinions about those, and we need to take all

         21  that into account, but I appreciate you mentioning

         22  it because I don't really see how you can talk about

         23  systemic reform and not mention that issue. It is a

         24  structural issue, it is an organizational issue, and

         25  it's my personal view that the current contracts are
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          2  impeding our ability to engage in systemic reform. I

          3  would also say, of course, that we need to improve

          4  dramatically the working conditions for teachers and

          5  ensure that this most important profession is

          6  adequately compensated and we don't do that either.

          7                 In terms of questions, I guess one

          8  question I have, Rob, for you is, you know, I'm

          9  trying to get at this notion of what is the

         10  difference between the New Century Initiative and

         11  past initiative, and I struggled. And perhaps it's

         12  my own limitation, but I'm not sure that in the back

         13  and forth with Michele I really understood what the

         14  difference is. And since your organization was

         15  really at the center of that initiative -- there are

         16  certain things I do understand, that you were --

         17  Beth had a harder road to hoe in some ways than you

         18  do because there was resistance at the district

         19  level. I understand that point.

         20                 But are there other differences that

         21  you can sort of give me the top three differences?

         22                 MR. HUGHES: Sure. I think there are a

         23  couple of critical ones.

         24                 One, we have worked with the regions

         25  to co-create these schools. These are public
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          2  schools. In the past we ran a process that was a New

          3  Visions process. These are New Century Schools and

          4  they're co-created by regions, community groups and

          5  intermediaries like New Visions and the others. So

          6  that from the point of origin there's a sense that

          7  the system owns these schools, and that shouldn't be

          8  understated, the importance of that.

          9                 The second thing I would say is the

         10  critical mass and the geographic area. Both with

         11  creating a set of schools in the Bronx, a set of

         12  schools in Brooklyn that are together and can feed

         13  off one another, and even at the campus level, I

         14  know there's been controversy in placing schools in

         15  a kind of condominium arrangement, but that campus

         16  structure enables school leaders to exist in

         17  collaboration with other school leaders on a

         18  day-to-day and a minute-by-minute basis when it's

         19  necessary, so you're overcoming some of the

         20  isolation that schools have traditionally felt.

         21                 And, third, I think there is an

         22  understanding at the Department of the interplay

         23  between their polices and the success of schools on

         24  the ground.

         25                 So, an example, a lot of small
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          2  schools were really tripped by admissions policies

          3  where over-the-counter kids would just keep coming

          4  in and slowly destroy and erode the mission and the

          5  training and the commitment that faculty and

          6  community partners had made.

          7                 I think this Administration has

          8  worked very hard to kind of protect those schools.

          9  It's created other difficulties and other

         10  challenges, and Randi and Michele talked about this.

         11  But I think the commitment to the schools, allowing

         12  them a level of autonomy and then protecting them

         13  from some of the bureaucratic morasses that have

         14  traditionally plagued small schools is changing

         15  what's going on.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Can I go back

         17  to this point about the system owns?

         18                 MR. HUGHES: Sure.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Because in a

         20  way it's a little bit contradictory to Joel Klein's

         21  statement, at the very beginning of his tenure, and

         22  I was very, very impressed, his mantra was, I'm not

         23  going to improve the system, I'm going to create

         24  1,200 great schools. Ironically, I think he has

         25  spent, and that may or may not be a bad thing, spent
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          2  a lot of time improving, quote, the system. Lots of

          3  new regulations are issued, Central every day

          4  they've got new, not one, seemingly ten or 15 new

          5  initiatives, and when you see the system owns, is

          6  that our goal?

          7                 Because to me, you know, do we really

          8  want to be creating systems, or do we want an

          9  individual school to work, and maybe this is a sort

         10  of radical idea, work well in isolation, not that

         11  teachers shouldn't do intervisitations, but do we

         12  want the system to own it?

         13                 MR. HUGHES: I think we want the

         14  system to protect it and understand it. And that's

         15  what I mean by ownership. We want the system to have

         16  a capacity so it doesn't unintentionally trip over

         17  its own feet and destroy what we've created.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: So, we want a

         19  laizzafaire --

         20                 MR. HUGHES: No, we want effective

         21  schools, but we also recognize that no school is an

         22  island. That there are a series of policies and

         23  practices that a central organization called the

         24  school system will promulgate, and what we are

         25  constantly working on is ensuring that those
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          2  policies are lined with the effective schools we're

          3  trying to create on the ground.

          4                 I think Marla and the Annenberg group

          5  effectively state that you can't just create small

          6  schools in isolation. In fact, that was one of the

          7  problems in the first round of New Vision schools,

          8  you have to make sure that the policies and

          9  practices and procedures are aligned with what

         10  you're trying to do in the schools.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay, that is

         12  somewhat helpful.

         13                 Let me ask you this: If we were to go

         14  back and look at, you know, either pick New Visions

         15  or just pick small, small schools, and we would pick

         16  three or four that are not high performing, what

         17  would you, as a matter of first principle, look for

         18  in terms of the explanation?

         19                 MR. HUGHES: I think it's really

         20  context driven by the particular players in the

         21  situation in that school. So, I think you have to

         22  look at what were the resources there, and what was

         23  that school's particular story.

         24                 You mentioned Legacy. I don't know a

         25  lot about that school, but I do know that when it
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          2  was first founded, it was relatively high

          3  performing, and then it lost its principal, and

          4  under a prior regime, the community groups and the

          5  outside organizations that are committed to working

          6  on that school had no say in the selection of the

          7  next principal.

          8                 So, questions of leadership, for

          9  example are crucial. In the system, the Department

         10  of Education needs to ensure that those people who

         11  start the school, help maintain it, ultimately have

         12  a role in its ongoing governance, and I know they're

         13  moving in that direction.

         14                 That external role needs to be

         15  tempered by performance standards, and we ultimately

         16  have to hold all schools accountable in their

         17  outcomes. But there are different ways to get to

         18  that, so that's an example of where a school has

         19  gone south.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I'm just

         21  moving at a brisk pace, because we've got people

         22  waiting that need to get back to schools.

         23                 Sixty new schools, or I guess it's

         24  now 70, my experience with the Charter School

         25  movement is that it is very challenging to find an
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          2  instructional leader that's appropriate. And if you

          3  look at Charter schools, often they decide to delay

          4  a year because they're not satisfied with the

          5  quality of the candidates.

          6                 Michele Cahill reported in her

          7  testimony that an astounding number of schools have

          8  hired their principal, and they're ready to go.

          9                 I find it a little, I'm finding it a

         10  little hard to believe that, you know, that you

         11  could find your 70 Crackerjack people. In part

         12  because the conditions are bad, in part because we

         13  have a troubled school system. My experience with

         14  Charter schools is it's not that easy.

         15                 So, what explains the fact that it's

         16  all set and ready to go. I mean, it's great if it's

         17  true, and I presume it is, but is there not

         18  something wrong with the picture?

         19                 MR. HUGHES: No. A couple of things

         20  that I think make us unique. One, because we have a

         21  small history of small school development in New

         22  York City, you have a lot of people who have worked

         23  in a small school, become a master teacher and are

         24  now ready to move on. So, our experience in the

         25  Bronx was, we actually had a reverse kind of brain
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          2  drain, had exemplary practitioners willing to move

          3  to the Bronx to start a school that they had always

          4  dreamed of starting.

          5                 Secondarily, I think the

          6  Administration has put an enormous, as you know,

          7  Chancellor Klein has put an enormous emphasis on the

          8  role of school leadership, and the Leadership

          9  Academy and the work that it has done I think is

         10  exemplary. When you look at what Sandra Stein has

         11  done in the Inspiring Leaders Program, I think it is

         12  state-of-the-art in training leaders.

         13                 The third thing is that number is a

         14  little cryptic. Remember how competitive this

         15  process is. We have a batting average of about 500

         16  percent. Good in baseball. Terrific if I were a

         17  Yankee, but actually very challenging in the

         18  Education world, because for every proposal we fund,

         19  we say no to other people.

         20                 So that we've had a number of people

         21  go through a very intensive process that New Visions

         22  has worked with a variety of other people in the

         23  room and the Department to create, and in that

         24  process you start to see leaders emerging in

         25  planning teams, who we think really can do it.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: But how do you

          3  explain the difference between the Charter school

          4  experience and your experience? It seems

          5  fundamentally different. Why would that be?

          6                 MR. HUGHES: I don't know. And I would

          7  love to sit down and try to figure that out.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: It seems to me

          9  a very important question, because the Charter

         10  schools, from my understanding, are constantly not

         11  finding instructional leaders who are acceptable,

         12  and it makes me nervous that so quickly the New

         13  Century has been able to find, you know, I'm nervous

         14  about retention rates, I'm nervous about the level

         15  of experience. Are you hiring people who have never

         16  done the job before? You know, who are those people?

         17                 MR. HUGHES: Just one point.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Sure.

         19                 MR. HUGHES: Because Randi mentioned

         20  that a lot of these schools are now being staffed by

         21  novice teachers. That hasn't been our experience,

         22  frankly, in extensive independent evaluations we're

         23  finding that some of these teachers are younger, but

         24  in no cases are they novice teachers.

         25                 We really learned in the original new
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          2  visions process that it doesn't make sense to put

          3  novices in a school. It's a complicated, difficult,

          4  challenging opportunity. So, I think there are

          5  younger teachers there and that's probably what

          6  Randi meant, but we're not putting novice teachers

          7  in these schools.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: One final

          9  comment for you to think about. You may not have

         10  time to address it.

         11                 You know, we've recently seen in the

         12  Charter School movement that the authorizing agency

         13  has shut schools down. And in some of these battles

         14  I've actually been opposed to shutting the

         15  particular school down because I don't think it

         16  merits that.

         17                 But are you prepared as New Visions,

         18  and do you imagine the Department is prepared, to

         19  take that kind of step?

         20                 Because I have found in the non-New

         21  Century mode, I have been trying to get, and they'll

         22  remain nameless for the moment, schools shut down

         23  that I think are not -- there is no promise, and we

         24  have to face the music. And it's very hard to do

         25  because you've got people with kids, and you've got
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          2  vested interests and so forth; do you imagine that

          3  that will be a last resort strategy, if you're not

          4  happy with the performance?

          5                 MR. HUGHES: We're doing it now. I

          6  mean, it would have been much easier to start these

          7  smooth schools in separate buildings and not address

          8  the large low-performing school that in some

          9  instances is being phased out.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Right. But

         11  it's a different thing to shut your own school down.

         12                 MR. HUGHES: In the history of New

         13  Visions we've actually advocated in some

         14  circumstances to shut small schools down that are no

         15  longer serving young people.

         16                 So, I think we should articulate

         17  performance standards, whether it be a Charter or a

         18  public school, and we should hold people to those

         19  performance standards, recognizing the complexity of

         20  the task and always committed to ensuring that they

         21  have the resources they need to execute --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: So is that

         23  something that's built into the process that there

         24  is a renewal of some sort, and you'll review it and

         25  you'll give them a certain number of years, and you
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          2  don't think the performance is adequate?

          3                 MR. HUGHES: We are not structured as

          4  a Charter school is. These are public schools.  But

          5  you can bet that we're going to both try to find

          6  incentives to encourage schools to get the higher

          7  performance standard, and we're going to advocate

          8  when those schools fail to shut them down.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I'm sorry?

         10                 MR. HUGHES: And we will advocate when

         11  they fail to shut them down.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Right. I think

         13  it would be helpful to think about that now, rather

         14  than when you get to that point, what the process is

         15  so that the school, one of the flaws in the Charter

         16  school movement is that I don't think it was

         17  completely clear how that process was going to work

         18  and so forth. And I think schools should know, I

         19  think New Visions should know and the Department of

         20  Education should know what is the threshold in how

         21  those decisions are made.

         22                 I don't have any further questions. I

         23  don't know if my colleagues do.

         24                 Council Member Comrie, I think you

         25  have a comment or a question?
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Thank you,

          3  Madam Chair.

          4                 How long has the New Century Program

          5  been operating?

          6                 MR. HUGHES: Three years. New Visions

          7  has been in existence for 15 years.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: For how long?

          9                 MR. HUGHES: Fifteen.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Fifteen.

         11                 And I'll ask you the question I asked

         12  before. You talked about over-the-counter

         13  admissions; how does that affect the Century

         14  schools?

         15                 MR. HUGHES: At this point the

         16  Department is committed to ensuring that the schools

         17  that are entering are entering, and they're taking a

         18  small number of kids in the large schools who have

         19  had trouble.

         20                 But one of the problems is you don't

         21  want to put -- if it's a small school, it needs to

         22  stay a small school, and if you look at the history

         23  of small schools in New York because there weren't

         24  enough of them, and because there was an

         25  extraordinary demand for them, they frequently got

                                                            173

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  lots of kids over the counter or they grew too

          3  quickly and they lost their smallness.

          4                 So, one of the challenges is to

          5  balance that constant flow of in-coming kids into

          6  the system against the autonomy and size that small

          7  schools need to be successful.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Well, if you

          9  had a young person that was interested in getting

         10  into one of the schools mid-term, how would they do

         11  that?

         12                 Like I have a particular problem, I

         13  have some AP kids that because of the way this new

         14  selection, they haven't been placed in the school

         15  and they're already, they were honor students in

         16  their junior high school.

         17                 MR. HUGHES: With the admissions

         18  process we're trying to create more opportunities

         19  for young people by creating more small schools. If

         20  there were specific kids who didn't get placed, due

         21  to the operation of this system, I'd like to talk to

         22  you and figure out how we can help get those kids --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: But you are

         24  aware there are a lot of kids who did not get their

         25  high school choice this year?
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          2                 MR. HUGHES: I am aware of that.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: So, have all

          4  your schools been fully at capacity?

          5                 MR. HUGHES: Most of them are

          6  approaching capacity.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Do you have an

          8  over/under? Can you take like each school can take

          9  30, 40 extra kids per year without --

         10                 MR. HUGHES: We try not to do that,

         11  because you're starting with a class of a hundred,

         12  and then you're growing to a total school enrollment

         13  of 400. So what we constantly are trying to do is to

         14  create more small entities and not under-cut the

         15  entities that we created.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Were your

         17  schools listed in the high school choice program?

         18                 MR. HUGHES: They were.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And can a

         20  child from anywhere around the City apply to one of

         21  your schools?

         22                 MR. HUGHES: Absolutely.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: So it's not

         24  that they're bounded by districts or regions or

         25  anything?

                                                            175

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2                 MR. HUGHES: No, they aren't.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: How come

          4  you're not in Queens?

          5                 MR. HUGHES: We were targeting large

          6  low-performing schools. We only had X number of

          7  dollars so we went to the region initially that had

          8  the greatest need and that was the Bronx.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay.

         10                 MR. HUGHES: And then we went to

         11  Brooklyn. And our contention is to continue to try

         12  to raise money and help work with all community

         13  groups and organizations that want to start small

         14  schools. And as soon as we get some more dollars, I

         15  promise you we'll be in Queens.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And where do

         17  your dollars come from?

         18                 MR. HUGHES: We've gotten a $30

         19  million grant initially from Gates, Carnegie and

         20  Open Society Institute, and then we got additional

         21  money from the Gates Foundation this past summer, as

         22  part of its $59 million grant to New York City.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Are you going

         24  to be part of this $57 million grant?

         25                 MR. HUGHES: We are.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And will that

          3  help you to expand to other areas, or just the areas

          4  you're in now?

          5                 MR. HUGHES: We are working just in

          6  the areas we are now. We don't anticipate doing

          7  massive school creation next year, rather we're

          8  working, as Marla suggested, on the complexities in

          9  implementation in ensuring all these schools are

         10  good. We're going to do some schools, we hope to do

         11  some in Queens but it's going to be at a much lower

         12  level, at least for next year, because we need to

         13  solidify what's been created.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Are any of

         15  your schools in larger schools, as Mrs. Weingarten

         16  was talking about that they created a two-tiered

         17  type of system?

         18                 MR. HUGHES: Yes, there are a number

         19  of small schools in larger schools, particularly in

         20  the South Bronx and Brooklyn. In some instances

         21  there have been some problem in implementation and

         22  we're working to smooth those out, and I think this

         23  upcoming year, the design of campus councils where

         24  principals are going to be regularly talking to one

         25  another; the creation of youth councils where young
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          2  people in the large schools and the small schools

          3  work together, to plan common events across the

          4  campus; the provision of additional resources by the

          5  Department to assist those host schools and ensure

          6  the young people in those schools are getting out of

          7  it resources, those things are going to ensure that

          8  I think this upcoming year is a good one.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: So, if the

         10  child is looking to do an advance placement class,

         11  and it's not available in their particular school,

         12  how would they get in?

         13                 MR. HUGHES: We would obviously work,

         14  the school would work to accommodate the young

         15  person's academic needs, and ensure that they are

         16  able to kind of get the type of work that's

         17  challenging to them.

         18                 I think the challenge with all due

         19  respect is both the AP, and we need more choices for

         20  middle-class kids and high-achieving kids, but

         21  remember that 80 percent of the young people

         22  entering high school in the Bronx are over-age and

         23  undercredited.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Right.

         25                 MR. HUGHES: So we have a real

                                                            178

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  challenge in ensuring that those young people meet

          3  academic standards and ultimately have the skills

          4  necessary to go to college or get a good job.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay. So

          6  you're primarily focused on creating small schools

          7  in areas where the scores are so low that they just

          8  need the specific attention so that they can pull up

          9  their grades, because a lot of these kids are

         10  actually reading at an elementary school level in

         11  the ninth grade.

         12                 MR. HUGHES: Absolutely. And we would

         13  be remiss, we're working with a variety of groups to

         14  create small schools. There are 75 organizations

         15  that have committed to work with these schools.

         16  They're very involved in this process. There are 225

         17  groups in total working. I know we attached lists of

         18  those and can provide them to you.

         19                 So, what you're seeing in the small

         20  school movement, in the New Century work, is a real

         21  re-weaving of public education back into communities

         22  and community resources, and I think the success of

         23  this effort, and I do believe it will be successful,

         24  is largely because of extraordinary commitment

         25  community partners and external partners have made
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          2  to New York City's young people.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And you're

          4  fully able to get your message across to DOE about

          5  the needs and concerns and the planning and

          6  development of these schools?

          7                 MR. HUGHES: Every day is a struggle

          8  for DOE and for us, but I think there is

          9  extraordinary leadership there in Michele Cahill and

         10  Kristen Kane, and we're working very hard with them,

         11  as we are the United Federation of Teachers in the

         12  CSA.

         13                 The UFT has shown real leadership in

         14  this area, and we really appreciate the ongoing

         15  commitment to a complicated and difficult, but very

         16  important dialogue, about how our young people are

         17  going to do.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And what is

         19  your time, as far as time or training, to set up one

         20  of these small schools?

         21                 MR. HUGHES: We are basically on about

         22  a seven month, seven or eight month time frame, and

         23  each planning team goes through a pretty extensive

         24  process at six training sessions. They are then

         25  assigned a coach to work with the team and develop
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          2  the proposal. And I think when the Department turns

          3  over proposals, and we'd be happy to also turn over

          4  proposals, you'll see the depth and richness of the

          5  thinking that is starting to emerge across the City

          6  from both teachers, community groups and school

          7  leaders.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And these are

          9  a lot of schools. I'm really intrigued as to where

         10  the schools are going to be in the next year or

         11  September, but you're not planning on doing any

         12  expansion yourself. Do you know who else is doing

         13  any expansion as part of this program?

         14                 MR. HUGHES: The Gates Foundation gave

         15  money to us and we made a commitment to do 35

         16  schools this year. In addition, there are a number

         17  of other intermediaries, ranging from Asian Society

         18  to the Friends of International High School, to

         19  Replications, and they're all going to be continuing

         20  to roll out new small schools in the coming year.

         21                 We're also trying to figure out new

         22  ways of rolling them out along different models.

         23                 So, I know that in Manhattan a couple

         24  of groups are working on that.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Is there a
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          2  collaboration between all these efforts, or do you

          3  get together on a semi-regular basis to discuss?

          4                 MR. HUGHES: We're talking to each

          5  other constantly.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay. All

          7  right. I'm back to my -- you know, I hate to put my

          8  Queens hat on primarily, since I'm a City elected

          9  official, but I'm a little jealous to see all of

         10  these schools being created in other areas, and we

         11  have a need in, you know, I know it's a particular

         12  problem in Queens with the overcrowding and the fact

         13  that our schools are, high schools are way

         14  overcrowded, and we really probably need leased

         15  space to accommodate them, but I'm throwing this out

         16  in the air, we need to get the same thing in Queens.

         17                 MR. HUGHES: Absolutely agreed. And

         18  we're working to kind of try to institutionalize the

         19  small creation process, and I think hopefully Bob

         20  Jackson, your able colleague, is successful with the

         21  Campaign for Fiscal Equity, we're going to see some

         22  new resources, and we'll use those resources

         23  differently, and I hope part of that, that remedial

         24  package, includes small schools.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Well, I hear
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          2  what you're saying. I'm not -- I hope we get CFE

          3  also, but I'm really throwing this out to any board

          4  people that are still in the room, we need to get a

          5  little more in Queens also, you know, with the

          6  overcrowding with every high school in Queens, I'm

          7  curious to see what is in that area, so that

          8  children can have opportunity that want to learn,

          9  what they need to get total rehabilitation in their

         10  learning environment.

         11                 I had a young child that's at

         12  Hillcrest High School and because of the

         13  overcrowding there, they've just lost their

         14  intensity of learning and how do you build that up,

         15  because the alternative high schools in Queens are

         16  not an area that will try to take a kid and try to

         17  get them to relearn, they're just trying to get them

         18  to pass through the system. And so we really need to

         19  get some more alternative small schools that are

         20  real choices for people, and I'm really concerned

         21  about the fact that we have a lot of young people

         22  with good grades that are not able to give any high

         23  school a choice.

         24                 MR. HUGHES: We'd be happy to sit down

         25  and work with you to try to help address those
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          2  problems.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: I'll

          4  definitely follow through on that.

          5                 MR. HUGHES: Great.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Thank you,

          7  Madam Chair.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you.

          9                 And I want to thank you very much,

         10  our panelists. We have gotten an extension for the

         11  use of this room. We were supposed to be out of here

         12  by 1:00, and we have people who are very patiently

         13  waiting, so I thank you very much.

         14                 We're going to hear from Peter

         15  Dillon, the principal of the Heritage School, and

         16  Shael Suransky, from Bronx International Academy.

         17                 I appreciate your patience and I

         18  apologize for running over. We really are very

         19  interested in what you have to say, and I thank you

         20  for your patience.

         21                 Why don't we begin with Peter Dillon,

         22  the principal of the Heritage School, and then we'll

         23  hear from Shael Suransky.

         24                 Welcome.

         25                 DR. DILLON: Yes, thank you. Good
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          2  afternoon, no, Councilwoman Moskowitz and everybody

          3  else. I would like to thank Chancellor Peter Heeney,

          4  my regional superintendent, and Michael LaForge and

          5  my LIS for their support and leadership. I'll try to

          6  be brief so we can get to questions and some

          7  discussion.

          8                 I'm a principal of the Heritage

          9  School, that's a school that's been open for seven

         10  years. It's located in East Harlem. We're a work in

         11  progress, but we're starting to have some great

         12  success.

         13                 Heritage is a small, safe and lovely

         14  place to learn. We engage students through the arts,

         15  students make tremendous growth, our parents and

         16  guardians are actively involved, we have an

         17  exceptional relationship with teachers college, and

         18  really importantly, our small size makes it possible

         19  to hold close to guiding values, and enact those

         20  values in specific structures and practices, which

         21  support a strong sense of community, student

         22  learning and achievement, and much of what we're

         23  doing wouldn't be possible or would be very

         24  difficult to try to pull off in a large school

         25  context.
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          2                 I want to talk a little bit about our

          3  students, they're primarily Latino and black,

          4  primarily from former Districts 4, 5 and 6. We're a

          5  Title 1 school and our attendance is in the 88 to 90

          6  percent range. We don't screen our students and most

          7  of them come to us as level 1s and 2s, that is 90

          8  percent of them are below grade level in English and

          9  math as they come to us.

         10                 Three years later or four years

         11  later, 85 percent of them become the equivalent of

         12  level 3s, in English, passing the English Regents,

         13  and we struggle a little bit in math but we're

         14  struggling a little bit to make some progress there.

         15                 Our graduation rate is 70 percent,

         16  and everybody that graduates from my school, or our

         17  school, gets into the college, into college or the

         18  military; about a third to private, elite colleges,

         19  a third to schools in the State University system,

         20  and a third to City colleges, including the Baruch

         21  Honors Program.

         22                 We offer and have offered AP classes

         23  in Spanish, environmental science, and some of our

         24  more advanced students take classes at Hunter

         25  through the College Now Program, which is a
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          2  tremendous opportunity.

          3                 A couple of things we do that are

          4  special: We use the arts to excite and engage

          5  students about learning. Our arts requirement is

          6  deeper and more rigorous than most other

          7  non-art-type schools and our parents and guardians

          8  are actively involved.

          9                 At a recent open school nite, 70

         10  percent of the parents came to meet with us to talk

         11  and to work with us. That's very unusual.

         12                 The last thing that's important to

         13  talk about is our partnership with Teachers College.

         14                 All of these new schools that are

         15  starting are starting in partnerships with other

         16  places. Our partnership with Teachers College is

         17  remarkable. It's a work-in-progress, and it gets

         18  better every year.

         19                 What the college helps us do is

         20  provide scholarships to our staff, a number of

         21  student teachers, administrative interns, a student

         22  health and wellness center, research, access to

         23  institutions, businesses and people, access to

         24  funding and help in writing grants, support for an

         25  extended day program, extra arts positions and a
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          2  college counselor. And in addition to all of that, I

          3  get help in being a leader, I meet with a professor,

          4  Judy Burden, almost every week, and with the Dean

          5  and President of Teachers College, each

          6  individually, about every two months.

          7                 What we give back to the college is a

          8  real context for looking at and working on urban

          9  education, and we keep the college grounded.

         10                 So, to talk a little bit about some

         11  of what we do that are special and unique to us with

         12  these values, we communicate well and are very

         13  transparent in all our decision-making. We trust

         14  each other as a school community. We make decisions

         15  based on a clear mission. It's very rare that a

         16  decision doesn't go back to does it fit within what

         17  we're trying to do.

         18                 We fund and find funding to support

         19  all good plans, particularly opportunities for

         20  professional development for staff and engage in

         21  projects for students.

         22                 And we focus on peoples' strengths

         23  and competencies and work around challenges and

         24  weaknesses, both in working with students and

         25  meeting them where they are, and then working with
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          2  colleagues.

          3                 What we do within the building to

          4  make this all possible, there's a very strong sense

          5  of community and a commitment to respect and safety.

          6                 One of the things that hasn't come up

          7  is because we're a safe community, even though money

          8  for school safety officers comes from a separate

          9  budget, the Police Department Budget, you're able to

         10  save a lot of money by not having 17, 20, 23 school

         11  safety officers and police officers running around.

         12                 I can count the number of incidents

         13  on one hand that happened in my school this year,

         14  and that's not the case in many other settings.

         15                 We chart a course together, we built

         16  time to collaborate into the schedule, both in grade

         17  level teams where all the ninth grade teachers meet

         18  and as a whole staff.

         19                 We focus our resources on teaching

         20  and learning. We have very small class size. We are

         21  a title one school, but we make choices and

         22  decisions, you can take the standard budget that

         23  you're allocated and end up with class size of

         24  around 20 or 25, so it's possible to do that.

         25                 And the sort of other neat thing we
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          2  do is we have a great extended day program funded by

          3  the After School Corporation. One of the challenges

          4  of small schools is you can't offer everything that

          5  a big school would like to offer, but if you have an

          6  extended day program, and it runs on different days,

          7  you can do things to more in that direction.

          8                 Last little piece in terms of what we

          9  do structurally. We spend a lot of time looking at

         10  student work and talking about it, and our

         11  professional development focuses on addressing

         12  student needs on curriculum and on interdisciplinary

         13  planning.

         14                 Outside the building a couple of

         15  things we do that have been successful, the new

         16  parent coordinator position has been really helpful

         17  for us in reaching out to and contacting parents.

         18                 The professional development offered

         19  by the region, particularly the math and literacy

         20  coaches, has helped us start to make significant

         21  shifts in our teaching and in student learning.

         22                 And then Teachers College has helped

         23  us out a lot with that as well.

         24                 There's some stuff in my paper about

         25  sort of what we do differently with teachers, but
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          2  I'm going to skip over that and people can look at

          3  it later.

          4                 What makes the difference for us is

          5  this sense of trust and shared values, and you need

          6  a small place to pull that off.  The sense of school

          7  community, the willingness for people to work

          8  exceptionally hard and really invest themselves in a

          9  place that they helped co-create.

         10                 Very hard-working parents, faculty

         11  and students, and then the possibility to shape

         12  policy in every decision that we make.

         13                 So, I'm nervous -- at one point

         14  somebody mentioned should people just sort of be

         15  isolated, should schools be isolated, by working

         16  together there's really a tremendous return. It's

         17  more complicated. It takes more time and maybe even

         18  resources, but when a ninth grade math teacher knows

         19  what's going on in his ninth grade art class, and it

         20  connects to a ninth grade social studies class,

         21  students can make connections through many

         22  disciplines in ways that we all sort of interact and

         23  make sense of the world. So, that's been very

         24  positive.

         25                 To just wrap up, being a small school
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          2  directly contributes to our success. It's possible

          3  for all of the staff in the building to meet in one

          4  classroom and we do it every week for about an hour

          5  and a half. And for grade level teams to sit around

          6  the table and they do that three to five times a

          7  week for about an hour.

          8                 We value these moments and use them

          9  to address students' needs, to look at student work,

         10  to plan curriculum and work on arts integration.

         11                 Our small size let's us know every

         12  student in the school, and that sort of addresses

         13  some of the safety stuff and some of the other

         14  things.

         15                 The couple challenges for us, and

         16  Reggie addressed it earlier, we need more time. We

         17  need to add a sixth, seventh and eighth grade. Kids

         18  are coming to us with missed opportunities and very

         19  weak skills, and four years isn't enough to make up

         20  for those missed opportunities.

         21                 That's who we're working with, it's

         22  not a screened, or screened population. We're

         23  committed to working with them, but we need more

         24  time to do that.

         25                 And then something that hasn't come
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          2  up yet that's a serious issue for the small schools

          3  are facilities.

          4                 As a small school we're lacking

          5  science labs, a library, adequate electricity,

          6  cafeteria space, and gym space, and that's something

          7  I've been working on for years, literally years to

          8  try to resolve. And we get on the list and then we

          9  come off the list, we get on the list, and I think

         10  we're on the list right now. And I hope some of --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Yes, you're on

         12  the list.

         13                 DR. DILLON: We are on the list. So, I

         14  hope some of --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Put you on the

         16  list.

         17                 DR. DILLON: Thank you. I hope some of

         18  that happens soon.

         19                 So, with that I guess I'll turn it

         20  over to Shael, and then we could do questions.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you.

         22                 Welcome, and thank you for being

         23  here.

         24                 MR. SURANSKY: Thank you. It's a

         25  pleasure to be out here, and I won't repeat many of
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          2  the same facets that we share we Heritage.

          3                 I want to speak to two broad topics.

          4  One is what is the opportunities that I feel as a

          5  leader of a small school I have in order to create

          6  something successful for students and teachers.

          7                 And second, I want to share with you

          8  the story of the Morris High School Campus briefly,

          9  and some of the things that have happened there over

         10  the past three years.

         11                 My school is called Bronx

         12  International High School. It's in its sixth

         13  semester. Our kids are taking the Regents exams

         14  today, many for the first time, and, so, we'll have

         15  data to share with you shortly. And we're part of

         16  the redesign of the Morris Campus, which now has

         17  five small schools, and the large school which was

         18  Morris High School is still there in its second to

         19  last year of phase-out.

         20                 I agree with what people have said

         21  here today, that small schools aren't essentially

         22  good. They can be good and what they represent is a

         23  real opportunity to reform and create schools that

         24  work.

         25                 The reason why it's an opportunity,
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          2  and this is something I haven't heard today, is for

          3  the leader, and I heard you ask about leadership,

          4  and I think it's really right to the point, in a

          5  small community you have the opportunity to get all

          6  the faculty on the same page, and if you think about

          7  class size for the principal as a critical issue in

          8  looking at schools, class size for the principal in

          9  a school of 400 is about 20 or 25. That's good class

         10  size for an educator, which is what principals are.

         11  Principals are teachers who are working with the

         12  adults in their school to move them in terms of

         13  their ability and skills as educators.

         14                 And, so I as a principal can work

         15  with 25 teachers and really know them well and move

         16  them to their next step.

         17                 If I have 200 teachers, I'm not going

         18  to be able to do that.

         19                 I will have to delegate back to other

         20  people, and the role of instructional leader is what

         21  most people want in a principal these days, becomes

         22  very challenging, and that's why you see large

         23  school principals struggling with much more

         24  managerial duties, where they can't become the

         25  educators we want them to be.
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          2                 With that class size of 20 to 25

          3  teachers, you create a possibility for academic

          4  rigor.

          5                 I think one of the biggest

          6  developments in the small school movement over the

          7  past 15 years is an understanding and an investment

          8  in academic rigor. And by that I mean everyone on

          9  the faculty being focused in a common instructional

         10  purpose, and being able to support each other's work

         11  in a way that pushes kids to use their mind well.

         12  And that's really what we do, every single day, day

         13  in and day out, that's what we're thinking about.

         14                 You know, Peter spoke about the grade

         15  level teams, the staff meetings, hours and hours

         16  that our teachers are meeting and talking to each

         17  other, looking at kids work, is about strengthening

         18  their practice and also pushing kids to a higher

         19  standard. And, you know, we took in in our first

         20  class, 68 percent of our kids were level one, I

         21  think only six percent hit level three, so the rest

         22  were level two. All of our kids were English

         23  language learners, 15 percent don't know how to read

         24  or write at all when they come to us because they

         25  have interrupted formal education, and that leads to
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          2  the second point. You know, the opportunity in a

          3  small school is you can personalize your education,

          4  you can say okay this kid has actually missed four

          5  years of school, and they don't know how to do these

          6  skills, you can find out what those skills are, and

          7  you can teach them those skills, because you have

          8  the ability to know each student well.

          9                 And you have the ability to use your

         10  resources and strategically use teacher time so that

         11  they can do that work.

         12                 In a typical large high school in New

         13  York City, a teacher will see five periods a day, 30

         14  to 34 students in a class, you're talking about at

         15  least 150 kids passing across their door everyday.

         16  And when you sit down to grade 150 English essays,

         17  it's going to take you about 24 hours if you do a

         18  good job at it, and think about the challenge of

         19  providing academic rigor when you cut that number in

         20  half and make it 75 kids, then that teacher has

         21  twice the capacity to know each kid well, to figure

         22  out what each student needs to give them feedback,

         23  to assign more assignments, and that's the kind of

         24  work that becomes possible when you look at funding

         25  creatively, when you look at scheduling creatively,
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          2  and when you start to rethink accountability in a

          3  school.

          4                 A typical large high school, what you

          5  see is a kid will go to second, third, fourth, fifth

          6  period, those teachers will see each of them for 40

          7  minutes. They don't necessarily know what happened

          8  the last class or the class before, and when a

          9  student fails in second period and fails in eighth

         10  period in the ninth grade, and the math teacher and

         11  the English teacher don't have that conversation

         12  about why, and that kid then drops out, who is

         13  responsible?

         14                 Everyone is responsible and no one is

         15  responsible. And that's the problem. And we need to

         16  create a structure in schools where we know exactly

         17  who is responsible and the teachers and the students

         18  know who is responsible. And so what we've created

         19  in many of the small schools are teacher teams who

         20  work with kids over an extended period of time and

         21  they share the same students. So, I know if I'm on

         22  that team who my colleagues are who are teaching the

         23  kids that I'm working with, and I know who those

         24  kids are and we can talk about that, and we can

         25  strategize and we can figure out what we need to
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          2  move those kids, and in my school those teams have a

          3  lot of autonomy. And I think that this goes to some

          4  of the points that the UFT President made. Teachers

          5  work best when they're trusted, when they're

          6  recognized, their practice, and the decisions about

          7  teaching and learning that they have to implement

          8  are very close to them.

          9                 So, when my school teachers make

         10  those decisions, what to teach, when to teach it,

         11  how to teach it, what supplies they need, what

         12  professional develop they need, and in exchange for

         13  that autonomy, they're accountable for making sure

         14  that kids are coming to school, that they're staying

         15  in school, they're passing their classes, and

         16  ultimately later they pass the Regents exams and go

         17  to college.

         18                 And that relationship of autonomy and

         19  accountability is very powerful, and it motivates

         20  people to work very hard and really move kids very

         21  far.

         22                 Briefly I want to share with you some

         23  of the progress we've made at the Morris Campus. I

         24  started three years ago in planning Bronx

         25  International High School, there was a graduating
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          2  class of about 79 students. That class at Morris had

          3  entered four years earlier with about 600 students.

          4  All of those students along the way weren't lost,

          5  but many of them were. Some of them had to transfer

          6  to other places, some of them were held over, but

          7  historically hundreds and hundreds of kids were

          8  being lost. And I think that the questions about are

          9  we going too fast also have to come back to a sense

         10  of urgency about how many kids are we losing each

         11  year because we aren't providing what we know we

         12  could provide academically for them.

         13                 Interestingly, as the new schools

         14  have been added to the campus, the second year there

         15  were two new schools, this year there are now five,

         16  Morris High School has grown smaller. Last year

         17  their graduating class was 160. It doubled. This

         18  year, the principal told me this morning, she

         19  expected somewhere between 210 and 220. So, in that

         20  short time frame over three years we've seen almost

         21  a tripling of the number of students graduating from

         22  the old Morris.

         23                 As its gotten smaller, it's become

         24  more effective in meeting the kids' needs. And I

         25  really want to say this very clearly, it was not the
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          2  educators or the students in that school that were

          3  failing; it was the structure they were placed in.

          4  That structure was failing kids for generations, and

          5  we've seen the evidence of that. Out of Morris have

          6  come six small schools, three of them are on the Mt.

          7  Morris Campus, but three are at other campuses

          8  around the Bronx. There was an incredible energy and

          9  creativity unleashed by the New Century process.

         10  And, yes, there was resistance, as you can imagine

         11  whenever you change something. But there was also a

         12  sense of possibility, and people have risen to the

         13  challenge and gone and created the schools that they

         14  dreamed of working in.

         15                 And, finally, I just want to close

         16  with sharing with you, in this year we had over

         17  4,000 applicants to the schools in the Morris Campus

         18  for 300 to 400 seats. There is a tremendous need out

         19  there, and we really want to meet that need and we

         20  need your support to move ahead and be able to do

         21  that.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you very

         23  much. You know, I always wish after I hear from

         24  practitioners that we started with you, because you

         25  can articulate this in a much more telling way, I
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          2  think, than sort of more policy wonkish approaches.

          3                 But I did have a couple of questions,

          4  and I obviously need to be brief.

          5                 You mentioned the point when we talk

          6  about how fast, you know, maybe we're moving too

          7  fast, we're losing kids, it's not exactly my

          8  perspective, but we've also seen the opposite. We

          9  have seen, I think Erasmus High School has been

         10  redesigned three times into small schools. We're on

         11  our third reconfiguration, and so I think you can

         12  lose kids either way, right, if you do it badly. So,

         13  I'm not sure it's just a question of speed, it's got

         14  to be done thoughtfully, and as I think Marla Ucelli

         15  said, how you do everything is in the

         16  implementation, and I would assume as practitioners

         17  you would agree with that, that a concept paper is

         18  not a school.

         19                 MR. SURANSKY: I agree. Actually my

         20  nighttime job, on Tuesday and Wednesday nights I'm

         21  working with the 70 new principals who are opening

         22  schools, as one of the facilitators of the

         23  Leadership Academy, and so I'm intimately sensitive

         24  to their challenges and how they're growing and

         25  trying to take a vision which is very easy on some
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          2  levels to put down on paper and make it into a

          3  reality.

          4                 So, I 100 percent agree and I think

          5  if we were to sit down and analyze where it's failed

          6  and there have been several redesigns that have

          7  failed, it usually comes back to two core issues.

          8  One is leadership, and the other is where and when

          9  the system got in the way. And I think that there's

         10  real clear lessons that have been learned, and I

         11  think we now know basically what needs to happen in

         12  order to make this work and we know what the

         13  supports are and we know that in order to do this,

         14  it's incredibly difficult, no matter how well you

         15  support it.

         16                 And I think that Morris Campus is a

         17  good example where we've gotten all of the support

         18  we've needed from the beginning and the pieces were

         19  really in place in terms of some of the things we

         20  discussed today, in terms of community engagement

         21  and all those other layers. But it's still

         22  incredibly difficult work, and it's still very

         23  challenging and will always be that way in these

         24  transition phases. And we talked about Julia

         25  Richmond, and if people were around involved with

                                                            203

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  that, that was very, very challenging too in its

          3  transition, and I think we have to recognize that

          4  that's what it is, it is a transition, and we have

          5  to make it get as much capacity as we possibly can

          6  to support this process and keep in view that there

          7  has to be a standard. And I agree with that.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: One short

          9  question. We heard a lot of talk, not only at this

         10  hearing but at previous hearings, that principals

         11  now have much more discretion in spending, and my

         12  discussions with principals don't indicate that

         13  there is so much more discretion, and I was

         14  wondering, you know, can you compare, Peter, you've

         15  been at this for seven years, I'm not sure how long

         16  you've been at this, but do you see a clear before

         17  and after where -- and I'm not talking about your

         18  private dollars, obviously, presumably you have

         19  discretion --

         20                 DR. DILLON: Right.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: You know,

         22  we've tried very hard on the Committee to get a

         23  number. In other words, is it $5,000 in discretion,

         24  or 100,000 or somewhere in between? Can you give me

         25  any sense from your experience, over your seven
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          2  years, have you gotten more discretion?

          3                 DR. DILLON: It's very, very

          4  complicated. And I'd sit down with somebody and sort

          5  of explain it line by line by line.

          6                 There's some things that you are

          7  mandated to do, you have to have, and then there are

          8  other things that you'd be sort of nuts not to have,

          9  and then there's a little place where you do have

         10  some wiggle room, and you can decide you need, math

         11  is an issue in your schools, you want to have six

         12  math teachers and only three science teachers, and

         13  people who -- I look to colleagues who are

         14  successful at doing this, and people who are

         15  successful at it are very creative, and find ways to

         16  get the money to go where they needed to go.

         17                 The new system, the actual

         18  computerized system --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: The Galaxy.

         20                 DR. DILLON:-- The Galaxy, is more

         21  transparent than the older system and it's in real

         22  dollars. So, a non-principal, or a non-assistant

         23  principal can look at it and make sense of it

         24  without getting a six-hour tutorial that you would

         25  have needed to have in the old system.
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          2                 So, I think we're making, we are

          3  making some progress there.

          4                 MR. SURANSKY: I would just add, I

          5  think for elementary and middle school principals

          6  it's a huge difference, because they actually

          7  control their whole budget, where as in the past it

          8  was allocated entirely for them by the districts.

          9                 High school principals have

         10  controlled their budget in the past and so the

         11  difference is less significant.

         12                 But I would say that one of the

         13  things from a school's perspective about Children's

         14  First Reforms, is that even that the system had huge

         15  cuts in its budget, we saw more money this year, and

         16  I think that we -- I would say that you can do

         17  pretty much anything that you need to do once you

         18  learn the ins and outs of it. There is very few

         19  places where it's an absolute wall. So, I think that

         20  it takes time to figure out those strategies.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Actually the

         22  huge cut is debatable. If you look over the last

         23  four years, you've had a 30 percent increase in the

         24  operating budget of the New York City schools. You

         25  may not have gotten to the kids, which is obviously
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          2  --

          3                 MR. SURANSKY: This year we felt an

          4  increase. It was nice.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I mean, I

          6  think that is to Mayor Bloomberg's and Chancellor

          7  Klein's credit that they're trying to direct more of

          8  the resources to schools, but there actually has

          9  been a significant increase, and unfortunately kids

         10  and teachers and principals have not always seen

         11  those increases.

         12                 Well, I appreciate, I very much

         13  appreciate your testimony. This is obviously a great

         14  concern in the committee, is trying to figure out

         15  how to evaluate these policy decisions and having

         16  practitioners is always incredibly helpful, so I

         17  appreciate your time and input. Thank you very much.

         18                 MR. SURANSKY: Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: We're going to

         20  hear very briefly from Cordell Schachter, if he is

         21  still here. Emily Armstrong and Don Bluestone.

         22                 As I said, we were supposed to be out

         23  of here by quarter of two, but we will go until

         24  2:00, how ever much time we have.

         25                 If I could ask you to not read your
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          2  testimony, but just tell us what you think, and,

          3  unfortunately, I'm going to have to limit you to a

          4  few minutes. But thank you very much for your

          5  patience, because I know it's been a long morning.

          6                 Why don't we begin with Cordell

          7  Schachter. Thank you for being here.

          8                 MR. SCHACHTER: Thank you for having

          9  me. I've submitted written testimony that I

         10  understand is available to the Committee, so let me

         11  just cover the high points and if you have any

         12  questions.

         13                 We experienced something very

         14  disturbing in our community school board and

         15  district, and in talking with school staff,

         16  including Michele Cahill, and it's corroborated by

         17  her written testimony, spoken testimony here today,

         18  what we've experienced is the rule and not the

         19  exception, and that's the schools' planning process

         20  did not include local communities and parents, and

         21  wherever the parents came from, that are noted in

         22  some of their slides, they didn't come from the

         23  communities that are most affected by the creation

         24  of these schools, either geographically or the

         25  existing school organizations.
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          2                 The school in question that we had is

          3  going to occupy some very rare vacancies in our

          4  district that have historically been overcrowded and

          5  are still overcrowded by 2,000 seats.

          6                 The fact that this school is in this

          7  vacant space temporarily was not even disclosed for

          8  the students that they're recruiting for the school.

          9  They didn't disclose where the school is probably

         10  going to wind up, which is Walton or JFK, nor did

         11  they tell Walton or JFK that a school is coming.

         12                 Frankly, if those are the schools

         13  that are going to get the school, why open in

         14  temporary quarters and create more disruption for

         15  these kids and families, and why not tell them

         16  really what's going on.

         17                 Our district currently has a number

         18  of schools that have been operating in temporary

         19  space for a number of years, we don't have any place

         20  else to put them. Why is it that the Board of

         21  Education thinks it's more important to site a

         22  school that doesn't even exist yet, than give

         23  schools that are currently operating with students

         24  and trying to succeed permanent homes instead of

         25  having this, operating into this air of they don't
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          2  know where they're going to be next year. A question

          3  that hasn't been answered.

          4                 We passed a resolution, a couple of

          5  resolutions about this topic that I distributed,

          6  one, opposing the school that is nicknamed the Fun

          7  Math School for this site, a separate resolution

          8  asking that the site be used for a priority, a

          9  stated priority of the state, the Mayors and the

         10  Chancellors and that's for early childhood

         11  education.

         12                 We have this strange kind of

         13  contradiction that on one hand the Mayor supports

         14  early childhood education, so I'm going to test your

         15  third graders, but on the other hand, I'm going to

         16  pull supports out on paras, that were the only thing

         17  in particularly overcrowded schools that mitigated

         18  classrooms for kindergarten and first graders that

         19  were simply 30 students or in some cases even more.

         20                 There's three things that we

         21  recommend that really need to be done, and it was

         22  disappointing to hear Michele Cahill not give a

         23  commitment for improvements, even though she knows,

         24  she's well aware of the deficiencies.

         25                 The first deficiency is a master
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          2  plan. We talk about siting these hundreds of

          3  schools, but yet they don't say what's going to

          4  happen to the kids there now. There's no orderly

          5  transition process that's outlined. And to me, to

          6  get out of a gate of establishing a new school, to

          7  tell us what's going to happen a year from now and

          8  what's going to happen to these kids who are going

          9  to be displaced. That's the most glaring omission

         10  from the whole process. There is still no master

         11  plan. We're talking about hundreds of schools, tens

         12  of thousands of students affected, yet it's almost

         13  as if they don't want to give up that part of the

         14  game, because it will engage the community into a

         15  debate that is sorely needed.

         16                 The second alarming thing is that

         17  private contributors in real dollars are spending a

         18  lot of money, but over our thousands schools and a

         19  million students, it's relatively donations compared

         20  to the operating budget of our school. And yet these

         21  small donations, these individual contributors are

         22  leveraging large amounts of public funding and

         23  basically dictating system policy, without the

         24  debate that's needed.

         25                 And third, and another important
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          2  point I'll come back to, schools in local

          3  communities being kept in the dark.

          4                 Since we began studying this problem,

          5  and alerted public officials, as well as the

          6  Department of Education to this issue, you'd think

          7  there would be a change or an improvement or a

          8  commitment, if they really intended to do so.

          9                 I can only believe that after the

         10  light that's been shone on this problem, the fact

         11  that a solution doesn't exist yet, it's a conscience

         12  decision to operate in this area.

         13                 We met with Michele Cahill, Oliver

         14  Koppell, as well as all of the elected officials

         15  from our area starting from Congress down to the

         16  State and local level. We thought that this was a

         17  mistake.

         18                 She wouldn't agree. Today I heard her

         19  say it was a mistake, but she didn't say it was a

         20  mistake, she said it was a misstep, and that you

         21  know what? We're going to go on anyway. Because what

         22  they're doing is more important than what local

         23  communities could want.

         24                 We were outraged and are still

         25  angered by the arrogance and the indifference to

                                                            212

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  admit error and fix this process.

          3                 In New York City, with its chronic

          4  shortage in seats and buildings, we don't just need

          5  effectiveness, we need efficiency too. There are

          6  still going to be tens of thousands of students that

          7  are going to be educated in large buildings, in

          8  large organizations.

          9                 If small schools is an answer, it's

         10  one part of the answer, and we clearly need to know

         11  how to get better in maintaining large facilities.

         12                 The way to do that is by keeping the

         13  public engaged for accountability.

         14                 We need the rigor of a transparent

         15  public planning review process, and we want to make

         16  sure we're replicating what are truly best

         17  practices, and not unproven ideas.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you very

         19  much.

         20                 Emily Armstrong and Don Bluestone. If

         21  I could just ask you not to read testimony, and just

         22  to be as brief as possible.

         23                 MS. ARMSTRONG: Well, my testimony is

         24  very brief, but I think I might have to read it. I'm

         25  kind of new at this.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay, go

          3  ahead.

          4                 MS. ARMSTRONG: I'm Emily Armstrong.

          5  I'm the PTA President at NEST, which is the K

          6  through 12 school on the lower east side on Houston

          7  Street. And I wanted to speak about the importance

          8  of including schools for high-achieving students in

          9  this group of new schools, which is being opened by

         10  Chancellor Klein.

         11                 NEST is the only K through 12 public

         12  school. We're a small school with approximately 980

         13  students on our 13 grade levels. We have an

         14  accelerated academic program, and children have to

         15  apply. We use a multi-faceted admissions rubric,

         16  which is similar to the process recommended in the

         17  article "Ending Discrimination and Gifted Education

         18  in New York City Public Schools," which is from the

         19  Bar Association, the magazine, and The Record, and

         20  anyone who is interested in gifted education should

         21  read it. I think it should be a model for all gifted

         22  school applications in New York City.

         23                 Our application is better and fairer

         24  because it considers the whole child and her many

         25  talents, rather than just basing the admission on
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          2  one test score.

          3                 As the parent member of the NEST

          4  Planning Team, I hoped to have our school noted for

          5  its unique K through 12 structure, its smallness,

          6  its accelerated academic, our unique gender

          7  separation in middle and upper school math and

          8  science classes, or our incredible art programs.

          9                 Instead, our school's notoriety was

         10  because we were the first school in District 1 since

         11  1990 that had a special program for high-achieving

         12  students.

         13                 Before NEST, if you wanted a gifted

         14  or academically rigorous program, you had to go to

         15  District 2 or a private or parochial school. I'm

         16  glad to hear the Chancellor Klein plans to open more

         17  gifted and academically accelerated schools, but the

         18  geographic inequity in these kinds of programs has

         19  to be corrected.

         20                 I support the new small schools

         21  initiative, and I urge the Department to include

         22  more schools in underserved areas, such as District

         23  1.

         24                 All the students in New York who want

         25  to do three or four hours of homework a night do not
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          2  live in District 2. We have many, many of them down

          3  in the lower east side, too, and they have not been

          4  served for many, many years.

          5                 I wish that Council Member Koppell

          6  was still here, because I completely disagree with

          7  him. I think that schools do, they do have to have

          8  separate programs for children who are so

          9  accelerated, because if you don't have them on a

         10  separate level, you can't do individual programs for

         11  them, and you certainly cannot offer the seven or

         12  eight AP classes that some high school students feel

         13  that they want to take when they are that age group.

         14                 Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you.

         16                 Mr. Bluestone.

         17                 MR. BLUESTONE: Sure. Hi. I'm Don

         18  Bluestone. I think I'm the first you're going to

         19  hear from today from a community-based agency. I'm

         20  the Executive Director of Mosholu Montefiore

         21  Community Center. We're located in the northwest

         22  Bronx, and we serve about 20,000 people a year.

         23                 We right now are the partner with the

         24  Bronx Aerospace Academy, and we'll be starting a

         25  second school in September in a different region,
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          2  also that our center serves, called the Marie Curie

          3  School for Nursing and Allied Health Professions,

          4  and that will be in Region 1.

          5                 But I want to talk to you about what

          6  our relationship was as a community-based

          7  organization with the public schools before this

          8  started and what we do now, not just for the small

          9  schools, but for the large school that it's in.

         10                 I've been at Mosholu Montefiore

         11  School for 15 years, and before that when my

         12  children were growing up, and I live in the Bronx, I

         13  sent them to East Harlem to the alternative schools

         14  under Debbie Meyers. It was the only place they

         15  could get a decent education. So, these are very

         16  important to me.

         17                 Having to send them another borough

         18  was insane. I think for years my children thought

         19  the bus driver was their parent, because they used

         20  to get on the bus at about ten to seven in the

         21  morning, you know, to get down there.

         22                 We saw this as a tremendous need in

         23  the Bronx for schools of choice.

         24                 And, yet, what we had was not

         25  suitable. My agency and me personally, myself
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          2  personally, spent years making sure that no child

          3  that came to our programs had to go to Evander

          4  Childs High School. That's how bad it was. It didn't

          5  become bad overnight, it's been bad and not

          6  effective for years.

          7                 When the second Century Initiative

          8  started, which we call "Small Schools," I was

          9  approached by the people in the then Bronx Division

         10  of High Schools, and we were given the opportunity

         11  as a settlement house, a community-based agency, to

         12  become part of the solution, and begin to try to

         13  solve and work with educators to create schools that

         14  would work. So for years when I wouldn't send

         15  children to Evander, we now were creating a small

         16  school at Evander. That we did. It's an interesting

         17  school. You'll read about it in the report. It

         18  works. And you've heard also the reasons that I

         19  think that the two educators really clearly talked

         20  about the benefits of small schools.

         21                 Being involved in Evander as an

         22  agency, it gave us an opportunity to meet with the

         23  new principal of the large high school, and offer

         24  her some help for that school too. So, we didn't

         25  just ourselves as focusing on this one small group
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          2  of children. We started with the school, a new

          3  beginning school, which was for problem kids that

          4  were not making it and we work with about 30 schools

          5  in a separate building, and take them out of

          6  Evander. That's been very effective.

          7                 We run the After School Program at

          8  the high school, not only for our small school, but

          9  for the entire high school. That's been very

         10  effective. Kids from our school, there are two other

         11  small schools, and the large high school all come

         12  together for sports, recreation, tutoring, science,

         13  chess, you name it, to really get to know each other

         14  and you are the haves and you are the have-nots.

         15                 We started the program for the large

         16  high school this year. It's actually a relatively

         17  new experience for the schools. They've had nothing

         18  but problems in the cafeteria.

         19                 We now bring in staff, and we set up

         20  areas where kids can play games, and not just throw

         21  food at each other, you know, during that time. It's

         22  been very effective. We started some tutoring for

         23  that.

         24                 We would never have done this for the

         25  large high school, and I think for a lot of the
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          2  other settlement houses that are also involved, had

          3  we not gotten involved with the small high schools.

          4  And I think that's very important to know. And that

          5  so many of us as community-based agencies are

          6  working with the big schools for them to be

          7  effective.

          8                 Where the problem comes down, and

          9  it's the 100 pound elephant and the 1,000 pound

         10  elephant sitting in the room, there's not enough

         11  space.

         12                 The Bronx has not had a new high

         13  school built since 1972, as far as on the scale

         14  which was John F. Kennedy, and half of those slots

         15  were for Manhattan kids.

         16                 Ultimately, since then we've had

         17  three or four high schools built at a very small

         18  scale added onto buildings, one in Riverdale, one in

         19  KingsBridge, the Bronx School for Law and Justice,

         20  it's for a few hundred children.

         21                 What we need, and we've been doing

         22  this with New Visions and other groups and we're

         23  hoping to work with the City Council, is to really

         24  fight Albany on this Campaign for Fiscal Equity,

         25  because these problems will begin to solve
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          2  themselves, because the small schools need to grow

          3  but the high schools need to breathe, and that's

          4  going to be the long-range solution.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I thank you

          6  very, very much. We are an hour and seven minutes

          7  over, and my colleague has graciously agreed, who is

          8  the Chair of the Federal and State Legislation to

          9  delay his hearing, but we are just out of time. I

         10  appreciate it very much. Any other member of the

         11  public who wants to testify, I urge you to submit

         12  written testimony. I do read all the testimony that

         13  is submitted. I appreciate very, very much your

         14  coming forward. Thank you.

         15                 MR. BLUESTONE: Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you.

         17                 I'm going to call this Committee

         18  hearing to a conclusion.

         19                 (The following written testimony was

         20  read into the record.)

         21

         22

         23  Written Testimony Of:

         24  Leonie Haimson

         25  Class Size Matters
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          2

          3                 June 16, 2004

          4

          5                 First, I'd like to make clear that

          6  Class Size Matters does not oppose new, smaller

          7  schools; in fact, we support the formation of more

          8  small schools because they usually personalize the

          9  learning experience for students and usually offer

         10  them smaller classes and more attention from their

         11  teachers.

         12                 But as a result of the bad planning

         13  and mismanaged implementation of these programs, a

         14  morally unacceptable and destructive system of

         15  separate and unequal schools has been allowed to

         16  take root.

         17                 It is clear that thousands of

         18  students in the pre-existing schools have had their

         19  education been made significantly worse this year as

         20  a result of this initiative, including the loss of

         21  valuable courses, lack of access to after-school

         22  tutoring and in some cases, even the credits they

         23  need to graduate. Classes were being held in labs

         24  and auditoriums, and the overcrowding in many

         25  schools has become unbearable.
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          2                 These deteriorating conditions and

          3  growing inequities are a recipe for disaster and

          4  have predictably led to rising rates of violence

          5  between students at schools housed in the same

          6  building, as one parent has said, the situation is a

          7  perfect breeding ground for gang-type violence. It

          8  is no wonder that many of the schools that have

          9  become even more overcrowded as a result have now

         10  been placed on the most violent list.

         11                 This situation has benefitted neither

         12  the students at the pre-existing schools nor

         13  students at the new, smaller schools; for example,

         14  the Celia Cruz school of music, which was promised

         15  its own home on the grounds of Lehman campus, are

         16  now being housed at Clinton HS and are told they

         17  will have to move to Walton HS next year, which is

         18  already at 2000 percent overcapacity and on the most

         19  violent list. As a result, students are having

         20  anxiety attacks. Meanwhile, there have been growing

         21  number of incidents between their students and the

         22  Clinton students this spring.

         23                 At Kennedy HS, they have not only

         24  lost their automotive repair program, which 600

         25  students had signed up for, because they provided
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          2  valuable jobs after graduation. Even after NY Times

          3  column was published about this school, they

          4  stripped the tools and equipment from the room last

          5  week, in front of the students, who were in tears.

          6  And the teachers at Kennedy have been told that

          7  because they rewired the top floor for better air

          8  conditioning for the new schools that will be placed

          9  there, the rest of the school will have to do

         10  without any air conditioning at all.

         11                 What we need is an open and inclusive

         12  planning process, and better opportunities provided

         13  to all students, whether they go to a large school

         14  or small. This is why UPA and Class Size Matters are

         15  calling for the following:

         16                 1- A moratorium on putting new

         17  schools in already overcrowded school buildings;

         18                 2- An accelerated program of leasing

         19  and space acquisition, in order to provide homes for

         20  new schools in more appropriate locations.

         21                 3- Equal resources and services to be

         22  offered to all students, including smaller classes,

         23  whether they go to large schools or small.

         24                 4- Students to be given the right to

         25  go to classes in their building even if they are
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          2  being offered by a different school, if their own

          3  school no longer offers the credits they need to

          4  graduate.

          5                 5- Finally, for DOE to publicly

          6  release a master plan, which will lay out in detail

          7  what the future holds for all high schools in the

          8  city, and where the overflow and transferred

          9  students will go and what programs will be provided

         10  to them, as more small schools are created and put

         11  into already existing facilities.

         12                 Just some of the many examples of the

         13  inequities and problems that have occurred this year

         14  as a result of this process are below; each of the

         15  stories these parents and teachers tell are

         16  important and heart-breaking in their own way.

         17                 Thank you for this opportunity,

         18  Leonie Haimson, Executive Director, Class Size

         19  Matters

         20

         21

         22  Written Testimony Of:

         23  Tony Hoffman

         24  Director of Education Programs

         25  Institute for Student Achievement
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          3                 Small Learning Communities Make a

          4  Difference

          5                 Research on effective high schools

          6  indicates that the traditional model of educating

          7  adolescents in high schools serving one, two, and

          8  three thousand or more students can have negative

          9  outcomes for youth, and especially disadvantaged

         10  youth.

         11                 Yet, today in New York City a

         12  majority of high school students attend schools that

         13  enroll one thousand ore more students, many of them

         14  with large and growing numbers of poor or minority

         15  students. Negative outcomes for these young people

         16  may include low achievement, high drop out rates,

         17  high rates of suspension, and lower number of

         18  students pursuing post-secondary education.

         19                 In contrast, effective schools

         20  research indicates that at risk high school students

         21  participating in small learning communities within

         22  larger high schools or in smaller schools are more

         23  likely to pass their courses, more likely to attend

         24  school regularly, and more likely to have positive

         25  attitudes toward school, their teachers, and toward
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          2  post secondary education than their peers in

          3  traditional high school environments. And regardless

          4  of socioeconomic level, students participating in

          5  small learning communities pursue post-secondary

          6  education at higher rates than their peers, are less

          7  likely to be involved in violent incidents at

          8  school, and are less likely to be suspended.

          9                 Why They Work

         10                 Even the most motivated student can

         11  lose his or her way when no one is looking. And even

         12  the most qualified teacher, who may see literally

         13  hundreds of students each day, cannot

         14  single-handedly create the kind of school

         15  environment that we know supports higher levels of

         16  student achievement. Smaller learning communities

         17  allow closer teacher-student relationships that

         18  encourage and support learning. They allow teachers

         19  to get to know their students and to be better aware

         20  of non-academic issues that may affect academic

         21  performance.

         22                 They make it possible for teachers to

         23  engage in collective planning centers on student

         24  learning. They create safe environments where

         25  students are not afraid to be challenged and to
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          2  challenge themselves. In large, anonymous, high

          3  schools students can easily become alienated. "What

          4  does it matter if I skip class?" They may suppose

          5  "Who's going to notice?" In small learning

          6  communities, students are known. If they are absent,

          7  they know they will be missed.

          8                 A Cost Effective Solution

          9                 The small schools movement here in

         10  New York City has had growing success in creating

         11  effective learning environments for students at

         12  risk. In the practical world of high schools, the

         13  creation of smaller learning communities or new

         14  small schools within larger school buildings makes

         15  sense.

         16                 This approach allows district and

         17  school personnel to create the more nurturing and

         18  challenging environments associated with increased

         19  student learning, while avoiding the bricks and

         20  mortar and other expenses required in the creation

         21  of small freestanding institutions. And, they do so

         22  without sacrificing the full range of advanced

         23  classes and elective choices offered by larger

         24  schools.

         25                 In New York City, with seed money

                                                            228

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  from major foundations such as the Bill and Melinda

          3  Gates Foundation, The Open Society (Soros) and the

          4  Carnegie Corporation, the New York City Department

          5  of Education has reorganized large failing high

          6  schools into over 70 smaller autonomous and

          7  semi-autonomous units.

          8                 Early results from this effort have

          9  been encouraging. As one dramatic example, Bronx

         10  International High School, which is partnering with

         11  the Institute for Student Achievement (ISA), is a

         12  new small school within the old Morris High School

         13  building, made famous in Jonathan Kozol's Savage

         14  Inequalities.

         15                 In previous years, attendance for

         16  Morris students stood around 67 percent, the lowest

         17  in the Borough; last year, attendance at Bronx

         18  International was 93.1 percent, trumped only in the

         19  Bronx by the highly competitive Bronx Science.

         20                 Similarly, attendance at the School

         21  for Excellence, another ISA small school in the

         22  Norris building, was 88 percent.

         23                 By comparison, last year, similar

         24  schools had an attendance rate of 77.9 percent and

         25  all city high schools were at 84.7 percent. As
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          2  importantly, students say that they feel more

          3  engaged in their studies. Teachers express greater

          4  satisfaction and are more likely to stay. Families

          5  are reporting high satisfaction and are increasingly

          6  optimistic about their children's futures.

          7                 Making It Happen

          8                 Reorganizing large failing schools

          9  into high performing smaller learning communities

         10  requires time, space, and district support. It

         11  requires both the will - and the incentives - for

         12  change. That's why the support of the Chancellor's

         13  New School Initiative is so important. It helps put

         14  into place the kind of educational practices that we

         15  know work with secondary students, regardless of

         16  background.

         17                 An Investment That Makes Sense.

         18                 When faced with wide spread failure

         19  at the high school level, it is tempting to blame

         20  students or teachers, or point to what the middle

         21  school did wrong, or what the elementary school

         22  failed to do. And it is equally tempting to target

         23  the bulk of our resources to younger students at the

         24  beginning of their academic careers, where we

         25  believe our investments can have greater effect.
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          2                 In fact, up to now, education reform

          3  efforts have focused almost entirely on elementary

          4  schools and middle schools.

          5                 However, it has become clear that we

          6  can no longer delay taking bold steps to reform high

          7  school education.

          8                 The students currently in high

          9  schools in our city, and those about to make the

         10  transition from middle to high school need support

         11  now. And they have the right to expect that when

         12  they lave high school they are prepared for full

         13  membership in society.

         14                 Rather than giving up on these older

         15  students, small learning communities make a

         16  commitment and a promise to them. It recognizes that

         17  teenagers have the capacity and the desire to learn,

         18  change, contribute, and grow into productive

         19  adulthood. It promises the support that schools,

         20  parents and teachers need to help our youth achieve.

         21                 (Hearing concluded at 2:12 p.m.)
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